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CORPUS CHRISTI COLLE@I?«“

RICHARD FOX, the Founder of this College, was
the son of Thomhs Fox, atid born*at Ropesley, near.
‘Grantham in Lineolnshire, about-the latter end .of the
reiga of Henry VI. His parents are said 10 have beens
in mean circumstances; but they must at least have
been able to afford him school eduecation, since the
only dispute on this sabject between his biographess
is, whether he was-educated in grammar-learning at
Boston or at Winchester. They all agree, that at &
proper age he was sent to Magdalen College, Oxford,
where he was acquiring distinction for his extraordi-
nary proficiency, when the plague, which happened to
break out about that time, obhged him to go to Cam~
bridge, and continue his studies at Pembroke Hall.
After remaining some time at Cambridge, he re-
paired to the University of Paris, and studied divi-
nity and the canon law, and here probably he received
his Doctor’s degree. This visit gave a new and im-

* According to Wood, who availed himself of some MSS, accounts.
of Fox preserved in this College, written by President Greeriway, ¢ the
¢« Rounder was born in an ancient house, known to some by the nante
% of Pulloek’s Manor.”; This hoyse, he adds, was well known for masy
years to the Fellows of Corpus, who reverently visited it when they
went to keep courts at their manors. To what was before recorded of
Fox, Mr. William Fulman, a Scholar of Corpus, and an able antiquaty,-
made many additions, with a view to publieatien, which he did not live
to complete. His MSS. are partly in the kibrary of this College, and
partly in the Ashmolean Museum. Mr. Gough drew up a very Accu-
ute sketch of Fox’s h‘e for the Vetusta Monumenta.

: . s3
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_ portant turn to his life, and introduced him’ to that
eminence which he preserved for many years as a
statesman. In Paris he became acquaintéd with Dr.
Morton, Blshop of Ely, whom Richard III. had com-
pelled to' quit’ his native country, and by this Prelate
he was recommended to the Earl of Richmond, after-
wards Henry VIT, who was then providing fora de-
scent upon England. Richmond, to'whom he devoted
himself, conceived such an opinion of his talents-and

" fidelity, that he entrusted to his. care a negociation
-with France for supplies of men and moné€y, the issue

" -of which he was not able himself to await ;: and Fox
:succeeded to the utmost of his wishes. Afterthe de-
‘feat of the usurper at the battle of Bosworth in' 1485,

~and the establishment of Henry on the throne, the
Jatter immediately appointed Fox to beé one of his
-Privy Council, and about the same time bestowed on

“<him_the prebends of Bishopston and South Grantham
-in the church of Salisbury. In 1487; he was promoted
to the see of Exeter, and appointed Keeper of the
Privy Seal, with a pension of twenty shillingsa day.
-He was also made Principal Secretary of S'tate, and

~ Master of St. Cross, mear Winchester.

His employments in affairs of state both at-'home
and abroad were very frequent, as-he shared the King’s
confidence with his early friend Dr. Morton, who was
now advanced to the Archbishopric of Canterbury.
In 1487, Fox was sent ambassador, with Sit Richard

. Edgecombe, Comptroller of the Household, to James-

- HI. of Scotland, where he negociated a prolongation
_ of the truce between England and Scotland, which was

to expire July 3, 1488, to: Sept. 1, 1489. About the

beginning of 1491, he was employed in an embassy to

*
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the King of France, and returned to England in No-
vember following. In 1404, he went again as am«
bassador to James IV. of Scotland, o c!oncludeasome
differgnces respecting . the fishery, of the nypr ,‘w
which he was not successfnl Havmg _bqen ttanq a:pd,
in 149¢, from the see of Exeter to that of Bath and
Wells, he was,in 1494, removed to that ?f Durl;am In
1497, the, castle of Norham being threatened by 1 the
King. qf Scotland the, Blshop causqd it to be tomﬁed
and, supplied with troops, and_brayely defeqded it m
persop, until it was'relieved by, Thomas, Howar’i Earl
of Surry, who compelled the Scots to retire. Fox
wes. then, a third time, apppmtgd to negocxate 'with
Sootlagd, and. signgd aseyen years truce between the
two kingdoms, Sept. 30,1497. . He soon after, neoocl-
,a,teql,a, ‘marriage between James IV aud Margaret,
Kipg Heory's ¢ldest daughter, which was, after  magy
Aelays, fully. concluded, Jan. 24, 1501-2°*.

:.ka.1500, the University of Cambridge eleéted hlm :

~4heir Chancellor, which he retained till 1502; apd in
the same. year (1500) he was promoted to, the seepf
Winghester. In 1507, he was chosen Master of Pq.sn
broke Hall, Cambridge, which he retajned unnl 12}9.
- 4407 and 1508, he was employed at Calais, with
othgr commissioners, in negociating a treaty of mar-
#iage between Mary, the King’s third 'daughterA and
Charles, Archduke of Austria, afterwards the cele-
. brated Charles V. In 1509-10, he was sent to Fratpce
with the” Earl of Surry, and Ruthal, Bishop of Dar-

. ﬁe succession of the House of Styart, as well as that of Bnuis‘nck,
£8 the “Engliéh throne; is to be referred'to this allance, and to the pru-
‘dexice iof Bishop Fok.in the nqochtioﬁ of it. See kord Bacen’s Hist.

“ef Henry VIL *
84

hd
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hatn, ahd concluded n fiew treaty of allinuce with Lewis
XH. In 1512, he wms one-of the witnesses to the
foundation-chatter of the hospital it the Savoy. - ¥a
1518, he attended the King (Henry VIEL) in his exs
pedition to Franee, and was present at the taking: of
Teroiiane ; und in ‘October following, jointly with
Thomas Gtey, Marquis of Dorset; he concluded a
treaty with the Emperor Maximilish agsinst Franee.
In 1514, he was one of the witnesses to the resuncia-
tion of the marriage with Prince -Charles of 8pain by
the Princess Mary ; one of the commissionérs for the
treaty of peace between Henry VIH. and Lewis XII.
of Prance; and for the marriage between the satd King
of Frunce and the Princess Mary, the same year. He
was also one of the witnessés to -the marriage-treaty,
and to the confirmation of both- treaties ; to the treaty
of friendship with Francis 1. and to-itsconfiraration in
the following year.

‘- This appears to be the last of his pubhc acts. Dimng
the reign of Henry VIE: he enjoyed the unlimited favour
‘#nd ¢onfidence of his Sovereign, and bore & eonspieu-
ous share not only in the political measures, but even
r the couit amuséments* snd ceremonies of that reign.
“Heory likewise appoiated him ome -of his executors,
atid recommended him strongly to his son and sue-
‘ddssor®, But although he retained his seat in the

e
i p'l‘he—mmy wlneh was prepared to honm the wuptials of
Pn:} qhur and the Princess Catherine of Spain, in 1501, were con-
“Eriv ishop Fox. Warton's Hist. of Poetry, vol. ii. p. 202, 208.

S ] The Listorian of Winchester remarks, that no higher proof of the
Sednisideration in which the King held him can be adduced, ghau that he
-¥as chosen to lie sppngor to the young Prince, who mas afterwards Hem‘y
VI_II Dr. Milner also contests Mr. Gouglr’s opxmon, thatbe was not
'sponsor,%ut baptile&’ tfl%‘yoﬁng Prmee "
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Prrsyl Connotlyand eontinued to hold the. Privy. Seal,
his: imflupmce im the i new. .reign gradually.iabaged.
Howardy Barl of Surry, and Lord Tressaser, had: been
his rival in Hianty ViL.'s timey and learned now: to ac-
commodate:-himsalf to the extravagans.pgssions of his
new. master; with:-whom-he was for a considerable time
& oobfidential-favouritey and the celebrated Wolsey,
who had been . introduced to the King by Fox, in or-
der-to. counteract: the influence of Suiry, soon became
more.powerfel than either. After remaining some:
timein office, under many mostifications, our Pralate,
wgether with Archbishop Warham, retired from oourt .
in¥515.. Such was. the political life of Bishop Fox,
diftinguished by high imfluence and talent, but em-
bittered at length by the common intrigues and vicis-
sitodes to which statesmen are subject.
+. Hie retirement at Wiachester was devoted to. acts of
charity and munificence, although he did not now for
the first time appear-as a public benefactor. . He had
destowed large sums om: the repairs of-the episcopal
pulacer at Durham, while. Bishop of .that see, and,.on
€very oecasion of .this. kind, discovered a considerable
.taste for architecture. In 1522 he founded a free-
sehonl at Taunton;and another at Grantham,and ex-
tended -his beneficence :to many other foundations
‘within the diocese of  Winchester. But the triumphs
of his munificence and taste are principally to be con-
templated in the additions which he built both withia
sad withent the cathedral of Winchester. Of these
we shall borrow a-character from one whose fire en~
Athiisiasm cannot be easily surpassed. It is impossible
“ te survey the works of this Prelats, gither on the oute
*“side of the church or in.the inside, withowt being
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¢ struck wish: their beauty and.magaificence.. In both
¢ of them we see the most exquisite art-employed:to
“ gxecute- the 1most- moble and elegant designs. We
‘f cannot . fail in particular of admiring: the vastibut
“ well-proportioned and ornamented -arched windows,
~ %.which surround this(the eastern)part;and give light
. to the saactuarys the bold and airy:flying buttresses
<.that, .stretching ' over the said aisles, suppart?the
“ apper walls ; the rich open- battlerrent -whichgar-
“ mounts-these walls ; and-the elegant sweep that con-
€ tracts them to the.size of the greateastern window ;
‘.¢he two:gorgeous canopies which crown the-extreme
“ turrets, and the profusion of elegant carved work
% that-‘covers the whole -east front, tapering up to a.
% poiiit, where: we view the breathing:statue. of 'the
“ pious Founder resting upon ‘his-choseir:emblem, the
““¢ pelican. In a word, neglected and mutilated as this
¥ work has béen;” during the course of neprly three
¢ tenturies; ‘it still ‘warrants us*to ‘assert; that; if the
&whole cathedral had been finishied in thestyle of this
¢ pobrtion-of it the whole ‘island, dnd-‘perhaps all Eu-
“® ropé, could not have exhibited a* ’Gdth:cfsemctm
g€ eﬁua}‘o ltl.?’ .\ B Y B FIR NS lan
 Hisast’ ﬁppeai‘am:e in Par]raiﬁent Wwis in’ 1523‘,1&
had'thérr been ‘nearly: five years dep‘hv%& bf* hrs sight

218 0 ot

. M|Imfs Hutory of Wmchestel:, vol. ik, p, XG99 Qn thd tup of
t’be nall whnch be built round the pres’b‘yteq% he pkged, in leadenr cl}ests,
three on a side, the bones of ‘several of the West Saxon ngs "and Bi-
shops, and'Sometiter pnn‘ceé, ‘Whotiad been origiially bukeit bekind the
high altar,or in diffsrent parteof the dhiupch; with: thivie nhines inscribed
on the fhce of the chest, apd;a crnwn-om eagk: .:Byt-the:havoe of fana-
ticism in the late civil war deranged the bones, which were collected
again as well as circumstances pemxtted, 1661. Gouygh, Vetuta‘MOnu
.mwl.g.pm;... ek
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which he-neverrecovered. . Welsey endeavoured-to
perssade him to resign his Bishopric to him, and ac-
cept of & pensionsvbut this he rejected, assertingyac-
tording to Parker; that  though,by: reason -ofhis
“ blindnessy he was mot.able to-distinguish ‘white from
“iblack, yet he copld: discern: between..trune and.false,
“ right and wrongy. aod plainly enough saw, without
 eyes, the maljce ofishat ungrateful: man, which ‘he
“.did nat see. befare.. That it behoved the Cardingd to
4 takq eare, not to.he 3o blinded with ambition,.as nat to
“.foresee his-omnend. He needed not-trouble himself
¢.with the. Bishopric of. Wincbester, but rather should
%, mind the King’s affairs.”
» Hig last dayp weve spant in. prayer and meditation,
which at length became a]most uninterrupted. heth
‘day and.pight®, .He died Sept. 14, 1528, and was bu-
ried -in; the .fine chantry, which he byilt for that pur-
pase in: Winchester, cathedral, immediately behing,the
high.altaxr on_ghe south side. During his residence
hese, he was indefatigable in preaching, and exgiting
~ thg dlergy te, their duty, He was also unbounded ia
his.gharities fo.the poor, whom he assisted with,fgod,
clothes, and money; at the same time exercising
hospitality, and promoting the trade of the city, by a
Iarge establishment which he kept up at Wolvegey, of
-two hundred and twenty servants®.
. “ His character,” says Mr. Gough, “ may be briefly
“ summed up in these two particulars: great talents
“ and abilities for business, which ;pcpg;mend,@d lmp
 tq one of the wisest princes of the age ; and not ess
“ charity and munificence, of which he;has left lasting
& Harpsfield apud Mllner BERERIPRPEIN 5 1 05 L L F U A SR
b Id ibid, o -d 9PRNG AL A0V -ERI3N
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 mionutineits” OF his writings] we'have only ai Bag-
R’ tradeliition ‘of the Role of St. Behedicy, fir the
ubd o tiis 'diovese, ‘pritited by Pinson, 1516, etk a
Yettér o’ Cardinal Wolsey, thie subject’ of which ‘s
the CardinkPs intended ‘Visitation-and ‘Feformation Hf
1¥é' deriy. “Fox eliirebives K great Hhtibfaction nt bl
measures whith might ‘prodacé 33 désirable an‘effeét.
Thé géteral and" respectful 8 of this letter elthér
#ffords s proof 'of Fox's méek and conéfliatory temiyét,
or suggests a‘otibe whiether olit historiark Have nBttoo
iplicitly follswkd eachiotherin asserting thixt Wolséy’s
Stigratitdlie was the pritreipat édbee of his retiriig fom
court.” ‘That Wolsey was ungrateful, inify e inféfted
from the “preceding quotatfil from Archbistop ‘Par-
ker; bit: Pox’s discover§ of 16 thiere iitiphied, Was’ibng
‘subséuént'to_his léaving thé codft; and'it fi'éertiin,
thit i the letter now'mentioued,; akd in aniothiet wiit-
‘téh i 1526, he addréises the Cuidinal in terms of the
utmdst reshbet and affection.” ‘OF these circlithstances
Widdes 'diit’ Grove, the biogtaphers of Wolséy, hiivé
riot n¥flectéd t5" avuil themselves, Bit'they have S¥p-
‘pressad aft-fitide of ik offd} th “Fox’ réspecting thé.
resigrﬂ?i’oﬁ afhe Biﬂlo}mé“ ‘z-“‘ IR 5%':~:£!?-‘
 Théfdulldation of Ciphs THHG College WhS pri-
cedétb Yy thet iteale b e 6eftaiti‘piccel of Tanid'ih Ok-
ford; “beldnging ¥ Metton ~ College, the “Huhndry ¥
Goaitow, dtrd" the Pridiy of St.’Fritddwiite, Which he
coipletd tn 1313 BUHY debig stolis ki Went
no fatther than to fouad s ColEE Hr i Waiden, ddd
a certain number of Monks and secular Scholars be-
longing to the’priory of St. Swithin ia Winchester,
in the manner of Canterbury and Purham Colleges,
which were similar nurseries in Oxford for the pri-
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arisy of Canterbury and Durham “The. buildings for
this.purpose were . .dvancmg, undet the .care.of W;b
ligp Vertue, masony apd Humphrgg Gook, carpenter
md,magte; of the. works, when. the: ;judigious advice of
Hugh Oldham, Bishop of Exeter, induced him 4p en-
large his. pkm to one of maye usefulyess sad durahility.
This . Ptelqte, an; .eminént. pg;rom 91: llter;turé, and 'Y
man of acute fhscernmenb, is said to, haye, addreswd
lnqn .thus : {‘ Wha.t!; my. Lomd shail we buxld homes
“« md pr.ovxde hvelxbooda for a. company of monke,
“yhose end and fall we onrselves may. h.ve fo-see?
“ Np,no ;it is more meet a great dcal that we shpnld
“ have care ta provxde for the mcxeaseof leumng, and
“ for mch as who by their lepmmg_ shall do good 10
“ the chusch. and commonwealth.” These arguments,
strengtheneq. probably by others .of a oumlar tendency,
indnced ¥Fox to n;mtata those fqnndets whn had already
oonmbuted 80 «la.rge)y ito, th fame of the Umversuy
of Qxford. Accordingly, b] licence of | Henry VILL
d@wd Nov. 26,1516, he obtained lenve to feund Qgpl-
lege for the scignges, of divinity, philosophy,.and.arts,
fora Ppesl,dent And thirty Scholars, graduate and noy
graduate, more or less, accprding, to: the yp\tgmles,of
the Sqciety, on-¢ gertain ground between Merton ol
lege on: tha east, m, lane. near; Canterbury. Callege (af-
feryardg patk;of Christ, Chm:cl;) and a gw;dqn of- the.
priary of St: Frideswide on the west, a gtreej; or lgnn
of Qriel . qulege an the north and the tom;)-wall oh
the sth, @nd this, Rew. Qollege to0.be endowgd with
380L, yearly. 1. .o: e eangie 1

, On, thesg preqmes stood &omer Hall and garden,
xn the notﬂ:-ww near_ Chnst ijrch Nnnne Hall,



e CONPUS CHFANTY COUEBSE"

sr-Kewien: Pordle Hall ", tv the 3outh: of tiratbeionging:-
to themums of Godstow ; Nevilt’s Iun, on:the-south of
Nunwe: Hall ;; Belre's dnn, ion dre:1sbacth ofuNevill's
Iwn; Urbad:JHall, in-theé north-east betweew-Merton
College and ‘Gorner -Hull, with-their respective gadi
dens; and Bachelors'igarden; which formerly belonged
to the Bachielor Eellows of Merton College, und-ié
now part of the gardens of Corpus. - ROV
rThe charter, dated:-@Guli! Mar. 1516, tetites, that thé
Founder, to the- praise-and honour of God Almighty;
the -most: holy dody of Christ; and the -blessed Virgin
Mary, as also of .the Apostles : Peter; Paul, and:An-
‘drew;: and -of 8t. Cuthbert, and St. Swithin, and St:’
Birin; patrons df- the churches of Exeter, Bath aud
‘Wells, Durham, and Winchester, (the four sees: which
be successively filled,) doth found' and: appoint ithis
College always to be called Corprus Crristr Collége:
The'statutes are dated Feb. 18, 1527, in-the 27th yeat: ..
of his translation to Winchester;: and accordings te.
thein the Society was to cousist-of a President, tweasy
Fallows, twenty Scholars, two Chaplains, two Olerks;
and o Choristers. .- Five of the Fellows are to be of
the  diocese. of ‘Winchester, one of Durhaim, two: 6f
Bath and Wells, two ‘of ‘Exeter, two of the county of °
Lipcoln, two of Gloucester; one of ‘Wilts, twoitof
Keonty.one of Larncashire; one of Bedford, and one of
Quford: The. Scholars® were to belohg to the samnie
dieceses and counties, - o B
O oots Histo ! bished by Pesbal, Leade Hall, and
* In Wood's History, publi , . .and.
BRELTER, aervers entionc, srdesrtonones
_.b"In one of the Winchegter Scholarships, a preference is given to the
%cem}l:nis Of Mr. Frost, ‘If no eandidates offer from the county of
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-4 cBitoteinteehiifertedoan almost immediate supesiority
B epusasion en. this.:Socisly: was thec nppaintmens of
‘sWolsdtures fon Sareck sud Latin; whith: obidinesd the
praigdvand  adminatien)ofr Edasmug;chind: ther othier
leasnesd; meny swho werernow gnddaveurinl torintrpdiice
'&dewf itheiglageics- hs- an.eseantin] baenchrof -
‘spafigmicrsndy. ~IWith thisealightened: desiga the
:Founder invited to bis:eew-College. Ludovicus:¥ ives,
Nighelre :Cxucher,-the mathewatician, CletnentEd-
wands. ad Nicholas:Litten,. professers of Greeky Tho-
mas Lupset; Richard: Pace;: ait, other mén.: of -esta-
“blished  repuiitions. <i This, Min Warton:observes, was
-aAdwang: foble departure from. the narrow plan’ of
-agademignl edyestion. . ;T ke dourse of the.Latin lec-
- tien wamneb confined- to: the: Chllege, but open to the
stiidents qf; Oxford:.in genendl. - iHe was expressly di-
- regted. to.drive- barbarism ftam the new. College; bar-
-fariem vaostro-alvewrio pro virili s quando pullulet, e~
tirpet: et ejiciat.. - The: Greek lecturer. wasrordered to
_‘qxplain the: best Greek classics; and thosg:which- Fox
apecified on thisoccasion are; the. purest-in: the: opi- -
‘nion of modern times?.: But siich was. the Yemperiof
the. age, that- Fox. was obliged to introduce -his Greek
Jectupeship, by pleading that «the sacred réabonsthad
“commanded, that, a-knowledgerofthe Greek :songne-
~ghould not be wanting in- pyblid:seminaries of edues-
“tion: Ry the:sacred canows he meant a ddcreé of the
- Council of Vienne in Dauphiny, promulged sezarly
as the year 1811, which enjoined that professorships
-of Greek, Hébréw, whd Arabic, should’ be xnstxtuted

ﬁloncester, candidates Trom the diocese of Worcester are elxg'lble, and
if none offer from Wilts, those from the diocese of Sarum a.re e!iﬁhle
* Warton’s Life of 8ir T. Pope, p. 141.
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in the Universities of ‘Oxford; Peris, Bowestin;: Salk-
mancs; aud the:Court of Rooie. Thie, roweves; Wds
not entirely satisfuctory.  The prejutiicis againstivthe
Gireek, to which we have already bed booasieh:to
advernt, were still 20 inveterate, that the Emvmuyvu
for some time: veriowsly disturbed by-the
the dohoel-learning. - The persussion and-example'sf
" Erasmus, who vesided sbout this time in St. ﬂuyf-
College, had a cousiderable effect in restoring ‘peaoé’;
and more attention was graduvally bestowed on -she
" Jemrned languages ; and this study, so curiously intro-
duced under the sanction of Pope Clement’s decrbe of
Vienne, proved, at no great distance of time, a power-
ful instrament in effecting the Reformation. Those
who would deprive Clement of the liberality of his
edict, state ‘his'chief motive to have been a supersti-
‘tious regard for the Latin, Greek, and Hebtew, be-
eanse the superscription on the cross was wmtm in
these languages.

The principal banefactor to this College, in addition
t6 ‘the ample provision made by the Foundeér, was-
M‘Oldhtm, dirtady mentioned, Bishop of Exeter,
whe contributed six thousand marks, besides lands.
Adthoagh Fox is probably mistaken in asserting thdt
"Oldhant Had an -intention to join with Bishop Smyth
fa foundiog Brasen Nose College, yet as his wraas
wase dixployed in the windows of the original libray*
of that Eollege, there can be no doabt that he contri-
Buted o fnish or farnish the room®*. His great bens- -
fattion, however, was bestowed on Corpus; afid, by

means . of this Society, on the grammar-school-of

. Wartow's-Life of Sir T. Pope, p. 143. et seqq.
* Churton’s Lives of the Founders of Brasenose College, p. 439.
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Manchester; the place of his birth, which he founded,
snd which is connected with- the ‘three Celleges’ of
@orpas Chtisti and Brasen Nose in Oxford, aud St.
Johiw’s; Cambridge. He died in 1519

- The benefactors who followed Oldham in adding to
the endowments of the College with lands: snd money.
were, William Frost -of Yavington in Hampshire,
$429*; John Claymond, 1537, first President; Robert
Morwent, the second President, 15583 Richard Pate,
Baq. 1588; Richard Cobb, a Fellow, 1597; Robert
Gale, of London, vintoer; Sir George St. Paul, Knt.
1612,. and his widow, afterwards Countess of War-
wick. Arthur Parsons, M. A. 1678, and M. D. 1698,
gave 3000l. for the purchase of advowsons ; and Cuth-
bert Ellison, who died 1719, and lies buried in the
Chapel, gave 5001. for the same purpose, and was also
a contributor to the Library.

The Livines of this College are the RecToniEs
of Pembridge, Herefordshire ; Childrey and Letcombe
Basset, Berkshire; Meysey Hampton and Duatsborne
Rouse, Gloucestershire; Steeple Langford and: Toney -
Stratford, Wilts; Heyford Purcell and Goddingto'
Oxfordshire ; Bassingham, Lincolnshire; Stoke Chas.
rity, Hampsh:re, Skelton, Cumberland ; Trent, De-
voushire; Rhuan Llanyhorne, Cornwaill ; Feany Comps®
ton, Warwickshire; Helmedon and Brampton, Northe
amptonshire ; and Little Stoughton, Bedfordshires:. -
the Vicaraox of West Hendred, Berkshire: and-the
PerraruaL Coracy of Warborough, Oxfordshire.

The endowment of this College amounted in 1534

® These are the dates of such of the deaths of these benefactors as
ean be ascertained.
T
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to the yearly value of 3821 8s. 9d., and in 1592 it had
risen to 5001. In 1612 the Society consisted of ninety-
four persons. The present members are, a President,
twenty Fellows, two Chaplains, twenty Scholars, ‘four
Exhibitioners, and six Gentlemen Commoners' The
Brshop ((f Wmchester rs Visitor. ' 7 °

~ Of the BUILDINGS belongmg to thig College,
thé quadrangle, one hundred and one feet by’ erghty,
which'we enter through a lofty square tower, in the
front of whrch aré three unoccupied niches with rich
canopies, with the Hall Chapel, and Library, were
built in ¢the time of 'the Founder, but the battlement
was not added until a century afterward. In 1737, the
north and west fronts were rebuilt, and the ;virhole has
inore recently been cased with stone. This’ quadrangle
is decorated on the south side with a statue ‘of the
Founder, whole length with crosier and’ rmtre, ‘and in
the centre is a cylindrical dial of some curiosity, con-
structed in 1605 by Charles Turnbull, A. M. and Fel-
low, described in a MS. in the lerary, wntten by
Robert Hegge. . Some rooms on the east srde of the
College, next to. Merton grove, were erected m 1667,
but taken down ln 1737, and rebmlt. for the resrdence

Christ Church wa]ks was ergcted at the expence of
Dr. Thomas ’I‘urner, Presrdent from 1688 to 1714.
Dr. Turner was one of ‘the most, iiberal henefactors of
modern tiines, and left the bulk of ‘his fortune, which
was very considerable, to public and charitable uses;
he left 60001 to this College, and about 20,000l. to the
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chanty for the rehef of the m@qws and chxldren of
poor clergymen, besiq,es other ample sun;s for srmllar
purposes \ 4

;I‘he fh LL, on the east slde of the quadranglc, was_
built in the Fonnders llfetlme, but has, since been
much altered, the Gothlc- roof excepted which is pro-
bably in its original state. The windows formerly
'crontamed the arms of the Founder and_ benefactors ;
but.in 1700, whea the interior was renewed with wain-
‘scomng, these were removed, and some are placed on
the walls, with those of the gentlemen who contributed
to the repairs, The proportions of this Hall are ﬁfty
feet by twenty-five,

The Llnn.uw, on the south side of the quadrangle,
ns, in 1ts ancient state, a building rather commodious
than eIegant The roof appears to be a continuation
of that of the Chapel, and is similarly divided inte
compartments, but thhout arms. The screen over
the dpor is curiously orniamented with the arms of the
Founder, and at the upper and lower ends are two
dncient portralts of | him. There is_another in.the gal-
lery, ]ate]y made, Ieadmg from the Presldents lodg-
ings 'to the. Chape] Whl?h was ﬁnely engraved for
Fiddes’ I.nfe of Wohey. It was pqnted by Corvus a
Flemnng, after Fox had‘ fost his grght, In the same
gallery are the portralts of the seven Bishops who
were committed to the Tower by "James I1. and also
heads of five of the Apost]es by Castlefranco..,

" This’ colléction is enriched with an mvaluable set
of Aldme classics, and with many manuscripts and
printed books, both on vellum and paper, of great ra-
rity, and in éxcellent preservation, and with the ma-
nuscripts of Twyne and Fulman, the Oxford antiqua-

' T2
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ried. -~ Fhe Aldines were eollected: by the Founder.
Tbe'west edfl- of thia -Library looks dowi upon the
Chapel, and is provided with pew-furmture for the
Rresitlent’s family.

" ThéxFonnder was the em'hest benefactor to the col-
leetion, and was followed by Bishop OldhamClaymond,
Dr. John Rainolds, Twyne, Dr. Turner, and many
others. Among the later contributors, Lord Colerane,
- a-Nobleman of this College, in 1735, gave a very large
eollecnoa of Italiam literature®.

- The Caaprr was built by the Founder, and proba-
hly ornamented in the religious magnificence of the
times, in whicl state, after being exposed.to, the re-
formation of King Edward’s visitors, it remained until
the year-1676, when' the interior was -repaired as we
pow find it..The inner Chapel, seventy feet by twenty-
five, appears about this time to have been lengthened,
and the Guter made more spacious by taking4n.a part
6f the Librady. --The expence of this repair was de-
frayed by-very liberal contributions from-the nwpmbers
of -the Sociesy.'- From the resemblauce of thg roof to
that of - the-Library, it is probable they weng repaired
about thb sametime. - . {

-+ The 1 altar-piece, until- very lately, was a copy of
“Guidols Annunciation in: the chapel of the Monte-Ca-

.¥allo) palace in Rome, by Pempeio Battoni, apd ;was
=the gift of Sit Christopher Willoughby, Bart..of Bal-
den house. This painting is now removed to:Balden
‘church, near Newnham, Oxfordshire, and its place
beupplied by the Adoration; a very capital proguction

2% ) ‘;'
% 'f‘he Founder s crosier is preserved in the President’s lodgings, a tu-
+bus' speéimen ‘of wérkmaiship, but inferior to that of Wybhm in

New'Collige.



CORPUB ‘CHRISTI:COLLEGE: 7t

of Ritbéns, consisting of five figures :as large as life, -
add aninfaént Saviour. This came from the ¢collection
of -the ' Ptiticé’ of Conde at’ Chantilly, who- is sajdtd
. have given three thousand louis d’ors for it.: It was
preseiite® to “the College ‘in 1804 by the late!Sir
Rmhard ‘Worsley, formerly & mehber 2igf t}nsx Soi
ciety.
Thé inner Chapel contams the - mmmdntsof the
Presidénts  Rainolds, Spenser, Newlin, and- Turder
" The outer Chapel has a greater number of ‘monunents,
td the memory of many eminent scholars; .- The clois-
ter, which is now appropriated as a. burial place, was
built by Dr. Turner -in 1706, when the old cloister on
the south side of the Chapel was removed. :
John Claymond, the first of the seventeen Pres1+
pENTS who have governed this‘house sincé the foum- -
dation; hds already been noticed “as a-benefactor to
Brasen 'Nose College, and as President of Magdalen.
He held: the latter office in March, 1516-17, when Bi-
shop' Fox requested him ‘to -become President of Cor-
pus;and as this new Headship was inferior in value to
that bf Magdalen, he-bestowed on him: the Rectory of
Cleeve in Gloucestershire. Claymond presided above
twenty' years, and died i 1537. He appears from his
mamié&ripts, ‘some’ of : which are in this' College, to
to have beéen'a’ classical scholar, and acquainted with
natural history, ki works comsisting df commentaries
“dh’ ﬁﬁlus Gellius and Plautus, and notes and observa-
tions on Pliny; and he appears to have been the cor-
“respotident ‘of . Gririeeus, Erasmus, and other learned
contemporaries. With Erasmus, indeed, he became
personally acquainted at Oxford, who afterwards de-
dlcated to him some tracts of Chrysostom. Morwent,
T3
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his successor, was also taken from Magdilen,“aid ‘pie
sided about twenty-one years, with th¢ high Uharattet
of % Pater patriz literate Oxomensls " TPhotiad Grétls
way, the. fifth’ President, wrote a'short life of Fox;
which is preserved among the archives of thfs' Ed‘llegél
Dr. Cole, the sixth, after ‘presndmg thirty’ y'esrs, bé-
came Dean of Lincoln, and tésighed.  He was ofe’df
the first’ Pnotestant Presidents, and in Queen Mary’s
days had been an exile at ‘Géneva, where he assidted i
" the translation of the Bible. He lies buried in' Lincoln'
cathedral, under a'fine monument in the Lady's &inl
pel*. He was succeeded by one of the most Fearned;
' pious, and eminent meh of this age or cothtr§, By
John Rainolds. Perhaps all Europe ¢ould not'prod&eée
three men of superior talents and fame to Rain6ld¥;
Jewell, and Usher, who were Contemporaries'‘iti- this
College. His most copious biogtapher* inforis’ "t}
that he was a great benefactor to the Collegd’in*p?&l
curing an Act of Parhament to confirm ceftaih lants
to it; in procurmg the explanation of sotne &fUthé
* statutes (which were thought ambiguous) by Dt} IR
son, Blshop of Wmchester, the Vlsxtor, in f?ﬁﬂi(l

ARAVE
s Part of bis epitaph-is in the punmng styk of the age:
. *And when the latter trump of heaven shall blow, . .
‘e ('ple, now raked up in ashes, then shall glow ”» '~ ' %
I amr doubtfil, hovoever, whether it was not his brotker Thomas whe
assisted in translating the Bible. : G
b Fuller in his Abel Redivivos. Fuller was mtunate with him, and,
being present at his de@th gives a very affecting account of that event.
Among Rainolds's nuiierous works, is a short controversy with one Wil-
liam Gager, a studeut of Chmt Church, in which Rainolds denied the
Tawfulness of stage-plays Let us hope q:a.t this Gager had some op
nent of equal talents, when, in a publlcact of the Umvemty, he }nafﬁ-

- tained, horvesco refevens ! that it was « hwful for huibands toﬁem
& wives.,”

SO o
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ing .the Chapel, Hall, aod Library; and in improy-.
 ing.the Scholarships and Chaplamshlps Dr J'ackgon,_
Dean -of Pe;enborough and . eleventh Presldent was’
a divine of  great learning, and. ludefangable study
His works, which were collected into three follos_
" by- Barnabas 'Oley, B. D. might furnish import-
" antmatter for a judicious selection, there being few
controversial paints which he has not handled with
uncommon ability. His successor, Dr. Newlin, bemg
ejécted by the Parliamentary visitors, they placed Dr.
Edmund Staunton, son of Sir John Staunton, in his
' room, @ man of learning and pxety, who perhaps mlght
" nathave been unsuccessful on a more regular electnon B
~ byt at,ghe restoration of Charles IL. it was necessary,
' as in.other cases, that Dr. Jackson’s legitimate succes-
sor. should.be. replaced. Dr. Turner, who. succeeded
~ Newlin, has occurred glready among the benefactors,
" Heg.presigled over this College from 1688 to 1714, with
great ‘reputation, and was honourably interred in the
College Chapel, with an inscription recording his ex-
celleny ,character and liberality®. The name of Basil
Kennet, the fourteenth President, has been famxllar to
many generations of scholars, in consequence of his
valuable publication on the Antiquities of Rome. He
was. President, however, only a few months after his
setury.. from Leghorn. - Dr. Thomas Randolph, who
pl‘eceded D'r. Cooke to the :Headship of this Societ);,

o

: »’ lt luu;l,.ﬂut by some means he evaded taking the oath of “abjura-
“9%}, Sircymstanee which Wlnston knew, and concealed. . He Tays
thepefore hy a curious ealcuiatlon, to the honour of corrtnbu{fng
t.ll},h part of Dr 'l'urner’s fortune whlc'h he might Have Iost, had the
segeet, heen betrayed. Th;s whimsical account may be seen in Whiston’ 's
Life, vol. i. pp. 119186, : s
T4 .
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Witk Qpe %Wnﬁkﬂ& divines:ofl his: tivos, and ey
Hgpioh i Promation %ee; thebonourehle ivewned -of
_ somsdisplay, of ek 304 plsnt indefenoe of- thedo
tings of Ahe ChspheHe died Maroh: 24 4704, o>
ter presiding over this College for the long.epace: nf
thirty-fivg yeprs,-aod,was busied jadhe slaisten,:1 Mis
20p- hps been successivgly Bishopof omwm
snd, Londen, SSREIAE G VAL
+1F. the melve, an&us, Who.are mud
hglgqmgg to Conpus Chaiati; ane-of 1he. most cele-
hrated, was. Gerdinal Pole, who, howerex, was first &
- Noldsman. of, Megdales. His.connettion with this
College is moge doubtfal; hyt-it-can lny jest claim-te
Iyl Bisbap of Selishyry, nlthongh bis eplg-odu-
sption : was nadovbtedly veceiggd.in Merton Gollege.
n .Goxpus, be bad for his private smtor Joha Morwen,
gp.pble dixing gnd Geeek achelar, but inflexible inbie
| mregcg to .popesy. Hg was candid enesighi, how-
BYgre 0 ey of dewelli that 4 though. an hereue i
4 faith, inJie he seemed an angel.”, It would kesuper--
5943 toReenmulate testinmonies. sauthe merit- of guch &
omas Jewelks et it may.net, be.so generally. ko,
that bis celgbraked “ Rsfence of his. Apology”-egainst
the popish, divines, wascommended by. :Elizabath;
;g.g;esl. and. Ghagles L. and, four suecessive- Archbis
MQ, 10, be kept.chained in all.the parish-chusches,
fa1 the use_of the: public. This;short list may be
glosed with naticing the names of Webb, Bishop. of
Jipmerick, some time of University- College, but after-
yﬁrds 8 Fellow of  this house, who published various
gﬁcgsbguq of which, entitled “ The Practice of: Quiet-
X R8%%y. dssesses, t behatter knowp:—Dy. Fowler, Bix
i Glongestery an able controvansisl wiites, mbo,
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iradefénce  oftdis ¢ Design- bf Christianity,” did not
Shadaiy vo viiensere his: - strength with that of John
Bekyow:-and DivRichiiid Potecke, Bishop of Mesith,
e Jidried ribntafsty whaose: traVels i the ‘Eadt are 0
NW o1 gt e
Among: the soholavy of: fin&nor ranks, vlio studied
sogeniCallege; iwis ipdiakib tames of Johh Shepreve,
"one of the first Greek readers here, and &~ Laitth poet
of betnidersble celebrity. His mehuscript life of the
£iv90 Pyesident Claymend is preserved'in the Library see
Réditlas-or Redmayhne, afterwatds-first Master of Tria
wity  QCollege; 'Caumibridge; a noted. Latin and Greek
sehélel; and one of ‘the compilers of the Liturgy =+
Morwen; alvo aty excelent Greek scholar, already no-
thesdla¢' tutor to ‘Bishop Jewell :—Nicholas Udal and
Riohurll: Edwards; poets; the latter one of our earliess
dshmatio - writers, whose Palemon'and Arcite .wag
weted .before: Queen Elizabeth in Christ Church Hall,
on her visit here in 1566 :—Miles Windsor, who had
made: collections for the antiquities of Oxford, which
he'imparted afterwards to Twyne, alsa a scholar of this
kouse, and author of -the first regular history of the
Utiversity, published in 1608, under the title of
¥ Adiiquitatis Academiz Oxoniensis’ Apologia. In
“dyfes libros divisa.”—Hoox er :—Sir Edward Sandys,
statesan :—Dr. Sebastian Benefield, Lady Margaret’s
_Professor:—Gill, Master of St.:Paul's school :—Dr.
‘Dagiel Peatly, a very able divine and ‘controversial
weiter :—~Hales, the ever miemoérabfe:—Sir John Men-
. mie)'a celebrated traveller; seanian,” and ' poet :—Dr.
THokias' Greaves, Arabi¢ Proféssor -—Edmund Chise
), 5 +ledrned divine, but more eminent as an anti-
Qusty v-Dr. Richaid Fiddes, thé bidgrapher of Cardi-
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nal Wolsey :—John Anstis, the celebratéd herald, the

.son of a more celebrated genealogist of both his

names :—Henry Hare, Lord Colerane, already noticed
as a benefactor to, the Library, an _excellent Greek
scholar, poet, iand aﬁtxq '.—Dr. Nathaniel Forster,

. & divine of great erudition :—Dr. John Burton, another

of those: Greek schiolars.who kept up tbe Foundarl.
intended- auecession, and .an able College -tutor :»~Dss.
Jeremiash Milles, Dean of Exeter, and: President: of:

_ the . Soeiety. of - Antiquaries :—Sir Ashton Lever;'thel

. collector of the largest musenm of natural historycenes

formed by an individual, and which, not muoh . toothei

 credit of nationsl spirit and opulence, was disperstd byn
. auction.a.:few ;years ggo.. To this list may: haaddeds

Thomas..Day, the .author of'some .political tracksi

- poems,-and books, adapted for-edugation, on a sprex

- what eccentric..plan, He passed three.years-ia thiss

College, but Jeft it withiout taking a degree,+ ' - :nor
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A LT PUPR S SLEE B CTS L AN I TR T 1 A1 X
AN -impartial life of- Cardmal Wblsey, whotws; i
- its'first stage at least, the undoubted: Foundér-of ithig-
magaificent establishment, is stilli a- desiderdtuis 4.
English biography. Caveadish is''minuteand- intem?
esting in: what he relates of “the -Cardinal’s domestie:
histovy, but«defective in dates-and srvangement;wadt
* nipt altogether free from partiatity, whicly, howevérpin:
one sonear-to. the Cardinal may perhaps be'pardotieds
Fiddesis elaborate, argnmentative,and, upon:the wholé}
useful-as an extensive collector of facts and authorig
ties; but he.wrote for & special purpose; amd hagiaty
tempted, what no aman. «caneffest; @ portrait oftihi¢’
hero free from those vices and failings of which it is
impossible to acquit him. Grove, with all the aid of
Cavendish, Fiddes, and even Shakspeare, whose drama
he regularly presses into the service, is a heavy and
injudicious compiler, although he gives so much of
the Cardinal’s contemporaries, that his volumes may
be consulted with advantage as a series of general an-
nals of the time. But Cavendish, on whom all who
have written-on the actions of Wolsey, especially our
modern historians, have relied, has been the innocent
- cause of some of. their principal errors, Cavendish’s
work remained in manuscript, of which several copies
- are still extant, until the civil wars, when it was first
printed under the title of “ The Negociations of
“ Thomas Wolsey, &c. 4to, 1641;” and the chief ob-
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ject of vas a para]lel between, the
Cardin Laud, in_order to reconclie
the pul of that Prelate. “That’ thls
object rer gccomphshed the manu-
script, " mterpolated without sbame
or scry having been taken to com-
pare th vith the ongmal thp formet
R&iﬁ,‘fd /A gentury ; nor until wn:bm_
thp'sg{fg work beeq pre$ented to tﬁe
public. s

i The ;s tb;: ﬁrst dlsputed pomt
w;il:li:h ngtter now of v very little i im=
pgljtgm hls ll etlme a common top)fo

of ridj llve in.an q,ge of much re-
ﬁnp;nel t, had_ the tenour of ‘his ]i?e

been umfotmly beneficent and virtuous, we are w:llﬁ)g
to believe. it would have seldom been nrged tﬁat 'he
owed nol,hmg to blrtb and parentage. o

The. wsual acz;ount is, that he was: ‘the ‘'son of g
butcheg atl stmh ‘where he was’ ‘born, March, l47f
but hjs, zealqus bio rapher, Dr. Flddes, has dlscovered
ﬂlat one Robert olsey of that’ place had a son whose
ear‘[y I;lstory correspondea w1th thaé of the Cardinal)
ana that thls Robert'w was a mal:r of ‘considerable landed
property ° Without | examxmpg this authonty vé:-}
i mmutely, SWhich perhaps mlght pIace it i ina questioni
able shape, we may Trom other ev:dence coﬁc]nde;
that ’lns pqrents weré either not poor, or not friend.
]ess, since’ Ll;ey were ‘able to give him thé best“édu-
¢ation his native town afforded, and afterwards 'toséud
him to Magdalen College. But in whatever way he

gl

I LA . ' ’ -
* Jn Dr. Wordsworth’s Ecclesiastical Biography, vol. i.
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wac it\ntrgduced here, it is certain that his progress in
rmcal stmﬁes was so rapnd tﬁat he was admitted .
0 f.he gnee of Bachelor of Arts at the age of fifs
teen, an f:om thls extraordmary mstance of pl'eco~
g‘;’tmmv’véé usuaﬂy xramed the Boy Bachelor.
e proof's are “indeed wanung of his tncominon res
"%?n as & scholar, for he wis elected Fellow of
t" is qﬂege sodn after taking' his Bachelor's degtee ;
{m,vmg taken that of Master, he was appointed
teacher .of Magdalen grammar-school. “In 1498 he
wag made Bursar of the College, about which timé he
h’gs the credlt of ‘biilding Magdalen tower, as already
h‘otlce}} in our ‘account of that College*. * It is yet
ﬁl‘d;re ii pfoof 'of his learning havmg béen "of the
' si Tiberal kind, and accompamed with a correspond.
uﬁllberahty of sentiment, that he became acquainted
f;lrasmus, then at Oxford, and joined that illuss
mous “schotat in promoting classical studies, which
were 1pecuharly obnoxious to the bigotry of the times.
etters which passed between Wolsey and Eras-
us for some 'years imply mutual respect and union
2}2 ‘?gngxment on all matters in' which literature was
congern jd H and their love of' Ieammg, and contempt
go; the n}onks, alt'hough this last was extited by dif-
. eg‘ent motlves, were points in which we perceive no
t d;sagreement. Yet, as Erasmus continued to
hyg the 11fe of a mere scholar, precatious and depend-
qnt, ;md Wolsey was rapidly advancing to rank and
hgnours, too many and too high for a subject, a dise
fanice was placed between them which Wolsey would
g
* I'bave been since informed, that Dr. Chandler, in his MS. Life of
Waynfleet, is Mclined to doubt his having been Bursar at that time.
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mot .shoped, -and Erasmus -gould mot pass.- -Hence,
avhile sucoutteous familiarity - was) preserved-in- Wol-
-«ay’'sicorrespondence,: Erasmus could not help betray-.
ding theu faelings. of. & elient -who-hus received little.
more than promises from his:patren ;-and -when Wel .
sey fell .from: his “highstate, Erasmius joined -in the
opinion that- he'was unwerthy of it -For this he is
severaly censured. by Flddes, and. ably defehdedx byA
{Knigh¢ and Jortin.

: (Walsey’s first eccles:asucal preferment was the Rece.
sory of: Lymington- in° Somersetshire, conferred upon-
+ bim: in:.1500. by - the . Marquis: of Dorset, to--whose
theee:soas he:had.acted: g8 tutor, when in Magdalen
College. . On receiving - this presentation, he left the
Kniversity, and. resided for some time on his: ctre,
when. asingular circumstance induced, or perhaps ren<.
dered it absolutely: necessary for him to leave it. At
& merry meeting atcLymington he either passed the
bownds of sobriety, or was:otherwise aceessary in pros
moting a riot, for which 8iz Amyas Paulet, a Justice of
Reace,. set him initbe/stocks. - This indignity Wolsey
remembered whew it ‘would: have beent ‘honourable us
wellas prudeat. to-bave' forgot it..” Aftet he had ar:
rived: at the high rank of Chancellor, e ordered Sir
Amyas to . be confined within the bounds of the Tems
ple,and kept him in that place for five or six years. - -
~:On his quitting Lymington, though without resign«
g the living, Henry Dean, Archbishop of Canter-
Mryymade him.one of -his domestic Chaplains, and in
3508,:the Pope Alexander gave: him.a dispensation tq
hold two benefices. * On the death of the Archbishop
in the..same ‘year, he was -appointed Chaplain to Sir
John ;Nanfan .of - Worgestershire, Treasurer of Calais,
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whichiwas.theaia s possesion of the Baglish, and

Jaydrim, ecommended: te Henry:Vilowho made hist’

Suesafi bis Chaplains,, About thesnd: of 1504;.he ob-
dpined from. Pope:Jylins 1k » dispenmion~*tw bold:- a
shivd living,. the-Reatory: of. Redgrave in - Norfolk.
Ja the tmgan time he was improying his intésest: ut

gourt hyan- affable iand iplausible -address, atd by: a
é\splaymf Jpolitical: talent, and quick-.and - judicious

dispatch” in business, which rendered him. very usefal
nndsaccepmblq-m;hwess)wreagmn In February,-1508,

the King gaye him_the .Deanery of Lincoln, and\two-

grebcnds insthe-same. church, -and -would . probably
hae adged to these preferments, had:He not beem pras
sgpted ibghia-death ia the following:year. - - . - -
@10 his gVent, . important as it: was: to the kangdom,
was, of:Ma disadvantage -to. Wolsey, who saw in-the
ypung King; Henry. VIIL a disposition that mighs be
gndered, ;more favourable to his lofty viewss: yet what
hig(itq]gntgmight have afterwards, procured, he owed
3% this time to a coust intrigue. "Fox, Bishap of Wia-
thste.r:and Founder of Corpus Christi College,.introi
duced bim to Henry, in,order to counteract the inflos
encq.of the Eark of Surry, (afterwards * Duke.of Norw
f}olk;) sud.had probably; no" wobse. intemtion than- to
pmqrve a .balance in the .council ;* but Wolsey; who
was.got (desnned to play a subordinate part, soon: rose
highes in influenge than either his patron or his ap:
peuent.. He. studied, with perfect knowledge .of the
human heart, to please the young King; by joining in
isflnlgenaies, which, -however suitable to the: gaiety
.of-a court, were less becoming the character of an
~eclesiastic; - .Yet, amidst the luxuries which he pro-
moted in his royal master, he did not neglect to in-

»
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. etleate maktims of state, and, above sll, to insisuate,
in - meuner thet tppundeqndlwadudm
 tesemed, the sdventages of & system of favonsitism,
wllehhe secretly hoped would one day: centre in his
own person. Nor was he disappointed ; s, for some
time after this, his history, apart from what share he
hed in the -public councils, is little more than s Jist of
promotions following each other with & rapidity that
alarmed the courtiers, and inclined the peopls, always
jenlous of sudden elevations, to look back o his
origin.

In this rise he was successively made Almoner to
the King, a_Privy Counsellor, and Reporter of the
proceedings of the Star-chamber ; Rector of Tarring-
¢on in the diocese of Exeter, Canon of Windsor, Re-
gistrar of the Order of the Garter, and Prebendary and
Pean of York. From these he passed on to become
Dean of Hereford and Precentor of St. Paul's, both of
hith he resigned on being preferred to the Bishopric
of Lincoln, Chancellor of the Order of the Garter,
snd Bishop of Tournay in Flanders, which he held
until 1518, whea that city was delivered up to the
French ; but he derived from it afterwards an annual

sion of twelve thousand livres*. In 1514 be was
consecrated Bishop of Lincoln, in the room of Smyth,
Founder of Brasen Nose Coallege, and was chosen
Chancellor of the University of Cambridge. The same
year he was promoted to'the Archbishopric of York,
#ud created Cardinal of St. Cecilia.
Yet, in the plenitude of that political influence

. s, Piddes allows that this piece of preformest partook of usurpa-
Moy, & the foemper Bishop of Tournay had been neither legally nor
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wideh e 5 iow malhtained to the exclusion oT e, an-

cietit nobility and courtiers,it appéarst that for some txme

be‘préserved the pehce of the country by a stnct aﬂ-

iuindstrition of justice, and - by a ‘punctuality in ‘matters

of"‘ﬂnunce, which admitted no very unfayourable com-

parisons bétween him and his predecessors. - Perhaps

the tpleudour and festivities which he eicouraged in

the' coutt might, by a diffusion of ‘the 1oyl wealth

amorig the public, contribute ‘to a certain degree of

popularity, espécially when contrasted with the ‘more

economical habits encouraged by Henry VIL It vyas :
not uatll he established his Legantiné court, a specis

of Eaglish popedom, that the people had feason to
complam of a vast and rapacious power, unknown tQ

th¢ constitution, and boupdless in its capricious de-

crees; against which there was no redress. This court,

howeévet, could not have inflicted many public | mg

jiirits, us:it. formed no part of the complaints of Par-’

Fiatnent against him, when complaints' might have

been' preferred with safety, and would have béen wel-

comed from ‘any quarter. At that time the Iegalxty of
the power was called in quest;on, but not. tbe exercnsg
e{ w. PR . *

- In the pnvate conduct of this’ extraordmary ma:ﬁ,
whiile in the height of his prosperity, we find a singuy
lar mixture of personal pride and public mnmﬁcence.
‘While his train of servants rivalled that of the ng,
and-was composed .of many persons’ of tank and dig-"
tinction, his house was a'school wheré’ their sons we?e
usefully ‘educated, .and initlated o' pabfic life.® And
-while he was dazzling the eyes or insulting the .{pal-
ings.of.the, people- by an ssisntation-of. gesgasussiame.
niture and equipage, such as exceedéd"t8 royal-EPuRF:

v
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blishment itself, he was a general and liberal patrou
of literature, a man of consummate taste in works of
art, elegant in his plans, and boundless in his. ex-
pences to execute them; and, in the midst of luxuri-
ous pleasures and pompous revellings, he was meditat-
ing the advancement of science by a munificent use of
.those riches which he seemed to accumulate only for
selfish purposes.

Ia the mean time there was o intermissiorr iw his
-preferments.  His influence was courted by the Pope,
who had made him a Cardinal, and, in 1516, his Le-
gate in England, with powers not inferior to his 6wn;
and by the King of Spain, who granted him a pension.
of three thousand livres, while the Duchy of "Milan
bestowed on him a yearly grant of ten thousand
ducats. On the resignation of Archbishop Warham,
he was appointed Lord High Chaacellor. ¢ If this
“ new accumulation of dignity,” says Hume, ¢ in-
« creased his enemies, it also served to exalt his per-
‘“ sonal character, and prove the extent of his ca-
“ pacity. A strict administration of justice took place
- during his enjoyment of this high office; and no
¢ Chancellor ever discovered greater impartiality in
“ his decisions, deeper penetration of judgment, or
% more enlarged knowledge of law or equity.”

In 1518 he attended Queen Catherine to Oxford,
' @nd intimated to the University his intention of found- .
* ing lectures in Theology, Civil-law, Physic, Philosophy,
Mathematics; Rhetoric, Greek, and Latin; and in the
following year three of these, viz. for Greek, Latin,
and Rhetoric, were founded and endowed with ample
salaries, and read in the Hall of Corpug Christi Col-
legé. He appoiated for his lectarers the ablest sche-
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lars whom the’ University aﬁ'orded or whom he could
invite from the continent. The members of the Con-
vocation about_this time conferred upon him the
hlghest mark of their esteem, by a solemn decree, that
he should have the. revisal and correction of the Uni-
versxty statutes in the most extensive sense; and it
does not appear that they had any reason to repent of
this extraordmary instance of their confidence. The
same power was conferred upon him by the University
of Ca.mbndge, and in both cases was qccompamed by
documents which proved the very high opinion enter-
tamed by . these learned bodies of his fitness.to reform
what was amiss in the republic of letters.

. In the same year the Pope granted him the admini-
stration of the Bishopric of Bath and Wells, and the
Klng’ bestowed on him its temporalities. This see,
wnth those of Worcester and Hereford, which the
Cardmal hkewnse farmed, were at this time filled by
fore:gners, who were allowed non-residence, and com-
pounded for this indulgence by yielding a share of
the revenues. The Cardinal’s aid in establishing the
,College of Physxclans of London is likewise to be
recorded amoéng the many instances of the very li-
beral views he entertained of every improvement con-
 nected w;th literature, :

In 1521 he evinced his zeal- agamst the Reforma-
tlon whlch Luther. had begun, by procuring his doc-
tnnes to be condemned in an assembly of divines held
at his own house, and by publishing Pope Leo’s bull
against him, endeavoured to suppress his writings in -
this'kingdom : but there is no favourable part of his
character 3o fully established as his moderation towards
the English Lutherans; for one article of his impeach-

Tue
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ment was his being remiss in punishing heretics, and
shewing a disposition rather to screen them. '

In the same year he received the rich abbey of St.
Alban’s to hold in commendam, and soon after went
abroad on an embassy. About this time also hie be-
came a candidate for the Papal chrair, on the demise
of Leo X. bat was not successful. His disappoint-
ment, however, was compensated in some degree by -
the Emperor, who settled a pensmn on him of niné
thousand crowns of gold, and by’the Bishopric of
Durham, to wiich he was appointed in 1523. On this
he resigned the administration of Bath and Wells.
The same year he issued a mandate to remove the
Convocation of the province of Canterbury from St.
Paul’s to Westminster, one of his most unpopnlar
acts, but which appears to have been speed}ly Te-
versed. On the death of Pope Adrian he maide a
second unsuccessful attempt to be elected Pope; but,
while he failed in this, he received from his nval a
confirmation of” the whole Papal authonty in En’g— :
land.

In 1524, he intimated to the University of Oxford
his design of founding a College there, and soon com-
menced that great work. About two years after hé
founded his school®, or college, as it has been some-
times called, at Ipswich, as & nursery for kis in-
tended College at Oxford ; and this for a short €ihé is
said to have rivalled the achools of Winchester atid-
Eton. ‘As he mxxed ecclésiastical dlgmty thﬁ a]f bns

* On the site of the priory M.St.'hu{a;whdtwammm.u
the Cardinal March 6, 1527. Dr. Williaos Capon was. §rstrand,.lass
Dean, for this school was discoptinued on. tl;e deup,ls fall,. Thg
foundation-stogxe i noq greserved in Cluht Clmrck.
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leamed mstntutlons, he appointed here a Dean, twelvet
Canons, and a numerous choir. At the same time he
sent a circular address to the schoolmasters of Eng-
' land recommendmg them to teach their youth the
elements of elegant llterature, literatura elegantissima,
and prescnbed the use of Lllly s Grammar.

of the immense riches whlch he derived from his
vanous preferments, some were no doubt spent in
luxuries, which left only a sorrowful remembrance ;
but the greater part was employed in those magmﬁ-
cent édifices which have immortalized his genius
and spirit. In 1514 he began to build the palace at
Hampton Court, and havmg finished it, with, all its.
sumptuous furmture, in 1528, he presented it to the
ng, who in return gave him the palace of Rich-
mond for a residence. ’

‘In this lasb-mentloned year he acceded to the Bi-
sb,opnc of Wmchester, by the death of Fox, and re-
'sxgned that of Durham. To Wmchester, however, he
never went. That reverse of fortune, which has ex-
hibltecl him as an exa.mple of terror to the ambmous,
was now approachmg, and was accelerated by events,
the consequences of which he foresaw, without the
power of averting them, Henry was now agltated by
a passgon not to be controlled by the whispers of
fnendshlp or the counsels of statesmen ; and when the
Cardmal, whom he had appomted to forward his di-

varce fl'om Queen Catherme, and his marriage with
Anne Boleyn, appeared tardily to ‘adhere to forms, or
mpulously to interpose advice, he determined to
meke him feel the weight of his resentment.. It hap-

pened unfortunately for the Cardinal that both the
" Queen aiid her rival were his enemies; the Queen,
v3
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from a suspicion that she never had a cordial friend
in him, and Anne, from a knowledge that he had se-
cretly endeavoured to prevent her match with the
King. But a minute detail of these transactions and
intrigues belongs to history, in which they occupy a
large space. It may suffice here to notice, that the ™
Cardinal’s ruin, when once determined, was effected -
in the most sudden and rigorous manner, and proba-
bly without his previous knowledge of the violent’
measures that were to be taken. '
On the first day of term, Oct. 9, 1520, while he was
opening the court of Chancery at Westminster, the
Attorney General indicted him in the court of King’s
Bench, on the statute of provisors 16 Richard II. for
procuring a bull from Rome appointing him Legate,

contrary to the statute, by which he had incurred a =

praemunire, and forfeited all his goods to the King, -
and might be imprisoned. Before he could give in
any reply to this indictment, the King sent to demand

the Great Seal from him, which was given to Sir Tho-

mas More. He was then ordered to leave York-place,

a palace which had for some centuries been the resi-
dence of the Archbishops of York, and which he had
adorned with furniture of great value and magnifi-
cence; it now became a royal residence under the
name of Whitehall. Before leaving this place to go ™
to BEsher near Hampton Court, a seat belohging to
the Bishopric of Winchester, he made an inventory of
the furniture, plate, &c. of York-place, which is said
to have amounted to the incredible sum of five hun- -
dred thousand crowns, or pounds of our monej. He
then went to Putney by water, and set out on the rest

of his journey on his mule; but he had not gome far =~
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before he was met by a messenger from the King,
with a gracions message, assuring him that he stood

as high as ever in the royal favour, and this accom- - .

panied by a ring, which the King had been accus-
tomed to send, as a token to give credit to the bearer.
Wolsey received these testimonials with the humblest -
expression of gratitude, but proceeded on his way to
Esher, which he found quite unfurnished. The King’s
design by this solemn mockery is not easily conjec-
tured. It is most probable that it was a trick to in- .‘
spire the Cardinal with hopes of being restored to fa-
vour, and consequently to prevent his defending him-
self in the prosecution upon the statute of provisors,
which Henry knew he could do by preducing his

royal letters patent, authorizing him to accept the
Pope’s bulls. And this certainly was the consequence,
for the Cardinal merely instructed his attorney to pro-
test in his name that he was quite ignorant of the
above statute, but that he acknowledged other parti- -
culars with which he was charged to be true, and sub-
mitted himself to the King’s mercy. The sentence of
the court was, that “ he was out of the protection,
“and his lands, goods, and chattels forfeit, and his
‘ person might be seized.” ‘ . ‘

The next step to complete his ruin was taken by
the Duke of Norfolk and the Privy Counsellors, who -
drew up articles against him, and presented them to
the King; but he, stil affecting to take no personal
concern in thé matter, remained silent. Yet these
probably forined the basis of the forty-four articles
presented December 1. to'the House of Lords, as by
some asgerted, or, according to other accounts, by
the  Lords.of ‘the Council to the House of Commons,
) v4
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Many of them gare evidently-frivolons or falsé,-and.\
others, althongh true, were not within-the jurisdiction
of the House. - The Cardinal had:in facs already:suf-~
fered, as his :goods had been seized by the: King':-he
‘was. DOW in & prewunire, and; the :Honse could mot: go
mauch farther than to recommend what had: already:
taken place. The Cardinal, howexer, found one friend.
amidst all his distresses, who was ‘not. to be alarmed .
either. by the terrors of the coust; or of the peeple.
This ‘was Thogas Cromwell, formerly Wolsey's stew~
ard, (afterwards Earl of Essex,)-who now refnted the
articles with so mu¢h spirit, eloquence, and argnment;
that, although a very oppesite effect.might haye: beeit:
expected, his speech is supposed to have laid.the .
foundation of that favour which the King aftexwands
extended to him, but which, at no very distant period,’
proved as fatal to him as it had been to his master,
His eloquence had a yet more powerful effect ; for the.
address, founded on these articles, was rejected by:
the Commong, and the Lords could not procced far=
ther without their concurrence,

During the Cardinal’s residence at, Esher the ng.
sent - sgveral, .messages to him, “ some good. and some
“ bad,” says Cavendish, ¢ but more ill than good,”
until this. tantalizing correspondence; operating on 3
mind of strong passions, brought on, about the end of ,
the year, a sickness, which was represented to the King.
as’ bemg apparently fatal. The King ordered his phy-
sician, Dr. Butts, to visit him, who confirmed. what
had been reported of the dangerons state of his health,.
but intimated, that as. his disease affected his mind..
rather than his body, a kind word from his. Majesty..
might prove more effectual than the best skill of the!.
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faculty.. On: this the King sent him d ring, with-
- a’gracious:message, that he was ‘not offentled with
. him i his hears;- s1d Anne. Boleyn sent }im a tables
of gold:tmt usualipbung at hersilej with many kind:
expressions. The Cardinal: recetvéd these testiinonies:
of retwrningifavour with joy and gratitude; and in a
few. days: was pronounced out of danger.
" -Norian-we blame. Wolsey for his credulity, since
Henry;although he had stripped the Cardinal of all- his-
- property, and the: income arising from alt his: préfer-
ments; actually granted him, Feb. 12, 1530, a free par-
doa for sll crimes and misdemeanours, and a‘few days-
after restored to him the revenuds, &c. of the Archbi--
shoprieof York, except: York-place, before mentiéned,
and sllowed him one thousand :marks yearly from' the
Bishopric of Winchester. Healso sent him a present of
3006l in money, and a quantity. of filate and furniture
_exceeding that sum, and:permitted him to remove from
Esher:to Richmond, where he: resided - for some time..
inithe lodge. in the old park, and. afterwards 'in the
priory. His enemies at court, however, who' appear
to;bave. influenced the King: beyond ihis usual'arbi-
trany.disposition, dreaded Wolsey’s being so: mear his
Majesty, and. prevailed on.him to.order: him to reside.
in his Archbishopric: In .obedience to this mandate,
which was softened by another graciows: message
from Henry, he first went to the Archbishop’s’ seat
at Southwell, and_about the end of September fixed
bis residence at Gawood castle, which he. began to
repairyand was acquising popularity by his hospitable
‘manvers.and-bouaty, when his capricious master was
persuadéd to arrest’ him for high treason, and order
%iin 1o be cot;ducted to London. Accordingly on the



298 CHRIST CHURCH: -

first of November he set out; but on the road he was"
seized with a disorder of the dysenteric kind, brought
on by fatigue and anxiety, which put a period to his
life at- Leicester abbey on the 28th of that month, in-
the fifty-ninth year ef his age. Some of his lust words -
implied the awful and just reflection, that if he had -
served his God as diligently as he had served his
King, he would .not have given him over to his ene-
mies. Two days ‘after he was intérred in the abbey -
- church of Leicester, but the spot is not now known.
As to the report of his having poisoned himself,
founded ‘on an expression,in the printed work of
Cavendish, it has been amply refuted by a late emi-
nent antiquary, who examined the whole of the evt-
dence with much acuteness*. :
Modern historians have formed a more favourable
estimate of Wolsey’s character than their predeces-
sors; yet it had that mixture of good and evil which
admits of great variety of opinion, and gives to inge-
nious party-colouring all the appearance of truth. I
know mnot, however, whether Shakspeare, borrowing
from:Hollingshed and Hall, has not drawn a more just
and comprehensive’ sketch of his perfections and fail-
ings than:is to be found in any other writer. '

: This Cardipal,

aT&ough fmm an bumble stock, undoubtedly
WQs fashion'd to, much honour. From his cradle -
He was a scholar,.and a ripe and good one ;
' Exeeeding wide, fair spoken, and persuading :

s ‘Loﬂ;y and sout to them that lov’d him not ;

P

s The |earned Dr Samnel Pegge .grandfather to Sir Christopber
Pegge, the. present Regius Professor of Medicine. See Gent. Mag. vol.

xXV. P. 35 mdtwo very able articles on the Cardinal’s- mpeachment, '
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But, to those men that sought him, sweet as summer,

And though he was unsausﬁed in getting,
*"(Which was a sin,) yet in bestowing, Madam,

He was most princely. Ever withess for him"’

‘Those twins of learming, that he rais'd in you,

Ipswich and Oxford! one of which fell with him,

Unwilling to outlive the good that did it ;

The other, though unfinish’d, yet so famous,

So excellent in art, and still so rising,

That Christendom shall ever speak his virtue.

His overthrow heap’d happiness upon him :

"For then, and not till then, he felt himself,

And found the blessedness ‘of being llttle N

And, to add greater honours to his age

Than man could give him, he died, fearing God »,

The Cardinal’s biographers, in treating of. the
foundation of his College, begin with a very laboured -
defence of his seizing the property and revenues of
many priories and nunneries, which were to serve as a
fund for building and endowment; and the zeal they
display on this subject, if it cannot now enforce eon-
viction, at least proves the historical fact, that the .
rights of property even at that time were not to be.
violated with impunity, and that the Cardinal’s con- -
duct was highly unpopular. At first it was objected :
to even by the King himself, although he soon after-
wards converted it into a precedent for a more general .
dissolution of religious houses. Wolsey, however, ought
not to be deprived of such defence as has been set up. .
It has been urged, that he procured bulls from the Pope,-
empowering him to seize on these priories; and that
the Pope, according to the notions then entertained.
of his su'premacy, could grant a power, by which reli- -

* The speech of the honest chronicler, Gnﬁtb, to Queen Kithe-
sine. Henry VIIL. Act iv. Scene 2.
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gious houses might be converted into sociéties for se-
cular Priests, and for the advancement of learning. It
has been also pleaded, that the Cardinal did not alie-
nate the revenues from religious service, but only made
achange in the apphcatlon of them ; that the appropri-
ation of the alien priories by Chxchele and Waynfleet
was in some respects a precedent; and that the sup-
pression of the Teinplars in the fourteenth century
might also be quoted. Bishop Tanner likewise, in one
of his letters to Dr. Charlett, quotes, as precedents,
Bishops Fisher, Alcock, and Beckington. But per-
haps the best excuse is that hiuted by Lord Cher-
bury, namely, that Wolsey persuaded the King to
leges miglit be erected, and the progress of the Re-
férniation unpetféd by the léarning of the clergy and
scholats educatéd in them. The same writer suggests,
that as Wolsey pleaded for the dissolution of only the
simall and superﬁuous Thouses, the King might not dis-
liké this ‘as a fair” expemnent how far ‘the’ prOJect of

’Eerwrai disdohition would be’ re]lshed On the other
hitd, by‘two Yetters still’ extant, written by the King, |
it 'a’ﬁsears thidt e Wds fully aware of the uhpopularity |
of the’ measuré, althongh we cannot infer from them
that tie had any rémedy to prescribe.

"Whatever " weight ' thiese: apologies had with one’
péitt of “the- pu‘Blic, we are ‘asiured that they had very
litéle with anotliér, ahd that the progress of -the Col-
lege: vt accompamed by frequent expressions of po-
phifar &mlﬂée iti the shapé of lampoons. The Kitchen
hEan beehs fitkt’ finished, one of the satirists of the
day exclaimed, Egregium opus' Cardinalis iste instituit
Collegium et absolvit popinam.- Other mock inserip- -
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tions were placed on the walls, one of which, at least,
proved prophetxc : :
td Non stablt 1lla domus alns fundata,raplms,
“ Aut ruet, aut alter rapwr hal:elnt eam.”

By two bulls, the one dated 159.4, the other 1525?
Wolsey obtamed of Pope Clement VII. leave to en-
rich his College by suppressing twenty-two priories
and nunnenes, the revenues of which were estimated
at nearly 2000l but on his dlsgrace some of these
were given by the King for other purposes. . The
King's patent, after a preface paying high compli-
ments to the Cardinal’s admlmstratnop, enables him
to build his College principally on the site of the pn-
ory_ of St. Fndeswnde and the name, originally i in-
tended to be “ The Colleve of Secular Priests,” was
now changed to CARDINAL Corieee. The secular
clergy in it were to be denominated the “ Dean and
« Canons secular of the Cardmal of Yorl: » and to be
xncorporated into one body, and subslat by, perpetual
succession. He was also authonzed to aettle upon 1t. ‘
2000l. a year clear revenue. By other patents. and gra,nts
to the Dean and Canons, various churcb-llvmgs were
bestowed upon them, and the, College was to be dedis
cated to the praise, glory, and honour of the Holy '!‘q-
nity, the Virgin Mary, St. Fndeswxde, aud All Samts.

With respect to the constltunon of this College,
there is_a coustderable variation, between the account
given by the historian of Oxford, and that by Leo~
nard Hutten, Canon of Christ Church in 1599, qu
many years Sub-Dean. His, mannsgug;, now in_ the
possessxon of the College, and quoted in, the, Mopsg:
ticon, states, that, accordmg to Wolsey s des*&n, it wag
to be a perpetual foundation for the study. of the 8ck
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ences, divinity, canon and civil law, also the arts, ﬁby-
sic, and polite 'literature, and for the coﬂttn’uﬂ per-
formance 8f divine service. The membeérs were to
be a Dean, and sixty regular Canons, but no Canons
of the second order, as Wood asserts. It appears,
however, by Wolsey’s stafutes, which are stilf‘fxre-
served in the College, that Wood’s account was right,
and that the first design included, besides the slxty
regular Canons, forty of the second order.

'Of these Wolsey himself namied thé Dean and' eigh-
teen of the Cafions. The Dean was Dr.'John Hygden,
President of Magdalen College, and the Canons first
nominated were all taken'from -the other Colleges in
Oxford, and were men of acknowledged reputation in
their day. He afterwards added others, dehberately,
and ‘according as he was able to supply the vacandies
by men of talents, whom he determined to seek where-
ever they could be found. ~ Among his latter appoint-
ments from’ Caimbridge, we find the names of ‘Tyn-
dal and Frith, the translators of the Bible, and who
had certainly discovered ‘some symptoms of heresy be-
fore this time. * Cranmer and Parker, afterwards’ ‘the
first and’ second ‘ protestant " Arclibishops of Canter-
bufy, were also invited, but declined; and the Cardl-
nal went on to complete’ his ‘number, reserving' all
nominations” to himsélf during his life, but mtenamg
to bequeath that power to the Dean and Canons at
his death. In this; however, he was as much disap-
pointed, as’in his hopés 'to embody a force of léamed
men’ sufficient to cope with Luther and ‘the foreign
" reformers, wliose advantagé in argument he conceived
" to proceed from the i lgnorance which prevalled among
the monastic clergy.
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_ The Society, as he planned it, was to consist of. one
"hundred and sixty persons: but no mention could yet
be made of the scholars who were to proceed from his
school at Ipswich, although, had he lived, these would
doubtless have formed a part of the Society, as the
.sghool was established two years hefore his fall,

This constitution continued from 1525 to 1529-30,
.when he was deprived of his power and property,
and for two years after it appears to have been .
interrupted, if not dissolved. It is to his honour
that, in his last correspondence with Secretary Crom-
well and with the King, when all worldly prospects
were about to close upon him, he pleaded with great
-earnestness, and for nothing so earnestly, as that his
Majesty would be pleased to suffer his College at
Oxford to go on. What effect this had, we know not ;
-but the urgent entreaties of the members of the Soci-
‘ety, and of the University at large, were at length suc-
“cessful, while at the same time the King determined
to deprive Wolsey of all merit in the estabhshment,
and-transfer the whole to himself. .

" Accordingly, in 1532, the Sqciety was refounded by
the King, under the title of “ King Henry VIIL’s
*¢ College in Oxford.” The patent for this is dated
July 8, and orders, that the said College be again
-founded on the same site, ground,. and: circuit, dedi-
‘cated to the Holy Trinity, St. Mary, and: St. Frides-
wide, and endowed with 2000l. yearly, for the main-
tenance of a Dean and twelve Canons, who sheuld
form a Chapter, or body corporate. Dr.. Hygden -was
egain appointed Dean, and.on his death, five months
after, was succeeded by John Qliver, D.C, L. . Drs.
Roper, Croke, Corin, Robins, and Wakefield, scholars
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of great emineace in their day, wese among the first
appointed Caons. This second foundetion centineeid
until May 20, 1545, when the charter was susred- -
dered by the Dean and Cameas into the hands of the
King, who dismissed them with yearly pemsions, to
continue until they should be otherwise provided.
Among those thus dismissed, we find two names of
great celebrity, John Cheke, afterwards Sir John
Cheke, of Cambridge, tutor to Prince Edward, and
Leland, the very celebrated antiquary.  Cheke hed a
pension of 26l. 18s. 4d. and Leland had some prefer-
ment elsewhere, probably, accordisg to his biogra-
pher, the prebend of East and West Knowle. -
The King then changed the College into a Cathe-
dral Church, translating the Episcopal see from Ose-
ney, where it had been established in 1548. " After the
general dissolution of the monasteries, Heary VLIII.
placed Bishop’s sees in some of the most opulent*, and
appropriated their revenues for the maintenamce of
the Bishop. Oseney Abbey was one of these, which,
without any alteration in the buildings, was, Sept. 1,
1542, couverted into a Cathedral Church, aad the
county of Oxford was made 8 diocese. At the same
time the town was honoured with the title of a city,
and placed in subordination to the Bishop, but with -
a reserve of the privileges, laws, &c. of the Univet-
sity; and the Bishop of Lincoln, in whose diocese

* Chester, Gloucester, Bristol, Oxford, and Peterborough. The two
latter were taken out of the Bishopric of Lincoln, Westminster was
made a Bishopric-at &amthe,htwabohbdtenymm
wards by Edward VI. Five others were intended, but the extwmvar
gance of Henry made him appropriate the estates to his own purposes,
and induced him to rob other sees of their rights, and remouthatof
Oxford fromuPseney to St. Frideswide’s.
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Oxfosd fermeelystood, continued Visitor, as before, of .
Bisskid, :Oriel Brasen Nose, and Balliol Colleges.
Fhe.first Bishop of the new see was Robert King, and
sthddisswiDean,. Dr.. London, Warden of New College.
.Thereiw¢re six-Prebendaries who- occupied the lodg-
Jnge-of : the Abbot: and Monks, but the Bishop's resi-
-desioe - was- in: Gloucester College, now Worcester*.
.On. the present ‘occasion’ of translating the church
ﬁ'omxﬁseney to: St. Frideswide’s, the King ordered the
-fosmier to be pulled, down, and scarce a vestige is now
.remainiog of what was once the most magnificent
.chunch -and -segies of ecclesiastical buildings in Eu-
.Tope, richly furnished beyond any: in the kingdom,
:amd-the object of universal admiration to all who vi-
-#ited it fronr piefy or taste. Its riches were doubtless
-the'oause of its destruction ; for if Henry had inclined
_.to dignify his new - Bishopric with suitable magnifi-
-oeace; what oompartson could be formed between the
spaomws, eomplets, and sumptuous establishment here,
_.and #he-narrow limits of: St. Frideswide’s church, mu-
tilsyed as it had been: by the Cardinal in arder to make
-eooms-for hls buildings!- S
:iThe name of the College now was, ¥ The Cathedral
\‘,‘ €hurch-of Christ in Oxford; of King Henry VIIL.’s
“fousridation,” and: the Society was decldred to con-
sismt & Bishop with his’ Archdescon, removed from
- the- ehurch of ‘Lincoln, and a -Desn and eight Ca-
-nons.  All ‘the estates were consigned to the Dean
:pnd Canou;, on condmon of then' maintaining three

St
BT el

P Qf ﬂns he was a{tnrwards dgggued, and {md no, resndcnce until Bi-
lhop Bancroft, in Chpgleﬁ 14 time, byilt one at Cuddesden, which was
. hnmt dawn during the Rehelhqp B (3 wqa aftprwa.rds gehuilt by Bishop
Fell, aud continues to be the residence of the Bishops ofsthis see.
x -
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public Professors of Divinity, Hebrew, and Greek,
one hundred Students in Theology, Arts, or Philoso-
phy, eight Chaplains, and a numerous choir.

The first Bishop, as already noticed, was Robert
King, D. D. the last Abbot of Oseney, and the first
and last Bishop who resided at Oseney. The first Dean
was Richard Cox, D. D. The Canons were princi-
pally chosen from those who enjoyed that preferment
‘under the former foundations. No change afterwards
took place in the ndimber or constitution of the So-
ciety, except the addition of one Studentship, which
will be accounted for hereafter ; and Queen Elizabeth,
"in 1561, ordered, that there should be an annual elec-
“tion from Westminster school. The other vgcancies
are filled up by the Dean and Chapter®. This body
have their title and institation by royal grant, and the

“College is governed by their acts, revokable at their
pleasure. There is no Visitor but the King, or per-
sons commissioned by him.

The BENEFA€TORS to this College, enumerated by
‘Wood and other writers, are but few, and all of them
appeared long after the last foundation. In 1620, Dr.
Robert Chaloner, Canon of Windsor, gave 20l. yearly
for the maintenance of a divinity lecture, or as an
Exhibition for three poor Scholars, to be chosen from
Amershamn in Buckinghamshire, or Goldsborough or
Knaresborough in Yorkshire. In 1653, Joan Bos-
tocke, of New Windsor, bequeathed certain tenements

" » In Queen Elizabeth’s reign, the family of Venables in Cheshire
giving an estate to this College, on a composition it was agreed, that the
nomination of a Student should be in the heirs of that family, which was
confirmed by an Act of Parliament, 1601, 43 Elizabeth, Willis’s Cathe-
drals, vol, ii. p. 499. .
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in that place, the profits of which were to be given by
the Dean and Canons to four poor Students. Thomas
Whyte, citizen of London, gave 8l. arising from houses
in Shoe-lane, to two Scholars, one of this College, and
one of Trinity College, Cambridge. William Wick-
ham, some time Student here, gave the perpetual ad-
. vowsch of Stanton upon Wye, to be presented in
succession to Students. The date of these two last
benefactions is not recorded. In 1663, William Thurs-
:ton, Esq. of London, left 900l. for the foundation of a
Fellowship, but it was determined by the King that
another Studeatship should be added to the number.
Wood says he left this money to ¢ King’s College in
« Oxford,” which ambiguity gave rise to the respec~
tive claims of Christ Church, Oriel, and Brasen Nose,
which are all in their charters styled “the King's .
“ College;” but the decision was in favour of Christ
..Church. In the same year, Dr. Richard Gardiner, 3
Canon, gave lands in Bourton on the Water, Glou-
cestershire, valued at 14l. yearly, to be bestowed by’
‘the Dean and Chapter on two poor Servitors or Scho-
lars. The celebrated Dr. Busby, Master of West-
‘minster school, who died in 1695, left a stipend for a
catechetical lecture, to be read in one of the parish
churches of Oxford by a member of this Society,
but not, as Wood states, for lectures on the oriental
tongues and mathematics. By Lady Holford, Bishop -
Fell, and other benefactors, various sums have been
bequeathed as Exhibitions, or for the better mainte-
.nance of Students from the Charter-house, and other
places ; but the. ample endowment of the last founda-
tion, and the increasing prosperity of the Society
from the rank and opulence of its members, rendered
X2 '
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‘those helps less necessary in this College than in any
other. :

The principal Livines in the gift of Christ Chureh
are, the RecTorins of Iron Acton and Batsford,
Gloucestershire; East Hampstead, Berkshire; Od-
-combe, Somersetshire; Semley, Wiltshire; Shering,
Essex; Slapton, Buekinghamshire; Stantod upon
.Wye, Herefordshire*; Swanton Nowers and Wood-
-morton, Norfolk; St. Tudy, Cornwall; Wendlebury
-abd . Westwell, Oxfordshire; and Wentnor, Salop:
the VicaraAcEs of Ammey, Aldsworth, Bledington,
.North Nibley, Lower Swell, Thornbury, Turk Dean,
Twining, and Woottorr under Edge, Gloucestershire ;
Ardington, East Garston, and Marcham, Berkshire;
-Badby, Easton Manduit, Flower, Harringworth, Ra-
.vensthorpe, and Staverton, Northamptonshire; Bath
Easton and Midsummer Norton, Somersetshire; Beck-
ley, Black Bourton, Cassington, Chalgrove; Norton
" . Brize, Pirfon, Spilsbury, South Stoke, Wroxtom, Ox-
fordshire; and St. Margaret Binsey, with the cha-
-pel of - St. Mary Magdalen, and St. Fhomas’s, Ox-
ford city ; Bramham, Broughton in Airdale, Carleton,
Featherstone, Kildswich, North Otterington, Long
Preston, Thornton in the Street, Skipton, and Wath
.upon Dearn, Yorkshire; Great Budworth, Kirkham,
~ Frodsham, Rotherston, Lancaster, and Runcorn, Che-
¢ - shire; Charleton, Maiden Bradley, Chippenham, and
East Lavington, Wiltshire; Cople and Flitton, Bed-
- fordshire ; Tolpiddle, Porsetshire ; Hawkhurst, Kent ;
- Kirkham, Lancashire ; Great Torrington, Devonshire: '
the Curacigs of Little Compton and Temple Guy-

« The oply living in the nomination of the scnior Master Students,
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tiag, Gloucestershire; Ashenden, Dorton, Lathbury,
and Stratton Audley, Buckinghamshire ; Badsey, Great
Hampton, North and South Littleton, Offenham, and
Wickhamford, Worcestershire; Bersington, Cavers-
ham, Temple Cowley, and Drayton, Oxfordshire;
Bowden Magna, St. Mary Leicester, and Market
Harborough, Leicestershire; Daventry and St. Mary
Northampton, Northamptoushire; West Moulsey,
- Surry; Tring, Hertfordshire: the CuAPEL of Wig-
gington, Hertford : and the DoyaTive of Hillesden,
Buckinghamshire,

The BUILDINGS of this extensive and noble esta,
blishment have undergone as many revolutions as its
foundation. Wd]sey’s plan, had he lived to complete
it, wonld probably have exceeded that of any College
in Europe. The taste and magnificence displayed in
the other structures, erected or furnished by him,
wou)d have probably been united jn the utmost pro-*
fusion on a College, the prosperity and grandeur of
which lay so near his heart.

The priory of St. Frideswide formed the principal
site of his College. Its history may be traced to the
year 730, when Didanus, a petity Kiog, founded a
nunnery on this spot for twelve virgins of noble
birth, who were to be governed by his daughter Fri~
deswide. She died October 19, 740, and was buried in
this church. For many years the nunnery continued
to flourish, but happening to be used as a sanctuary
for the Danes who-were devoted to destruction by a
general massacre in 1002, the enraged populace burned
the chprch and priory to the ground. King Ethelred,
who wgs gt Oxford at this time, and affected to la-

' X3 )



s10 CHRIST CHURCH.

ment what he had in some measure encouraged, re-
built the house in 1004, and it remained in the pos-
session of the nuns until the year 1111, when Roger,
Bishop of Salisbury, removed them, and. placed in it
a prior and regular canons of the Augustine order.
About the same time, Henry I. enriched them with
lands and tithes, and appointed his chaplain Guimond
40 be their first prior. In this state, but gradually
enriched by succeeding monarchs, it remaived until -
Wolsey procured a bull for its suppression in 1524.

Dugdale and Browne Willis date the foundation of
the present’church from the time of the above-men-
tioned Guimond, or Guymond ; but a recent and able
antiquary* is inclined, from the style of its archi-
tecture, to refer it to a more distant period. Mr.
King remarks, that on the outside of the small tower,
at the end of the north transept, and also atsthe west
end, are-found those unequal ornamented arches and
ﬁ)illars, or rather round pilasters, which appear on so
many Saxon structures®. The great door, by which
the church is entered, as well as that of the Chapter-
honse, is troly Saxon. :

Mr. King appeals also, with eﬁ'ect, to the interior of
this chureh, for a confitmation of his opinion, that the
architecture must be referred to the Saxon style, and
recommends an inspection of the capitals of the pillars
of the nave, which are varied one from another, and
yet are elegant in a high degree; and there can be
little doubt that the same varieties occurred in the

~ King, in his Munimenta, vol..iv. p. 202,

b ¢ These are partly shewn in a uorth view of the church in the Me-
“‘ nasticon, p. 174, where appears also the great pointed window, that
#¢ was inserted between these towers about the time of Heary V1.” Kivc.
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pillars of that part of the church which was removed
by Wolsey. With respect to the changes that have
been introduced in ancient times, the same author re-
marks, that the space between the pillars of the north

transept has Qeen filled up with curious screens of

Norman work of a' much later date; and the old
Saxon window, over the arch on the left hand, has
been transformed into a more modern Norman win-
dow, of the age of Henry VI. But the rest, Mr.

King is of opinion, remains just as it was originally, -

with the little beautiful Saxon arches filling up the
inner space of each of the great arches®,

This church is in the shape of a cross, with a spiral
steeple in the centre one hundred and forty-four feet
high. The length from east to west is one hundred
and fifty-four feet. The cross aisle from. north to
south,one hundred and two feet; the height of the
roof in the western part forty-one and a half, in the
choir thirty-seven and a half, and the breadth of the
nave aud side aisles fifty-four feet, The cloister and
entrance into the south.cross aisle, the nave, where
the University sermons are preached on certain occa-
sions, the north cross aisle, the choir, the chapel for
Latin prayers®, and she two chapels. where the Dean

s King’s Mummenu, ubi supra.

* During the Usurpation the Latin prayers were dmonunued but .

some members of the Society, John Fell, John Dolben, Allestree, and
others, afterwards men of eminence in the Chureh, performed the Com-
mon Prayer in the lodgings of the celebrated Dr. Willis, in Canterbury
tnndungh, and afterwards in his house opposite Merton College cha-
pel; and this practme contipued until the Restoration. Dr. Wil-
lis’s house became afterwards an Independent Meeting! Wpood’s An-
nals: Life.of Dr. Willis in Biog. Brit, In the mansion of the Dolben
family in Northamptonsliire is a fine, painting by Sir Peter Lely,

x4

N



312 CHRIST CHURCH.

and Canons are interred, afford some idea of the an-
cient forms and grandeur of this church, inferior as it
is to other cathedrals.

" The time of building, as already noticed, is doubt-
ful. Willis carries it no further thaw the reign of
Henry I. and refers the Latin chapel to Henry IILs
time, when, in his opinion, the Chapter-house was
built. This noble room, which opens into the east
cloister, preserves every appearance of its” ancient ar-
chltecture, and is decorated with many ancient and
modern portraits of great curiosity and value.

When Wolsey obtained possession of St. Frides-
wnde s, besides the alierations before noticed, he is
said to have built the fine roof over the choir, though
some attribute this to Bishop King. He also-built
the steeple, which formerly was much higher: it now
contalns ‘the bells belonging to Oseney Abbey, except
the great Tom. In this state, suitable for ‘private
prayers and theological exercises, the purposes to
which the Cardinal devoted it, this church remained
“until 1551, when, in obedience to the commissioners
‘appointed to promote the Reformation, the Dean and
‘Chapter agreed that all altars, statues, images, taber-
nacles, missals, ¢ and other remains . of superstition
¢ and idolatry,” should be removed. It is to be feared
_that a decree of this kind would not be carried into
. execution without much uunecessary destruction of
‘the remains of ancient art; but what ‘was actually

:grmmded upon the a,bove c:rcumstance. ln this piece, Dr Fell Dr.
_Dplben, and Dr, Allgstree, are repn:esented in their canomcal bablts, as
joining io the Liturgy of the Church. A mpy of thls Plcture has lately
been presented, by Sir Wiljiam Dolben 0 the Soclcly, and is placed ln
their fine collection of portraits in ;he Hall,~ )
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done, it is useless now to conjecture, The next alter~
ations took place in 1630, when the old stalls were
removed, the present erected, and the choir paved
with black and white marble, an operation which has
seldom been performed without injury to those ob-
jects which are dear to the antiquary. On this occa~
sion Wood informs us, and with some indignation,
that many of the ancient monuments were removed in
a most careless and indelicate manner, and the stones
employ®d in conimon pavements. Some, however,
were only removed ato the aisles, but with the loss of
their brasses and inscriptions. About the same time
the greater part of the old painted windows, contain-
ing - thit ‘history -of St. Frideswide, &c. which were
considetably decayed, were removed, and new win+
dows placed in their room, painted by Abraham Van
Linge, probably the son of Bernard Van Linge, whose
works have been partly noticed, and will occur ‘here,
after. - o : BRIt
*  Of these new windows, some were destroyed dunng
the’ Usul‘patlon, when- Henry Wilkinson was Visitor,
‘who in pérson assisted in the  destruction ; but others
were' taker’ down ‘and' preserved, particularly those by
'Van Linge, one containing the stery of Jonah, dated
1631, i the south -aisle; another, the destruction of
Sodom and Gomorrah, 1634 ; and a third in the east
wmdow of the divinity chapel,: 1640, the subject,
‘Christ disputing with the Doctors. The fine east win-
‘dow, -containing: the Nimvny, from- a design of.:Sir
‘James Thornhdl was exécuted by William -Price in
“1696; at thie expence of 200l:-which was. defrayed by
‘Dr. Peter- Bu-ch 'Prebendary- ‘of - Westmmster, and
“formerly” Chaplain: *here. “Thegé ' ié 'yet «: very fine
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window in the narth aisle to be noticed, the subject,
St. Peter conducted out of prison by the Angel, dated
1700, and painted by Isaac Oliver, nephew of the twa
famous Olivers, Isaac and Peter, when he was eighty-
four years old. It was also. his. benefaction. The
other windows contain many arms, crests, and inscrip-
tions, commemorating the founders and ancient mem-
bers of this Saciety; and many remains of the old
painted glass have been recovered, and disposed in
complete windows, or compartments, with much taste.
Some of these were collected, and given by Mr. Al-
derman Fletcher. ‘The window in which is the fine
portrait of Bishop King, lately gngraved, was erected
soon after his death, and taken down in 1651,-to save
it from republican fury. At the Restoration it was
replaced, with other windows in the same aisle.

. The most ancient monuments now remaining in this
church are those of St. Frideswide, 740 :—one of the
Priors, supposed to be Prior Philip, who died about
1190, or Guimond, the first Prior, who died 1149 :—a
man in armour, reported, as Willis observes, to be Sir
Henry Bathe, Justiciary of England in 1252 ; but this
opinion is contested in a note on the appendix to Mr.
Gutch’s edition of Wood’s History, because the figure
bere is clothed in armour:—Lady Elizabeth Monta-
eute, 1353, who gave the mepdow on which the walks
have been formed, and contributed to build the clois-
-ters, on which her arms are yet to be seen :—and James
Souch, or Zouch, who died in 1503, a benefactor to
the convent. Who he was, has not been discovered ;

the device of an inkhorn and pencase is repeated on
the sides and front.of his tomb, There are. now po
imicriptions belonging to any-of theae The old ma-
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auments, that are more "perfect, belong to Bishop
King; Prebendary Curthorp, 1557, Henry Dowe, B. A,
1578, Thamas More, A. M. 1584, Stephen Lance, A. M.
1587, and John Bishop, 1588. Since the commence-
ment of the seventeenth ‘century, the monuments of
this church form anm obituary of many of the most
distingnished members of the Society.

With respect to the monument of'St. Fndeswxde,
it yet remaios to be noticed, that its authenticity and
situation are points about which antiquaries are not
agreed. he died in 740, Oct. 19, and this day used
to be commemorated by a fair kept before the gates
of the College. Her shrine, we are told, was first
placed in a ehapel on the south side; but being in-
jured, or perhaps almost destroved, when the priory
was burnt in 1002, it was overlooked until 1180, when
it was removed to its present position, became the
resort of the superstitious, and was renowned for
the miracles it wrought. In 1289 a new shrine was
constructed, in which her bones were deposited, and
enriched by gifts and offerings, which King Henry
VIII. seized, and the shrine was. destroyed, ¢ so that,”
according to Wood, “ the bones left, behind were only
¢ feigned,” and remained there until the beginning of
the reign of Queen Elizabeth, when a very singular
circumstance brought them again into notice.

The celebrated Peter Martyr, the reformer, was in-
vited-to England, in 1547, by the Protector Somerset
and Archbishop Cranmer; in 1548 he was made Re-
gius Professor of Divinity, and in 1550 Canon of
Christ Church®. He went abroad on the accession of

s He first mided in the lodgings on.the uoﬁh side of the quadrangle,
_mow Dr. Burton’s; hok keing veey mueh disturbed there during the unset-
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Mary, and died at Zurich in 1562; but his wife Ka-
therine died at Oxford in 1551, and was interred near
St. Frideswide’s monument. In the reign of Queen
Mary, after a mock trial for heresy, instituted by Car-
dinal Pole, her body was ordered to be taken up and
buried in a dunghill, where it lay until the year 1561,
when Archbishop Parker, Grindal, Bishop of London,
&c. caused it to be restored with great ceremony. At
this time the bones of St. Frideswide were kept in two
-silk bags, and on solemn days laid upon the altar to
receive the reverence of the people; but mow they
.were ordered to be mixed and interred in the same
grave with those of Martyr’s wife, -to prevent the
power of distingunishing them, should the reign of -su-"
.perstition return. But whether these bones were de-
‘posited on the spot where Martyr's wife was first
buried, which must have then been known, or under
what is.now shewn as the monument of St. Frideswide,
. seems.doubtful. - - : ~
-~ As the religious furaiture . and ornaments of this
charch were suited to the prejudices and piety of
‘Wolsey’s days, and. the building, while it bade fair to
last for centuries; .was in ‘every respect fitted to be-
‘come .the appendage of a College, of which all the
parts were to excel.in.magnificence, we can only ac-
count for Wolsey’s alterations, by supposing that he
thought it too small, and not corresponding with the
grandeur of his. conceptions. Accordingly we. find
that he intended. and had actually begun a church or

a

-ﬂed state of tehgwn, in ang Edward’s time, be removed to the Canon's
lodgings in the cloister, where he built in the garden a study, that re-
. majned uptil 1684, when Dr. Aldrich, who inhabited these lodglngs,
Cmndtbeuwnduﬂ,umdittobepﬁloddnwn
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chapel upon a large scale on the north side of his
quadrangle, the foundation-stones of which may yet
be traced in the gardens behind that side; and some
progress was made, when his disgrace terminated all
his undertakings, and prevented his being handed
down to posterity as the founder and finisher of the
first College in Europe.

The foundation of Cardinal Co]lege was begun on
the ground that had been cleared, by pulling down
the west end of St. Frideswide’s church to the extent
.of fifty feet, the whole west side of the cloister, and
‘the rooms over and under it. At the same time, Lon-
don College was removed, a place for the study of ci-
vil law, which is described as abutting on Civil School
Jane on the north side, St. Frideswide’s lane on the
-south, and upon the premises of the new College on
the east and west. It was once the synagogue of
the Jews, and upon their expulsion in 1290, was con-

- verted into a Hall for studeuts, by William Burnell,
Provost and Dean of Wells; and from him. it became
the property of Balliol College, and went by the name
of Burnell’s Inn, or. Balliol Hall. In the time of
Henry IV. it obtained the name of London College,
from Richard Clifford, bishop of London, who was
educated here,.and was a benefactor to the house.

The foundation took place March 20, 1525%, with

- great pomp, before the members of the University
and a vast concourse of people. The Cardinal, after a
suitable speech, performed the ceremony of laying the
stone, .on which his various titles and the date were

* Wood says-July 15, but the inscription on the stone is * 20 die
¢ Martii anno Domini 1525.”
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inscribed. The company afterwards went to St. Frides-
wide’s church, where a Latin sermon was preached by -
Dr. John Longland, Bishop of Lincoln, on the text,
Supientia edificavit sibi domum*®. A sumptuous enter-
tainment closed the ceremonies of this important day,
after which the builders proceeded with their work.
The Cardinal appointed Robert Wilson and Rowland
Messinger, Masters of Arts, to be comptrollers of the
building ; Mr. Nicholas Townley to be master of the
works; John Smith, auditor; Davy Griffith, over-
seer; and Thomas Cooper and Philip Lenthall, clerks
of the works. Of these men little is now known; but
their names are worth retaining, as we so seldom have
an opportunity of noticing the architects employed in
our ancient structures. The stone was brought from
quarries in the neighbourhoed of Oxford, and four
lime-kilns were erected for the use of the building,
which for some time gave employment to hundreds of
workmen, including artists in painting and glass, who
were encouraged by liberal wages, regularly paid at
stated and short periods. The well-known taste and .
talents of the Cardinal no doubt guided their opera-
tions, and some notion may be formed of the magui-
ficence of his designs from the expences of only one
year, which amounted to 7835l. 7s..2d. It was not,
therefore, without reason, that the interruption given
to this vast undertaking was lamented as a public ca-
lamity. :

The Kitchen was the first part of the buildings that
was completed, and retains still its original appear-
ance. Part of the town-wall was then removed to

"
* Prov.ix. 1.
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-make room for the Hall and south side of the great
quadrangle. The parish-church of St. Michael*, which
-stopd on the south-west corner of the quadrangle, and
-soMe tenements on the west side, were also pulled
‘down; and accommodations being now provided, the
Cardinal placed in lodgings, Dean Hygden and eigh-
teen Canons, and afterwards, as the buildings pro-
-ceeded, enlarged the Society upon the scale of mem-
bers already mentioned. After the building had been
:continued for some years, and a part of his intended
-church on the north side of the quadrangle appeared
above ground, the whole was interrupted by the King’s
-orders; and as the Cardinal had neglected to procure
.a legal endowment to his College, the estates dedi-
-cated to the completion of it became, as part of his
personal property, the property of the King, and much
-of them that of his courtiers.
At this unfortunate period, the Kitchen, Hall, and
the east, south, and the greater part of the west side
-of the quadrangle, were nearly completed. It is sup-
‘posed that the whole quadrangle was to have had a
cloister in the inside, the lines of which are still to be
‘seen before the walls ; but it does not appear that any
‘progress was made in that design, and the buildings re-
mained in the same state for a century. In 1638, the
‘north side was intended to have been finished uniformly
:with the others, under the care of Dr. Samuel Fell,
‘Dean; but the civil war impeded the work until the year
1665; when the whole quadrangle was completed in'the
interior, as it now stands, by his son Dr. Jobn Fell.
On this occasion the parapet was surrounded with rails,

* This parish was -thep united tn St. Aldate’s. -
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-and globes of stone, at regular distances; but the lat-
:ter have been removed. In Neale’s small view, there
-appears to have been an open battlement, with pin-
.nacles. This quadrangle is almost a square, the pro-
-portions being two hundred and sixty-four feet, by two
-hundred and sixty-one. The expence was defrayed by
-the Dean and Canons; who. subscribed the sum of
-21671. and other benefactors, who raised nearly 5000l.
;Among these we find the eminent names of Dr. Fell,
.Dr. Edward Pocock, Dr. Richard Allestree, Dr. John
‘Dolben, Dr. Gilbert Sheldon, Dr. Brian Duppa, Dr.
.George Morley, (who gave in all 22001.) Dr. Robert
-Sanderson, Dr. Thomas Willis, &c. When the qua-
..drangle was completed, the ground was dug deeper,"
(the walks laid, out, and the fountain placed in the
.centre, at the expence of Dr. Richard Gardiner, one
of the Canons. The statue of Mercury was the sub-
.sequent gift of Dr. John Radcliffe. On'this spot for-
-merly stood a cross, dedicated to. St. Frideswide, and
-a pulpit, from which Wickliffe first delivered those
.doctrines which, after many interruptions, became the
-religion of the nation.

.Dr. John Fell, already mentloned and always to be
-mentioned as one of ‘the most eminent benefactors to
-this’ College, superintended the new buildings, -and
-completed the Chaplains’ quadrangle, and the build-
.ings joining. to the. east side, .on the site of which
‘some houses had been erected by Philip King; Audi-
:tor of the €ollege, in 1638, and destroyed by an ac-
cidental fire in .166). The Chaplains’ quadrangle,
with the passage under it, leading from the cloister
into the fields, was completed in 1672, and the adjoin-
ing houses in 1678. . All.these stand on part of the
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original priory, and on that part, it is supposed, which
wag the hall or refectory. The new Anatomical The-
atre is a more recent erection, begun in 1776, and
finished partly with the benefaction of John Freind,
M. D. Student, Reader in Chemistry in this Univer-
sity, F. R. S. and Physician to Queen Caroline, who
died in 1728, and left 10001 towards promoting the
stydy of anatomy; and partly with the legacy of
20,0001, left by Dr. Matthew Lee, Physician to
George IL. for endowing the lectureship with a-very
liberal salary, and, amongst other purposes, for exhi-
bitions to the students elected from Westminster, &c.
Dr. Lee died Sept. 26, 1755, and was buried at Lin-
ford in Buckinghamshire. The late Dr. John Parsons
was the first lecturer on this foundation..

The progress of completing the west side * of the
great quadrangle was more slow. The tower over the
gate had been begun by Wolsey, but remained un-
fipished upntil 1681, when Sir Christopher Wren com-
pleted it upon a plan of his own, and jn a style
which has not met with the entire approbation
either of architects or antiquaries; yet Lord Orford,
who is seldom partial to this University, thinks that
Wren has caught the graces of the true Gothic taste,

¢ The grand front to the street appears in Aggas’s map, but without
the tower at cach end. A late Oxford antiquary regrets that this front,
perhaps the noblest in the kingdom of the Gothic style, loses much of
its effect, on account of the declivity of the ground on which it stands;
and the narrowness of the approach. He thinks it, bowever, probable,
that a terrace-walk was intended, by way of raising the ground to a le-
vel, the whole length of the College ; for the rough foundatiop-'stones of
the hospital on the opposite side, left unfinished by Wolsey, still remain
bare, and the smooth stones are terminated by an horizontal right line,
to which height the ground would have been elevated.

Y
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and specifies a niche between two compartments of a
-window, which he pronounces a master-piece*. The
‘tower must be allowed to be a stately ornament to
‘the College, and a considerable accession to the group
of spires and towers, by which, in any view of it, Ox-
‘ford is so eminently distinguished. This undertaking
‘was accomplished by the liberality of many benefac-
‘tors, whose arms are engraven on the roof of the
gate-house. The great bell, Tom, in the campanile
of this tower, belonged formerly to the high tower of
‘Oseney Abbey, ard was recast m 1680, when Dr. Fell,
Bishop of Oxford, was Dean. Its weight is nearly
‘17,000 pounds, more than double the weight of the
famed great bell of St. Paul’s cathedral. Thomas
Spark, M. A. in the Musz Anglican®, and Bishop
'Corbett, in his Poems, have honoured this bell with
“copies of verses. The bells of Oseney were in ancient
days much celebrated by conmoisseurs in that species
of music. The old inscription on Tom was, ¢ In
 Thome laude resono Bim Bom sine fraude.” The
present inscription is, ¢ Magnus Thomas clusius Ozoni-
£ ensis.” At the tolling of this bell at nine every even-
ing, all scholars are obliged by the University statutes
to repair to their respeetive Colleges, the gates of
which are to be shut. This gate is ornamented with
a statue of Queen Anne, placed here by Mr. Secre-
tary Harley, and by the royal arms of Henry VIII.
Charles II. "Wolsey, the see of Oxford, &c. The
other statues in the quadrangle are, one of Bishop
Fell, over the pa$sage in the north-east corner, erected
by Dr. John Hammoad ; and one of Wolsey, over the

[y

* Lord Orford’s Works, 4to, vol. v, p. 278.















CHRIST CHURCH. 323

enirance to the Hall, executed by Francis Bird, and
placed there in 1719, by Dr. Jonathan Trelawney,
Bishop of Winchester. The buildings of this qua-
drangle are inhabited on the east, north, and south
sides by the Dean and Canons, and on the west by some
of the other members of the College.
- ‘The HALL, which was built by Wolsey, is a noble
specimen of his magnificent taste. Its fine elevation,
spacious interior, one hundred and fifteen feet by
forty, and fifty in height, its lofty and highly orna-
mented roof, the beautiful Gothic window at the upper
end of the south side, and the stately approach, give
it the superiority over every other refectory in Eng-
land. The porch and entrance, however, were built*
about the year 1630, by an unknown architect, and
bave very recently- been altered with much taste by
Mr. Wyat. The vaulted roof, and beautiful single
pillar- which supports it, now laid open to the base,
produce a very striking effect. The Hall itself has
vndergone various necessary repairs since it came
from the hands of Wolsey, particularly in 1720, when
the roof was considerably damaged by an accidental
fire, on which occasion George I. gave 1000l. towards
the repairs, and Dr. Hammond, one of the Canons,
contributed with great liberality ; and again in 1750,
when the whole was repaired under the care of Dr.
David Gregory, Canon, and afterwards Dean of the
College. The fine collection of portraits, of which a
list may be seen in the common Oxford Guides, is an
appropriate ornament to this Hall, which can never be
contemplated without veneration.

As Christ Church has been, since its foundation, the
residence of our Monarchs on their visits to the Uni-

Y 2
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versity, this Hall has consequently been the favourite
scene of their most splendid festivities. The first
royal visit, after Walsey’s death, was when Henry
VIIL. came to Oxford, in 1533; but no account has
been preserved of it. The next occurs in 1566, when
Queen Elizabeth was received here in great pomp.
Of this an ample relation is given in her Progresses®.
On her arrival, she was welcomed at the door of this
Hall in a speech delivered by Thomas Kingsmill, then
Public Orator, and afterwards Hebrew Professor.
This was succeeded, next day, by a Latin play, called
Marcus Geminus, performed here upon a scaffold, “set
‘“about with stately lights of wax yariously wrought.”
An Eoglish play of Palemon and Areite, written by
Richard Edwards, formerly of Corpus Christi Col-
lege, but afterwards Student of Christ Church, was
also acted on this occasion, but attended by a fatal
-accident, part of the stage happening to fall, by which
three persons were killed. A second part of this play
appears to have greatly delighted her Majesty ; but the
Latin tragedy of Progne, the prodaction of Dr. Calf-
hill, Rector of Bocking, and Archdeacon of Colches-
ter, was less favourably received. All her Majesty’s
public entertainments were given in this Hall; but her
private levees were held in the Dean’s lodgings, which
she occupied during her residence.

At the distance of twenty-six years, she again vi-
sited the University, and was entertained here, and in
other Colleges, with disputations, plays, &c. She con-
cluded this visit, as usual, with a Latin speech of com-
pliment and advice®.

. By John Nichols, F. S. A. 3 vols. 4to.
¥ Wood’s Annals, and Peck’s Memoirs of Cromwell, App. No.4..
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“ Tn 1605, her successor, James I., accompanied by
the Queen and Prince of Wales, was received at Christ
Church in due form, amidst the acclamations of the
students of the University, who at this time are said
to have amounted to two thousand two hundred and
fifty-four. The King took up his residence in the
Deanery, the Prince in Magdalen College, and the
Queen in Merton. The royal party were entertained
in this Hall with the Latin comedy of Vertumnus,
written by Dr. Matthew Gwinne of St. John’s Col-
lege, an eminent physician, which was performed by
students. The various festivities on this occasion
were published by Sir Isaac Wake of Merton, Public
Orator, in a volume entitled, Rex Platonicus. Among
other little circumstances, which would not be unin-
teresting in a history of manners, we are told, that
the scholars applauded the King by clapping their
hands and Aumming. The latter somewhat surprised
his Majesty ; but on its being explained to signify ap-
plause, he professed himself satisfied. In some-pub-
lic assemblies of modern times it admits of a differe
ent interpretation.

As the Oxford historian, in hls Annals, claims, what

the historians of the stage are inclined to allow, that

thé invention of moveable scenes belongs to the scho-
lars of Christ Church, it may be necessary to observe,
that it was on this occasion, and not, as Wood says,
in 1636, that they were first introduced. In Leland’s
Collectanea we are informed, that, ¢ by the help of
“ painted clothes, the stage did vary three times in the
“ acting of one tragedy;” in other words, there were
three scenes employed. These were the contrivance of
Inigo Jones; but the writer thinks they were better
Y3 :
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nianaged before this in a play at Cambridge:. Yet
I know not whether the invention may not be carried
back to the year 1583. When the celebrated Prince
Alasco visited Oxford at that time, the tragedy of
Dido was acted in this Hall, decorated with scenes
illustrative of the play. Wood says, “The tempest,
“ wherein it rained small comfits, rose-water, and
“ snew artificial snow, was very strange to the be-
‘ holders.”

In 1614, King James’s son-in-law, afterwards King
of Bohemia, paid a short visit to Oxford, -and was
sumptuously entertained here. He was matriculated
at the same time; as was Charles . in 1616. Plays
continued to be a very frequent mode of regaling il-
lustrious visitors. In 1617, Barton Holyday's comedy
of Texreyapua, or the Marriage of the Arts, was per-
formed here by the students, for their own amuse-
ment ; and in 1621, when the court of King James
happened to be at Woodstock, they acted it there;
but his Majesty relished it so little, as to offer several
times to withdraw, and was prevented by some of his
courtiers, who represented that this would be a cruel
disappointment. It produced, however, a well-known
epigram®.

When Charles 1. came to the throne, in 1625, he
called a Parliament, which, owing to the plague raging
in London, was ordered to be held at Oxford, and the
rooms of Christ Church were inhabited by the nobi-
. ® Malone’s Hist. of the Stage, p. 190. Edit. 1793, of Shakspeare,
vol. ii.

b ¢t At Christ Church Marriage done before the King,

¢¢ Lest that those mates should want an offering,

¢ The King himself did offer—what, I pray ?
¢¢ He offered twice or thrice to go away,”
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lity and members of the Privy Council. The plague
again rendering London unsafe, in 1636, the King,
Queen, the Elector Palatine, and his brother, Prince
Rupert, were entertained in this College. A comedy
was performed on this occasion in the Hall, enti-
tled, “ The Passions calmed, or the Settling of the
“ Floating Island,” written by Strode, the Public
Orator. Moveable scenery was again introduced,
and repeated with suitable variations when they per-
formed the comedy of the Royal Slave, written by
William Cartwright, a poet of greater celebrity in his
day, than his printed works will now justify. After
the departure of the court, the dresses and scenery of
these two plays were sent to Hampton Court, at the
express desire of the Queen, but with a wish, sug-
gested by the Chancellor, Laud, that they might not
come into the hands of the common players, which was
accordingly promised.

The next visit of this unfortunate Monarch accom-
panied by his sons Charles and James, and the Princes
Rupert and Maurice, took place in 1642, after the bat-
tle of Edge-hill. They occupied the deanery in Christ
Church, as formerly ; but this was no time for festivi-
ties. In July of the following year, the King and
Queen visited Oxford for the last time together, the
King residing at Christ Church, and the Queen at
Merton, to which, on this occasion, a back-way was
made through one of the Canon’s gardens, a garden
belonging to Corpus, and Merton College grove. In
January following, a Parliament was held in the Hall,
opened by his MdJesty with a speech, The Lords after-
wards held their meetings in the Upper Schools, and -
the Commouns theirs in the Convocation House. The

Y 4
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other procecdings, during his.Majesty’s stay here, be-
long to thie melancholy history. of the times.

In 1648, we find the Parliamentary visitors asseni-
bled in this Hall, to eject such members as refused. td
submit to their authority. It niay. beé,here noticed;
that when the Ordinance, as it was called, of the Re-
publican parliament, passed for.the sale of Dean and

Chapter lands, Christ Church was included; but the

Dean and Chapter appointed by the visitors, feeling
their own interests more nearly ooncerned in this pub-
lic sacrifice than they expected; and wishing to re-
main entire as a collegiate, if not an ecclesiastical
body, obtained an exception in favour of the property
of Christ Church ; a circumstance rather fortunate for
the College.. The property, indeed, must have been
returned -at the Restoration,.but it was perhaps better
preserved by keeping up-the succession of pmpnetors
_ in this way.

- In the Common.Roon, under thls Hail are por-
traits of Henry VIII. and of Drs. Busby, Freind, Ni-
choll; and ‘Archbishop Markham, Masters of West.
minster.school, Dean Aldrich, and Dr. Frewen ; and a
bust of Dr. Busby, by Rysbrach.

The LisraRryY of this College would have ptobably
exceeded that of any contemporary establishment,
had Wolsey been able to complete his extensive de-
sign, which was not only to have supplied it with
such books as had appeared since the invention of
printing, but with copies of the most valuable manu-
scripts in the Vatican, It does not appear, however,
that any progress was made in this liberal undettaking,
when the.second foundation took place. Such books
as the. Society possessed at that time, atid for some
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timeé after,.were kept in an ancient chapel belonging
to the priory, dedicated to St. Lucia, which stood on
part.of the south side of the Chaplains’ quadrangle,
end, after the erection of the present Library, was
converted into chambers, with two lecture rooms on
the ground-floor, chiefly by part of the legacy, before
mentioned, of Dr. Matthew Lee.

" The first benefactor to this Library, about the be-
ginning of the seventeenth century, was Otho Nichol-
son, one of the Examiners of Chancery, who gave
800l for books and repairs. Smaller sums, to a con-
siderable amount, were then contributed by other
members of the Society ; and Dr. White, the founder
of the moral philosophy lecture in this University,
bequeathed, in 1621, 6l. yearly, as a perpetual fund.
Mr. Nicholson’s benefaction was commemorated in an
inscription on black marble on the south wall, and in
another in the north cloister, at the entrance into the
cathedral; to which situation it was removed from a
porch which stood before the door of the old Library,
at the west end of it, and was tgken down when the
room was converted into chambers.

. These benefactors were succeeded by Robert Bur-
ton, B. D. of Brasen Nose, Vicar of St. Thomas’s, Oxs+
ford, and Rector of Segrave in Leicestershire, the well«
known author of the Anatomy of Melancholy, who
left part of his books, and 5l. yearly; and by John
Morris, D. D. Canon, and Regius Professor of He-
brew, who left 51. for a speech to be delivered an-
nually by a Master of Arts of this College, in comme-
moration of Sir Thomas Bodley, on the eighth of No-
vember, being the day on which his Library was first
opened, and, ever since, the day npon which the an-
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nual visitation of it is made. Bishop Fell, Dean
Aldrich, Dr. Mead, Dean Atterbury, and Dr. Strat-
ford, Canon, also contributed books: but the most
extensive and valuable collections were left by Charles
Boyle, Earl of Orrery, whose library amounted to ten
thousand volumes, and by Dr. William Wake, Arch-
bishop of Canterbury, who gave his ample library of
printed books and manuscripts, a large collection of
coins and medals, and 1000l. towards building a new
library. The whole of this benefaction was estimated
at 10,0001. } -

These important additions rendering a new Library
absolutely necessary, Peckwater court, of which some
account must now be given, was chosea for the site.
The name was that of the founder or proprietor of - an
inn or hostle, which stood on the south-west corner of
the present quadrangle. This Ralph, the son of Ri-
chard Peckwater, or Peckwether, gave it to St. Frides-

‘wide’s priory about the year 1246; and about the mid-
dle of the reign of Heunry VILL. another inn, called
Vine Hall, which stood on the north-side, was added to
it; and other buildings, which formed a quadrangle,
were erected from 1629 to 1638. The ground is classical.
It was at one time a celebrated grammar-school, where
John Leland, senior*, taught in the reigns of Henry
V. and VL uatil his death in 1428. The two inns were
afterwards known by the name of Vine Hall, alias
Peckwater’s Inn, and by this name were given by
Henry VIII. to Christ Church in 1547. Two other
Halls of less note, Brid Hall and Maiden Hall, occu-

* So called to distinguish him from the antiquary, who gives an ae-
count of him in his Comment. de Script. Brit. p. 445. of Hall's very in-
accurate edition. : :
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pied some part of the site of the old quadrangle, which
remained until 1705, when the east, west, and north
sides were rebuilt after a plan given by Dean Aldrich*;
and the south, which consists of the new Library, was
begun to be built in 1716, from a design furnished by
Dr. Clarke.

The expences of this splendid undertaking were de-
frayed by the Dean.and Canons, many of the Students
and Commoners, and the Nobility, Gentry, and Clergy
educated here. The first and principal contributor was
Anthony Radcliffe, Canon, who bequeathed 35000l.* a
sum so considerable, as to be commemorated in an in-
scription under the cornice of the north side, which
was built with his money:

ATRIT PECKWATERIENSIS QUOD SPECTAS LATUS
EXTRUXIT ANTONIUS RADCLIFFE, S. T. P. HUJUSCE
EDIS PRIMO ALUMNUS, DEINDE CANONICUS.

The foundation-stone was laid Jan. 26, 1705, by
James Cecil, Earl of Salisbury, then a member of this
house.

The present Library, which occupies the east side of
this square, was begun in the year 1716, from a design
furnished by Dr. Clarke; but the process of building .
was so slow, that it was not covered in until 1738, nor
completed as we now find it until 1761. In the origi-
nal design it was to be erected on an open piazza, with

_* Whose disﬁnéuished taste as a classical scholar, and erudition as a
man of science, in the various branches of science which he cultivated,
.cannot want any panegyric in this book. llis Elements on Civil Archi-
tecture were published in 1790, in an elegant edition, and with a very
correct translation, by the Rev. Ph. Smyth, LL. B. of New College. Dr.
Aldrich’s talents were afterwards admirably displayed in the erection of
All Saints church, and, as is supposed, Trinity College chapel,

b On the foundation-stone we bave only bis mille.
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seven arches, and with an ascent of three steps along
the whole bailding; but this was afterwards inclosed,
and formed into a suite of rooms, which are furnished
partly with books, and partly with a collection of paint-~
ings, left to Christ Church in 1765, by Brigadier Ge.
neral John Guise. Other paintings and busts have
since contributed to the decoration of this splendid
Library®, which, for the amplitude of its collection of
books, manuscripts, prints, and coins, is esteemed one
of the most complete in the kingdom. The numisma-
tical series was greatly enriched in 1765 by.the collece
tion of British and English coins belonging te Dr:
Philip Barton, Canon, and the oriental coins of Dr.
Richard Brown, Canon, and Regms Professor of Hes
brew, givean in 1780.

The recesses in the upper room are occupxed tbe
one by a bast in bronze of Marcus Modius®, a physi-
tian, lately presented to the Society by Lord Frederic
Campbell; and the other, by a female figure in mar-
ble, attended by a smaller figure of a boy, with one
hand upon her shoulder, brought from abroad, and
given to the Society by the late Arthar Kennet Mac-
kenzie, A. M. a Student of this house. Below are the
busts of George I. and II. lately brought hither. from
the Hall, upon the putting up of new chimuey-pieces

there; Dr. Richard Trever, Bishop of Durham; Ge- =~

neral Guise, Dr. Richard Frewen, Dr. Freind, with

* The dimensions of this Library are 141 feet by 80, and 37 in height,
the efftct of which is apparently lessened by the surrounding gallery.
The decorations of the bookcases are executed with elegant and appro-
priate taste.

- ¥ Little seems to be known of Marcus Modius ; but the curious may
find notices relative to the bust, with engravings of it, in Montfaucon
and Count Caylus.
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those of Archbishop Boulter and Robinson. In 8
niche on the staircase is a statue of the great Mr,
Locke, who was educated in this house.

Counnected with the completion of Peckwater quaer
drangle is that of Canterbury square, or court, the
last rémaining part of this College which requires to
be noticed, and now the principal entrance. On this
site formerly stood Canterbury Hall, founded and en-
dowed by Simon Islip, Archbishop of Canterbury, in
1861, as a place for the study of the canon and civil
law. The number of scholars is variously represented.
It is said, that, by Islip’s foundation, they were to
consist of a Warden and eleven Scholars; but that
his successor in the Archbishopric, Langham, ap-
pointed, that the Warden and three of the Scholars
should be monks of Canterbury, and the other eight
secular priests. The licence, however, to-Islip men-
tions only “ a certain number” of Scholars, religious
and secular, and they were styled in other instruments
Clericos and Clericos Scholares. For their maintenance

_the Pounder settled on them the rectory of Pagham
in Sussexy and the manor of Woodford in Northamp-
toushire. The first Warden was Henry de Wodehall,
a monk of Christ Church Canterbury, who creating
some discord in the Society, the Archbishop ejected
him, and, on-December. 14, 1365, appointed the celes
brated Wickliffe to be Warden ; but he was likewise
dismissed, on Islip’s death, by Arohbishop' Langham,
who had a more illiberal attachment to monks than
his predecessor. This occasioned an appeal to the
Pope, and other proceedings, which finally termmated
in a sentence, 1370, that only the mpunks of C_m_t@r—
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bury should remain in Canterbury Hall, and that the
seculars should be expelled. On this ‘Wodehalli was
restored. About the end of the same centuryy Court-
ney, Archbishop of Canterbury,-added :five-§cholars,
three to be maintained by the Archbishops of €anter-
bury, and two by the Prior and Chapter of Canter-
bury, and all to be nominated by the Warden.>From
this time it continued as a place of study, pringipally
for the monks of Canterbury, until Henry .MHT.
granted it to this College. But it must not he:fot-
gotten, that, in 1497, the afterwards illustriots .Sir
Thomas More was sent to this Hall, where he- siudled
under Linacre and Grocyn. . TS

- Of the ancient form of the bmldmgs of Canterbury
Hall, little can now be discovered. - In Aggas's map
there is the appearance of a chapel®, or oratoryy asd
lodgings; and .when it was added to Christ Chwrch,
the whole was fitted up for the use of the Society.
During the Deanship of Bishop Duppa, the several
parts, with additions, were formed into a quadrangle,
and remained in that state until the year 1773. A plan
was then farnished by Mr. Wyat for rebuilding the
whole as we now find it, and the .north andi east
sides were completed in 1775, chiefly at the expence
of Richard Robinson, D. D. Baron Rokeby:in Ire-
land, the late Lord Primate®. By his liberality:also
the south side was rebuilt in 1783; but the greatest
ornament to this court- is the . magmﬁcent gateway

. Probably the place which Dean Massey, who turned Ropxan Ctthtr
lic to please Jaines IL., fitted up as a Popish chapel. )

b His Grace died in 1794, and by his munificent works, both hebe 3
in his dioem, evinced-much of the spirit of the ancient founders.
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‘built by Mr. Wyat in 1778, an effort of modern skill
in that species of architecture, which for simplicity,
joined to majestic firmness, has scarcely an equal.

The present DEAN is the thirty-second from the
third foundation. Previously to ‘that we find only
two, John Hygden, D. D. who was placed there by
Wolsey, and replaced, on the second foundation, by
Henry VIIL.; and John Oliver, who succeeded him.
Hygden, as mentioned in our account of Magdalen
College, resigned the office of President, to accept
the Deanery of Christ Church. He died soon after
the second foundation, in 1532, and was buried in
Magdalen College Chapel. His successor, Dr. Oliver,
was' an eminent Civilian, and a Master in Chancery;
and, after being removed from his office here in 1545,
" practised in Doctors Commons, where he died in 1551,
or, according to Wood, in 1552.

* The regular succession of Deans, on the last founda-
tion, then commenced with Richard Cox, D.D. who
had been Dean of Oseney. The subsequent list in-
cludes many names of high character in their day,
men eminent for learning and public spirit, and most
of them distinguished benefactors to their College.
Among these may be enumerated, John Piers and
Toby Matthew, afterwards Archbishops of York ;
Richard Corbet, Bishop of Norwich; Brian Duppa,
Bishop of Winchester; Reynolds, Bishop of Nor-
wich; John Fell, Bishop of Oxford; Dr. Aldrich;
- Atterbury, Bishop of Rochester; Smallridge, Boulter,
and Conybeare, Bishops of Bristol; Dr. David Gre-
goty; William Markham, the late Archbishop of
York; aqd Dr. Cyril Jackson, who, after presiding
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here for twenty-six years, mith almost nnexampkd
708 and, abilisy,-resigaed the office iR, 1809y . ( ypt |

Althgngh .the Deanery, of Chyist, Church Jypm_
rally - begn . followed by, promotigq, to. she. Epignogal
bench, it hag begn ip some ipstances sliomsd, togbe
held in commendam, Dr. Fell held. it with: thg J-
shopric of Qxford, Dr. Markham with ,that, of Ches-
ter; apd. Dzs. Smallridge, Boultey, Bradshaw, Cmpr
beare, and Bagot, with the see of Bristol, ., &

During the Usnrpation, the pffice of Dean was.fst
ﬁlled by Dr. Reynolds, who afterwards gonfarmed, and
was made Bishop of Norwich ; but chiefly by D;,thn
Owen, one of the most learned of the ;ndgpqnﬁgggnpn-
conformists, and a voluminous commentator angd prac-
tical writer. He survived the Restoration fq{ many
years, which he employed chiefly on his wx;mngs,, apd
died in London, 1683. Duyrigg his. possession o{;h;s
office, he corrected much of the violence, of the. Pres-
byterian party, which he dislikgd,as much as he did the
Church; and, whep he was Vicg-Chancelloy, he.p said
to have winked at the performance of the Chuyrch-ser-
vice ip Dr, Willis’s. house near Mertpn College*, ak-
though frequent mfprmauons were brought te bim of
that “ enqrmity,” .+ ..

The ARcuBisHOPs. and Bxsnors edunmd ‘ber: «
have Jbeen so .numerons, as to zender, the *mom
due to their.characters. impragticable in a sketch Jlike °
the present. Tp, the list, however, already given. of
those who werg promatedifrom the .Kleadship, .oay
be added, Baneroft, Erideaus, Sanderson, Blandfqrd,
Dolben. Comptqn. Gaatrell, Synga, Pattar,. quw

* SebpBiLbote - th b



CHRIST CHURCH. 837

Benson, Robinson, and Shipley. A few of these
bave been already woticed as baving been some time
membets of “other Colleges. The stalls- may afford
dabther' list of names, eminent and ‘interesting in ec-
" dlesladtical buognphy, in which we find the reformer.
Petet ‘Martyr; M. ‘Heton, Bishop of Bly; Richard-
" Edes, Dean of Worcester Leonard Hautten, the anti-.
‘quary, and historian of this College; John Wall, Pre-
bendary of Salisbury; Thomas Lockey, public libra-.
rivm’ and antiquary; Dr. Edward Poecock; Dr. Robert
‘South;*Dr. Richard Allestree; Dr. Roger Altham;
Aschbishop Wake; Dr. Robert Freind ;' Dr. Newton,,
fownder of Hertford College ; &c.
““The ‘scholars of other ranks who bave added to the
reptitation of this College are so numerous, that a few
‘only catt be noticed. The magnitude of the establish-
ment, dnd the high rank in the learned professions to
which’ it has usually led, might extend the literary
history of Christ Church to many volumes.. Being
also the College to which the younger nobility gene-
rally resort, and to which it is thought an honour to
belong, it has furnished the senate and the bar thh
some of their most illustrious ornaments.

In the list of STATESMEN and LAwYERS occur the
‘naes of Sir Dudley Carleton, Viscount Dorchester ;
Sir William Godolphio ; Sir William Ellis; Sir Ed-
ward Littleton; Edward Sackville, Earl of Dorset;
Sir Gilbert Dolben; Heury Mordaunt, brother to the
Earl of Peterborough; Heneage Finch and Daniel
Finch, Earls of Nottingham; Henry Bennet, Earl of
Aclington ; Sir John Vaunghan; Thomas Lutwyche;
Arthur Trevor; William Lord Viscount Chetwynd ;
Jobn Wainwright; Matthéw Skinner ; Edward Tre-

V4



35 CHRIST. CHURCH.

lawny; Henry Villiers, brpther to the Earl of Jarsgys;
Sir William Wyudham ; John, Carteret, Earl Grag-,
ville; . Sir Thomas Hanmer; Andrew Stone; Jesusd
Lyttelton ; William, Earl. Mansfield ; John Mostyn ;.
Sir Francis Bernard ; Welbore Ellis, Baron Mendip;.
Claude Amyand; Lewis, Devmme, Sir John Skinver;
Sir Charles Gould Morgan ; Richard Leveson Gower;
and David Murray, Lord Stormont, and secgnd Easl,
Mansfield, &ec.

Among the Poxts and QraToRS my heemlmﬂr
rated, Dr. James Calfhill; Sir. Phlltp Sidmey;. Ste-.
phen Gosson; George Peele; Thamas Storer; Wila
liam Gager; Francis James; Thomas Goffe; Ben
Jonson ; Robert Gomersal; William Strode;; Gexvase
Warmstrey ; William Hemmings; Barten Heolyday i
Williamn Cartwright ; Robert Rando}ph Robert, Wiae.
ring ; John Maplet; Richard Rhodes ; Corbet ng,
James Allestree; Nicholas Brady; Otway ; Villiers,
Duke of Buckingham ; William King; James, Har-.
rington; Anthony Alsop; Samuel Wesley; .Jahn,
Phillips; Edmund Swith; Gilbert West; James:
Bramston; Bonnell Thomton G:eorge Colman 5 and
Dr. George Butt.

Dunng the. sixteenth century, we ﬁnd among the
scholars of this house, Richard Hackluyt, the. teavel-.
ler, and his \brother Oliver, an eminent physigign .
Richard Mulcaster, the learned Master of, Mcrchant
Taylors’ and St, Paul’s schools —-Rnchuds Cu'ew, the.
historian, of Cornwall —-Camden, the celehrated gntis
quary, formerly of Magdalen. and Pembroke s+Natha-."
niel Torporley, mathematician :—Caleb.. Willis, the.
first professor, of -rhetoric in Gresham. Calkge T
Humphrey. Lynd, a very learned puritan :=Sir The-.
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niiﬁA,&lesbﬁry‘ an’ enhnent matliemancmn, and patron
g’f“féﬁdéd“‘men',’ aid hiye son, the trmélator of Davila:

S idmipd Guﬂter, dlso, an emiberit. malhematnclan;
td&’i}i‘entbr of ‘u\aiheniatick] msfrhhlents. Of the
sevdfitlath ' Géhuiry-'are, Nidholas' Grey, succes.
sxVé]&"Mas’ter of the Charter-house, Merchant Tay+

" Ffon;” abd ' Tunbridge schools :—Fohn  Gregory;
a%fm&b.ﬂéi 1-The’ lestned Merlc Casaubon :—John
Price, Greek professor at Pisa, and a critic of high
xé;%tkﬁod :—~Martin, Lléwellyn, physician-te. Charles
I “hnd afterwards Principal of St. Mary Hall :—Da.
\dﬂ'ﬁ’hltford G¥eek scholar, translator, and editor:—
Al Igltﬂeton, second Majter of Westminster school,
and édh'spiler of a once very popular Latin diction-
al‘% iLfdmes Heath, the historian of his own un-
happy ﬁmés +—Dr. Thomas Willis, one of the most
clﬂrﬁent physxclans. of his age :—Penn, the founder of
Péﬂhsyivama, a' Commoner here, before his irregulari-
uea‘irought on expulsion :—Henty Stubbe, physician,
sdconid Keeper of the Bodleian lerary, a learned and
valnminous, but not very: consistent writer :—Richard
Lower, ' physician and . medical author :— LOCEKE :=.
Francis Vernon, traveller and poet :—Thomas Sparke,
Prébendary of Lichfield, the learned editor of Lactan-
tius “and' Zosimus :—Dr. Robert Hooke, mechanical
philosopher and architect :—Sir Edward Hannes, pro-
féssor of'chemistry, physician, poet, and benefactor :—
Daniel'Man, Gresham professor of astronomy :—Dr.
Jokn Freind, an eminent physician and writer :—Sir
Atiticw Fountame, Anglo-Saxon scholar, connoisseur, .
ahlf antiquary i—Temple Stanyan, Greek historian:
-—Edwarﬂ Ivie, translator of Epictetus :—Richard
Frewen, “chemistty professor, Camden’s professor, and
z2
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a munificent benefactor. In the eighteenth century
there occur, Richard Ince, Comptroller of the Pay
Office, and one of the writers in the Spectator :—The
“unhappy Eustace Budgell, 2 more considerable contri-
bator to that work :—George Wigan, afterwards Prin-
eipal of New Inn Hall :—Robert Leybourne, Prinai<
pal of Alban Hall :—Matthew Lee, physician, éfr;:ady'
wmoticed :among the benefactors :—The celebrated Lord
Viscount Bolingbroke :—Desaguliers, the experimental
philosopher and lecturer:—Charles Boyle,” Earl of
Ortery, the learned antagonist of Bentley oir the sub-
ject of Phalaris, and his son John, Ear] ‘'of 'Cagti’:'s;_
Joho Wigan, physician, editor of Aristaus, &c.—
“harles Wesley, co-founder of the Methodists ‘with
‘his brother the more celebrated John :—Browne Willis,
antiquary :—Dr. William''Drake, antiquary, and au-
thor. of the History of York:—Dr. William Sharpe,
Principal of Hertford College, and Greek professor:
—The Rev. Clayton Mordaunt Cracherode, anelé; bt
scholar, who left his well-selected "and valuable k-
brary, prints, and coins, to the British Museum, va-
lued at 30,000l. :—Dr. William Burton, the historian
‘of Yorkshire; &c. :



| TRINITY COLLEGE

. :-aL! -

THE followm'zr sketch of the hfe of Sir Thomas Pope,
the Founder of Trinity College, is necessanly taken
from Mr Warton’s elaborate and elegant volume, in
yvhlcb, he has improved the few materials within his
reach into a narrative equally interesting to the histo-
rian, the antiquary, and the scholar®, _

Thomas Pope was born at Dedington in Qxford-
shire, ahout the year 1508. His parents were Wil
liam ,gnd Margaret Pope, the daughter of Edmund
Yate, of Stanlake in Oxfordshire. She was the se-
cond wnfe of opr Founder’s father, and after his death,
in 1523, was again married to John Bustarde, of Ad-
derbury in_the same county, whom she survived, and
died, in 1557. ‘The circumstances of the family, if
not opulent, were “ decent and creditable.”

Thomas was edugated at the school of Banbury,
l\ept by Thomas Stanbndge of Magdalen College, an
eminent tutor, and was thence removed to Eton Col-
Jege, from which he is supposed to have gone to
Gray’s Inn, where he studied the law. Of his pro-
gress at the bar we have no account; but his talents
must have discovered themselves at an early period,
and have recommended him to the notice of his Sove-

* For many particulars respecting this College I am also indebted to
Mr. Warton’s Life of Bathurst ; and something has been gleaned from 3
- Ms, collection of references and extracts on the same subject by Mr,
. Warton, now in my possession. . - .
.23
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reign, as ' Ocﬂobcr, 1599; when' he ‘was only: ewenty-
seveir eats” 6ld; he “Was- cotistiterted) by ‘Iotters: puitent
of Henty VIH. Cletk of the Bri¢fs'of: the Stareham-
ber-at Weﬁt‘mmmer, and the “same ‘menth! teteived a
reversiohary ‘gant: of the office of Clerk 6f therCrown
in Chancery, of which he soon after becaire poysessed,
with ‘an” atiual fee of:; twenty poutads f¥omsthe Hinga-
pér htd also & robe with fura the feasts of Chaise-
mas gnid" Pébteéb&t;»fvom -the King's great wardsbbe.
Two 'years after} i November, ‘535, Ire ‘'was  onstic
tuted’ Wardett of*éie Mint; “Exéhande;-and Conhé,
in the Tower of Liohded whiclitis Blogrdpher thinks
he“quitted aBout eight: years' #tét for: some Wrore va-
thable prefertiétit. The stime ‘year ho.reteived -&pa-
tetit'for a‘netw evat-of atms;ito be-borte: by iy emd
his “pésterity, which 'are ‘thode ‘af thib~Gollegeixolh
October, 1536, he received theHiewonr:of Kuligiehiood,
ut the same time with Henry Howardy afteiwhrdllthe
gallaht dnd ‘osifottanate Eatl of Sutryy by Decemiser,
he-was'- '1pp6inted 6 etercide; J(ﬁ%ﬂ*y; with “Wiltiads
Smythe’,ihe‘oiﬁcé of Cletk-of alkthié Bnefs 4% thuStar.
cHtfiller it Westmindret. - 6 el 1538, hétsbratned,
8 His oW ihétatice, & new f&&ammue(mr@xmmsg
th¥ offi & ‘of “Clerk ' 6Fithe: Crowhi ibtonjuhationwith
Jolit' Luexy, affetwards'th ehifent evowa-lawyepdn
"[h’@.ré]gﬁlgf Edwath V1,500 bamicqys sew od asds
““Botfié of these appointmentsyiwisprabuble, hwbwsd
o’ Sir Thowids More; withi-whisth W wad earlys oe-
qfiathtda, ufid Wit tor Lord: Audldy) bivhLord Qag.
celdrsd; But T 1580} lie- receiled sussbh grésterthn-
pRttaAcY, D ‘constitdeed; bprthel Kidg: Fiwasurer
of dhe Celirt of Atgmedrations, lod d6s. UEst estbiiiah-
ment by Act 8f ’I’iﬂiament. > Phe Hisiners of this
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coutt was tb éstimiite the lands of the dissolved mo-

umsteries vested in the crown, receive their revenues,

and well the monastic possessions for the King’s ser-

‘vides and it was so called from the increase which the

royal revenue thus received. The Treasurer’s office

waa-a post of coasiderable profit, and of considerable

digiity, as the person holding it ranked with the

princtpal officers of state, and was privileged to retain

in his-house a chaplainn, having a benefice with curé

of ’seuls, who should not be compelled to residence.

Whst the emoluments of this office were is not sb -
“cleax, but.thiey were greater than the allowance of Sir

John. Williams, Treasurer in Edward VI.’s reign, who

had 320, yearly; and it may be suppesed, the office

gave those advantages in the purchase of the dissolved

‘poskessions, which probably formed the foundation of
Bir Thomas’s xast fortune.

. 'He held this office for five years, and during that

time was appointed Master or Treasurer of the Jewel-

house in the, Tower. In 1546, the Court of Augmen-

‘Wtions was dissolved, and a mew establishment on a

more confined plan substituted. In this Sir Thomas

Pope was nominated Master of the Woods of the

wourt on this side the river Trent, and was now a
Mhember of the Privy Council. It has been asserted,

- that he was appointed one of the commissioners or

‘visitors under Cromwell for dissolving the religious
Pouses; but the only occasion, according to his bio-

_graplier, in which he acted, was in the case of the ab-
ey of St. Alban’s. He was undoubtedly one of those

‘b -whose hands the seal of that abbey was surrei-

dered in 1589, and it was to his interest with the Kinyg
that We owe the preservation of the church how stand-

z4
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ing o alugh thersjope procfof himhatingibes:.
oug of e visitom, eruploged in the gensusl dissobationsn,
it 'Bmﬁﬁe‘;ﬁh*t&&amm@smnyrw feomns' thabq
“ Srﬂ% ‘}3{&9@6 of 1 vighes,” Mdlﬁwﬁedﬂll&ﬂbtwgmg
from ?Q%Heﬁ“%wqg?ﬁinmqﬁ the Jawl.w Befose theo:
yeag, 1596, he-apReace ta: hayesbaen satuslly possessock::
of mafe thamthisty mangzs in,ibe eguoties.af Owfardy:
Glaggestery Warstick s PDerbip, Bedford, Hereford,sod .o
K‘%&ihﬁ?‘gﬁ? other, gomsiderabla.estatas, and:severals:
. adpowggns, Some elrthere possessiang wene given him: )
by, W%V;YMI—?% the greatess part,wasacqwired hy...
purchase wbile, hey 3528 ponpegtadi wish the Const ok
Augmentations, aad many. of. his,estates Merabeughtos
onueenﬂMﬁ'me ay. Leanezde aotis B Al boist:
Duging. the reign.of Henry VILL,.Sir Fhowmaa Popesi:
was ewmployed;ig,varigus segyiogs and attendances abesitic
the coprt, bt in pong of move afflecting interest than -
when_he. was;sent, by.she. King to; infors bin-old
frigng, and.patrony Sir Thamas More, of; the henraps -
P‘{,iﬁlﬁfl for his.gxecution. . Of this Mr.. Warton hes
givep a yery.pathetic account. Qnthe aecessionafii:
" Edpapd V1, 998 sid sot.comply wish tbe simesy Sirii
Thﬁ{;wg, Pops, received 0o favops.oF office basiwhes -
v M?’Y spceeeded, be, was, agAin made,a Rrivg -
_‘Cour’se lor, qu)?oﬁ'e;e‘r 1o: Qhe l;lq.qu:hol;la and Mas
.ofgen _empl loyed, ip commissions of gensiderahlesime -
pajtance, whlch . Bre, mare | negrlyu Lconpsated wigh -
hlstory than wn.h f)lography As he was infggi -
.blgm hlj adh&re;%ce tQ 0. POPEF Yo, YE.BK6., MOk, . SRrpased
_ o fing hus name in.a, compigsion for fbe, o effee-c
uuﬁ suppression of heretics, in.concert with Bonner
- and; othezay butthis.conduct, whea the Princess (aﬁér‘—
Wards Quedny, Bftzabeth ’was placed undgr ‘his s cavg in.

cyan vllgups o ) Seemod
PPN AL B
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1558vea far meréctiohid efedtie. U ftu o ‘Been
impoleshed tni ke Fowbk Hnl 60 W3oditoek, ‘slie 'was
pensiited by mﬂjeamum«&»feweﬂf&m‘s& The-
maxiRopditonHasheldihovbe, in ‘Hettfordstite) then o
royal palieé, where he shewed: her évefy iark’ oF fd-
speot: thmewadi conststent with: the natdféof Ms%har@é
andimio than ¢ouid ive 'beeh“éﬁi)ecﬁed fréd otie"of
hwmgadm&h@bwe 0 thié réignig politiés. On'a a8
taiavoeonsion, wheri 4w of the Fellows of this College
(thvein juor foonded)iwere-expelled-for vié‘atmg ohé of
itsdehiotest -statuted”, hhd repaired to 'Hatheld to l}eg
forgivewess of the’ Polnder, hé tefetred the intter
to thieRrincess; who drdered that théy should be’ ig“!x
statéed. Mr. Warton observes, that Sir Thomas, By
thisaébumly ard ‘resgectful dct; relieved hiniself’ frot
an .embarvament ; for'® dlthoigh disposed to forgive:
. ¢ nesy, lie:was whrwilling’ to bé the first who- shiould
« opesly éountenance:br ‘pardor an’ infringement 8f
# laws wilichi’ himeelf - had made.” " It ‘appears like-
wise that he'bfteri doniverted with the Princess on.the
subjeeviasf s Collee. - Trr-one of 'his lekfers to ‘tbef
Preddén%“SI} thursté, hetsuys;® The Prificesi Rliza: -
“ badiy Hor Grodd; whom'' 1 sérve' heid, oﬂeniask}&f r
« wié:gbout the cdiirse I'have devybed fof my “scolle’;
“ tnd thut part of msv'ne estatutes ‘i'espectmge stady ‘I ‘
* % e Shewdto her ‘Whith shie likes well.” Shé is Dot _
“ Sty gricivits)” but'‘itfost ler’ned"as ye r:ght wefl
“ iiiié“‘"’ PRV JIT: BRI
‘Proin ¢ rétfletice Yere ofi fdur years, shic ‘was raised
o6 YOS Bn the Yehth of her alster Mary, Nov

aunod (w313 3 @il e

*, The:yatuse Jq s nonsel woneraasdendis 2. ﬂ‘hemmuot theos’
frolicksom gehtlewen were Gearge Sympson.gfyd Gegrge Rudde; two of
the ﬁrs‘t“i"jllaws 1t appears that Sir Thomas’s wife was equally impo:-
‘tunate for their pardon. )
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7,1538; On-this.(dcbasion,Bic Thomas Pope ok
mat appear thave been continasd in the Privy Gosae
oil, hor.hsd nfterwards an¥y concern in: palitient trans-
actious, : - He-did mot, indeedy.suruive: thegecessionsof
Elizaheth above a year, as.he died Jan. 29, 1569; 4t
his house in Clerkenwell, which:was part-of the :din
‘bolved menastery there.. No circumstance of hisilk
ness ‘or ‘death has: been. :discovered.. - Mr. Warson. ik
foclieed te think thathe:was carried off by a pestlens
tial fever, which raged . with'-uncommon. siolepce.5a
the sutamn of the year 1558. . He was interred. i
wreat state in the parish-church of St Stephen’s. Wisd
brook, where his sscond wife Margaret had sbeen be-
fore buried, aatl his daaghter Alice. But.in.¥56%
their bodies ‘were removed . to. the Chapel ofihig Col-
joge, and Agein intarred on, the nouth side. of, shialtan,
Whder: a tomb: of /Gothic workwanshipy opi: wbnch«a.tg
Yhe recombent . figuresof Sic Thomas, ia complete aig
mouy, and his thﬂd mfe, Ehtabeﬁh, J&ge as) the, dife,
. ﬂhm 52t L i eushy
-Siv Thowas Pone ' R; tbrlca mm«d ot i o iRt
!ﬁe wes Jligabeth Gmston, from,-whom e wis
Rivorced; July .11, 1536. .His. second was Margaret
Podwrer, widow, to whom he was married July 17,
1586, Her maiden name was Townsend, h na-
tive of Stamford in Lincolnshire, and the reliet of
?R»aiph Dodmer, Knight, Sheriff and Lord Mayor of
London. By Sir Thomas Pope she had oniy onk
Quughter, Alice, who ‘died very young but she, txad
twd sons by her former husband, whom SirThomas
treated as his owh.” She died ‘in 1538 ; after which, in
1540, he married Elizabeth, the daughter of Walter
Blount, Esq. of Blount's Hall in. Staffordshire. She
was at that time the widow of Anthony Basford, or
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Beresford] Bage 6F Beatly in Derbyshice, bz thoih
shiehhd vl sl batiosdhildren by Bir Thiomdy Pope.
Afsor Sir:Thomas's death, she murried Sir Hugh Pl
letpeR it ton 'Sti Georgé in Bomersetshind,: the 30t vf
BirCAdiyds: Paulet; who was cenfired: in the Templk
ybtinel bider' of Curdinat Wolsey*: Sit Hugh jdined
Hiir 28rdfaRy n 4t Yegard. and aftentisus to the ‘Cok
. 1&g whidh ‘she was'tiow styledthe Foundress. Sht
died gt an ddviificed uge, Oet. 27; 1508; dt Tyrrenkians
ger?; i Hertforishire, the-favourite dout 052 SivThon
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riped 8 Tridity Tollege, v -t =07 2 T Ty
oMy > Whitod's ‘didracter 'of Sir Thothes Pbpaamt
ik be bmititd, a¥ it is thie result of a.carefal axamingt
o o &t [public st private conduet. ¥ Bir Thomas
afspehis'io Hiavebeeh 4 miin eminedtly qwalified forbat
#itic#; A d altliongh ot emplofed ih the very prinetpal
d¢paitiients of sthte, ke possessed pecutior tidewts and
whdraa for the matagerhént sid exetution of puiv
affairs.. His ‘natural abilities were atrong, dis kfiows
188eofi the ‘wbild décp and extonside his- judgaitnt
$811d 2ikd "discering! < His cireumnspintioh wad plas
R the tondtet of Hegodiations! entrussed: oot
cHarge, wérk equralled by hs‘ﬁadny and persevertimd,
e is a"&mpiééouﬁ"xﬂstmi&bf ‘onvey ot bréd torthe
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chprch, whe, withewt.the advaptages of birth snd pa-
mapys, by, the force. of upderstanding and industrgy
reiged. hims¢lf to opulence and honourable employ-
ments,.,. H.c; lived in.an age, when the peculiar circumy
staness of, the times, afforded obvious temptations to,
the, mast.abject desertion of principle; and few periods.
of qur history can be found, which exhibit more nume,
rous examples of .ogcasional campliance with frequent
changes: yet he rgmpined unbiassed and nncorrupted
amid the genergl depravity.. Inder Henry VI1I.when,
" qu,the disgolutign of the monasterigs, he was enabled,
by, the opportunities gf his sityation, to eprich himsglf
with their. peyennes by- fraudulent ar.joppressive pipo-
siges,. he  behaved. with, disintereste), integtify;  nog
Aogs, & single insance . occur, upRs, sesord which img
- peaghes his hopoyy,, In the, syccepding. seign,of Kdp
ward VI. a sudden, check JiA8: given tq, his cgrges jof
pgpulam.y and prosperity ;. he retained his origiagl
attachment tq. the. catholic religian; and on; that agn
count lost those marks, of fayeur og distinction whjch
were so llberally dispensed 19, 5he sygophants of ,Sp-
merset, and which  he mjghy bqye,ggslly secured by g
temporary. subma,s,slon to the reigning system. . At tha
accession of M,w'yl,hg Wps;,}‘qstogg.g 19 favoyr; yetthe
was never instrumenigl,or, agtiye, in, the tyranujgsof
that Queen which dxggxaqp ouraongls. He was armed
with dls‘cxetlouary powers far thgggppresuoggﬁhgﬁ
tical inpovations ; yet he forbore tg gratify thesarbin
trary demands of his bigotted mistress to their upmast
extent, nor wepld he pasgicipate in..forwasdingthe
~ barbarities of- her blogdy:persgcutions. )J,Qléhgcgum.-

dlanshng,oﬁ ,th Pr;pcpgﬁ Elizabeth, thg yohappg syic-
tim of united superstmon, Jealonsy, revenge, and cru-
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R, 088 Homalfiti?pretanea gver’ 1isihterest’, atid 1
ISV HbBA P RS AP Jf (e Wiitant andlunfors
gl Akt " cRARR BIOijhrdd ndbeeRicd”
HR B Gt ft) B accunitlitedibhies) ler1f b
inéthbered, thatWé dbndberated patt' bf*those Fiches,
6P Rl Bl teftrorél OP' S Reath-bell) HBE M the diéams’
oPIMISFRLbUE 1 e primePbF 1ifd) atd thie vigour of
dAAePtHnding, 2 “the “publid ¥éivide of His*cotmery;
#AAKE Qhvelthiem to fattiré gétierations, Tor the per-
petsk Sippoti of fiterstute 40d religion®” o
5%Thomas Popé iwas Eettainly in‘the prime of life
wheti 'He detérntined-td found a College, the necessity
of Whi2h'was to'him apparent, froni the ‘dctual state of
M@ UnfiVersity, and' the increasing zeal'for' literature,:
whicHH4d fir less thidithalf'a century 'prodtced threé
new ‘Colligés~in- Oxford; 'and four i Cambridge:
Bika-30tive Of! tRe Hiode 1ettned of Hls® prédécessors Tl
these ‘Buaiflcbiit adts, hie saw thé irécesdity of provids
in¥ foflblgdsibalTicetaedre ; -dnd his Ticker'8f Hama-
#RY1é Ipeotatlyenfoind 1b dispté€ his’ Sehotars’With
a‘}gs&‘lﬁ{é’ Pk viE ghhces oPthiel Tiatin' Tatighage, and
to expiiih eritiéily the workd' of Cidéid, Rintilian,
Aulus"Gellius, Plautus; Terence, Virgil, H’b‘rééé’,“ﬁ"\‘"f,
ind Lucan. From thesé‘and other injunctiéhs respect®
ing the same subject it''may be inferred, that, although
Mr..Warton has not made it a promineit featirré "t
his dharacter, the Fodhder’s acquaintance with classi-
cat Tefthing was not inferfor to his other accdmplish-
inentdy : : e
) Th&“dft’e‘ éhoden for his- new foundation wab at tifis -
time .odddpied by: Durhism Collegé, Bhile by Richatd
de Hotod, Prior of Durham in 1289, for the Monks'6¥

" s Life, p. 256. '
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Wie otsnVentof Eﬂxﬂiam; Abadd sixty’ W’aﬁeiwaﬂlﬂﬁ
Tiionat BavBeld, Bléhop of Durhiith, *Febeif 81t &
dewed it WithP IO} o) dnnhms SN for eugwm%t,
sl five’ idrksQach For eight’ Scholati, whib'Vbrd" i
Tensts gramitar, and phillésoptry s the Senior Moo b
Cilstoy o ‘Pelon; and, was aftgrwards )Btyfedf 'Wdl’dén.
B was fgrthet €nriclied ‘by. Richard 1T, ‘and, ALl
&spolation 107133Y, possessed an’ arhasl %E%dné‘ 6‘6
el lss 7d. “Hecérding to Twyhe, ‘or; -~ agtor
Speed dod’ Duigdale, 115144, 4dic Afler the a?&é&iﬁ*
tion; ' the Kiny gave the site and all ‘its Tand¥ & fHE
Péas surd Chapter-of Durhen; and the” lpister ard dovh
in thefr posseuston. -At-this -time 'there Wit Hilt'%
\few. Schelpr tn-it, ander the Headship of DA Witight
wbo wus aldo Prineipal of Peckwiter Tan; -alit ¥
‘buildings were fallen into decay. < Fhe slte*l%vélm
the Crown, ‘but in what manner is nbt‘knoé'h“ and,
1558; Edwérd: VI. gﬁsnted it to George’ ‘Owitn' Qf
stoweythie - ng'sf ‘phiysician, a man of’greﬁ!t"léun!ﬁ
and buiiifence, shil: Willignr Martyn, Gentlémiehl <+
Sir. Thomas Popé} hivéing fixeéd: apon this, ‘a’é”&?ﬂ‘g
per lace for isiintended Dollege, purdhissdd el Bles
miged of Owén dhd Whirtyn, by lndetbure ¥n el Feb.
- Q09354 and 6o, March 8, and March' 28, “ohitih 28
from- PHilip ' and” Mary a ‘royal“licente and’ cha:r‘t’.er‘w‘
dreate’8nd ‘exéct a’ College ‘within the UmVersntS’;"‘éP
Oxford, sader the title of. Cbnmtbmm‘ EANGTE EFR
weoivansm PriNdatis 18 URIVRRSITAYE OXGHN."
EX FUNDATIONE THoME PoreE MiriTis. The So<
eiety wasuto ooniist of a- President; &‘P‘x‘léﬁ;‘ twive
Eélows; folit ‘of ‘whom. should' be ‘%mests, ang ,pg&&t«
SoRolars, (affernardd increased to twelve,) sad the whole’
to be liberally and amply endowed with vertain masors,’
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lands, and; revenues, .They were.to . be. elected.out.of
the, diaceses and. places where the Callege hag: benes
figes, manors, or rgvenues, more particularly.in.Oxfordx
@re, Gloucesterghjre, Warwickshire, Derhyshize, Bad
fordshire, Hertfordshire, and. Kent, but. not more. thaa
two at the same time out.of:any qounty, exeept, Oxs,
ford, from which five might be. chosen. The.sema
chartey empowered; him to foypd and. endow a schoel
4t, Hogknorton in QOxfordshire,; to he :called. Jesus
Scholehoyse; and to give statutes hoth to the.College,
and to the first and second masters of the. sid.achacl.
And by deed, dated March 28,1955, ha deglased his
agtnpl erection and establishment of the said. College,
anqd the :same. day. delivered. possession, hefore a large
ggncaurse. of witnesses, tg the Eresideat, Fellows, and:
Seholars, namely, Thomas Slythurste,. S. T. B. Presi~
dent;, Stephen Markes, A, M. Robert. Newton, John.
Barwykg, James, Bell,. Roger Crispin, John Richard-.
sgp, Thomas, Scotte, George. Sympson, Bachelors of.
Arts, Fellowa; and John:Arden, John Comporte; John,
Peste, and John, Langsterre, Scholars.
..An May following, he supplied. his College with ne-
aries and implements of eyery. kind, books, furni=
‘ tg;)%gg; the Chapel. of the mast .cogtly. kind; and next:
year hetrapsmitted. a bady of statutes ta the Society,
dated. May 1, 1556. . These statutes. he had submitted.
Q9 ‘hﬁ reyjsion, of Gardinal Pale, from whom he re-.
eq;ved, ;qmp .valuable hxn;s‘ In the first.copy are se-

. {nqlettertothe President he says, ¢ My Lord Cardinall’s Graze
!?thd the overseeinge of my statutes, He much lykes well that L
¥ Auve thétein ordered the Latin tonge to be redde to my schollers, But
¢, he advyses md toorder the Greeketobembmtaﬂghttﬁrdthanllme:
% provyded. This purpose I well lyke ; but'l fear the tymes will not bear
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onil ersedres and imterkincations in the hind of Shy-
thavste, made by convent and anthority of the Fouader,
snd she text of dris capy thus cotrected is thet which-
isaswim ase. The wext copy, ia poiltt of antityeity,
is & tramserips by Jokin Perte, one of the first Fellows,:
and Barsar. The third is that which was sent to the
Bishop of Wincheuter, as Visitor; and when Bishop
Morley was deprived, during the Usurpation, he .
* wraed it to the College. They are #li on parchement. -
.-On the eighth of the same manth, May, he geve
thess oe hundred pownds as a stoek: for immediate:
purposes; and the endowment by thirty-five' manots,-
thirteen advowsons, besides impropriations and - pehe-
sions, was completed before or upori the feast of As-
sunciation in the same year; and the first Presidest,’
Fellows, and Scholars, nominated- by himself, were -
formally admitted within the Chapel, May 30, on the’
eove of Trinity Sunday. They were all, the Graduates-
at lesst, taken from the different Colleges of Oxford,-
~ ambept ome who was of Cambridge. Some of theif
names have already been given, but others were tiow
sdded, as Arther Yeldarde, Fellow, aud Philosophy
Lectirer; George Radde, Roger Evins, and Robert"
Bellamnie, Fellows ; and Reginald Braye, Robert
Theaske, Williamt Saltmarshe, and John -Hﬁr’r'yi,
Scholess. At the same time Stephen Markes. was ap~'
pointed Vios-President; John Barwyke, Dean, by
clection ; James Bell, Rhetoric Lecturer, by electiofi’s’
and Joh Richardson and John Perte, Bursars, also
by clention. '
1% aow, l“whnlwuaynf scholler at Eton, the Greeke*®

“*ﬂ““;mmﬂhdwﬁdumvmm,
« desnil” '
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- Puring _his lifetime, the Founder nominated the
Fellows - and .Scholays, and afterwards delegated . the
pewer to his widow,.Dame Elizabeth, of nominpting
the Scholars, and presenting to the ‘advowsons; and
th;,s she continued ta exercise during her .long. life,
but with some interruptions, and some opposition.
On one occasion the College. rejected. her nomination
tp,a Scholarship, and chose another candidate; but on
an .appeal to the Visitor, he decided in her favour.
$he. sometimes also nominated the Fellows, and once
a President. But both she and her husband, Sir Hugh
Paulet, were so liberal, and punctual in fulfilling the
Eoundey’s intentions, and in contributing to the, pros-
Retity of the College, that she was in general obeyed
with respect and gratitude.

.~.On St. Swithin’s day, July 15, 1556, the Fou.nder
msltpd his College, -accompanijed by the Bishops .of
,W inchester and Ely, Whyte and.Thirby, and othey
gminent - personages, who were entertained snmptu-
ously .in the Hall, the whole expences of which were
paid by him to the Bursar on the same day. Ner was
this a singular act of liberality, for it appeers, that
-during bis lifetie he paid all the Unijversity expences
of degrees, regencies, and determinations for the Fel-
lows and Scholars. He also continued to send various
articles of rich furniture for the Chapel and Hall, and
a great quantity of valuable plate, and made-consider,
able additions to the permanent endowment, by new
‘revenues for five obits or dirges yearly, .to be sung
. and celebrated as festivals in his College. These wege;
1: for Queen Mary and her progenitors, on the day of
the assumption of the holy Virgin; 2. fof Damé Mar-
garet his late wife, and Alice his daughter;’ deqeased

Aa



354 TRINITY COLLEGE.

on the day.of the conception of the holy Virgin; 3. for
Dame Elizabeth his present wife, ou the day of the
nativity of the holy Virgin;. 4. for his father and
mother, on the day of the annunciation; and, 8. on
Jesus day, Aagust 7; for himself and all Christian’
souls. About the same time he founded four addi~
tional Scholarships, from the endowment of the sehool
intended, to have been established at Hookwnorton, but
which inteation he now abandened, thinkiag it more.
beneficial to the public to inerease the number of:
scholars ia the University *.

In December,: 1557, he announced: hig . intention of
building ¢ hbuseat Garsington nedr Oxford, to which
the Society might retire in time of the plaghe. . This
was built after his death, pursuast to his will, in &
quadrangular forms and it appears from the College
books that they took refuge here in 1570-F, and again
in 1577. On the former occasion they weve visited
by 8ir Hugh Paulet. At this house ‘they performed:
the same exercises, both of learning and devotion, as:
when in College. In 1565, before this house was com-
pleted, they retired, during a plague, to Woodstock.

In his will, the Founder left 100l. for building &
wall round the: grove®, and: an- addnnonal quam:ty* of

* His Scholars had 2L 18s. yearly for. their commons and dtut, and
11. 13s, 4d. for their wages. Aun allowance was also pmnded for an Or-
ganist, Butler, Porter, &c, The organ appears to have been genemlly
played by a member of the Society; and the Founder ordered in the
statutes, that thete should be constantly one person admitted into the
Society competently skilled in music, who might be able to executs
the office of Organist. Anciently, Mr. Warton remarks, that no sepa+
rate or distinct officer, by the name of Orgamst, was ever lppomted.
See note on p 424.

¥ This was only part of the grove which ongmally belbnged to Durs
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plate, which he -had purchased froin varions religious
houses; on their dissolution. But of all the plate givenr
by him, one :piece only now remains in the Chapel, a
silver . gilt chalice, weighing twenty ounces, exqui-
sitely engraved; which belonged to the abbey of St.
Alban’s... The crest were either destroyed -or takea
away, as superstitious, in 1570, or-granted to Charles
L iu the year 164¢, when the Colleges in Oxford con-
tributed their plate to that monarch’s necessities.:

'Fo this .ample . foundation, a. few benefactors made
some additions. Richard Blount, of London, Esq.
nephew to Dame Elizabeth Paulet, the Founder’s wi-
dow, bequeathed 100l. to maintain- an Exhibitioner.
‘Out his death, Lady Paulet covenanted with his-exe-
outors to give to the College;iin consideration of the
said sum of 100l. made over to her, the rectory of
‘Ridge in Hertfordshire, for the meaintenance of the '
said Exhibitioner, and for othet purposes. This was
concladed 1581, but the advowson of Ridge, which
was part of the benefaction, is now lost. John Whet-
stone,.of Rodden, in the county of Dorset, merchant,
bequeathed 5001. for Exhibitions, and with this money
lands were purchased at Okeley in Buckinghamshire:
and, in 1667, Edward. Batharst, B. D. left land in
Northamptonshire to the yearly value of 241. and gave
the statue of the Foundér, which is over the Hall-door
next the quadrangle. But the greatest benefactors
were thase who contributed to the new. bmldmgs, to

be noticed hereafter. :

bm College. The rest was rented by Bernard College, anid conse-
quently- now belongs to St. John's. The stome wall which separatzs the
gardens of Trinity and St. John’s was built at the ,)omt expcnce of the
respective founders.

AagQ
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The principal LiviNgs of this College are the Rec-
ToriEs of Garsington, (attached to the office of Pre-
sident,y Oddington upon Otinoor, and Rotherfield
.Greys, Oxfordshire; Farobam in Essex; and Barton
in Warwickshire: the VicArAGEs of Great Waltham
and Navestock in Essex : and the DonaTive. of Hill-
farance in Somersetshire.

In 1592 the rents of this College were estimated at
200l. ; and in 1612 the Society amounted to one hun-
dred and sixteen persons. It now consists, agreeably
to its original constitution, of a President, twelve Fel-
lows, and twelve Scholars, with Gentlemen Common-
ers and Commoners. The Bishop of Winchester is
the Visitor. Mr. Warton- assigus, as Sir Thomas
Pope’s motive for appointing the Bishops of Win-
chester to be Visitors, his respect for Gardiner, who
was Bishop of that diocese when the foundation was
projected, who had been governor of a College at
Cambridge, was now Chancellor of that University,
a learned civilian, a scholar of the first rank, an emi-
neat patron of literature, and bore the greatest sway
in all civil and ecclesiastical affairs., This is high
praise; but yet it may be inferred, from his liberal
treatment of Ascham and Sir Thownas Swmith, that bis
love of learning did sometimes soften that ferocious
spirit of persecution, with which he disgraced the
reign of Queen Mary. As he died while the statutes
of this College were preparing, bhis suecessor; Whyte;
was appointed Visitor. Whyte was first Schoolmaster,
and afterwards Warden of Winchester, and succes-
sively Bishop of Lincoln and Winchester under Queen
Mary, a man of learning and eloquence, but, adhering
to the religious principles of his royal mistress, was
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deprived by Qucen Elizabeth, and died in 1560. To
his successor, Horne, we shall have occasion to advert
hereafter.

. The original BUILDINGS of this College were
those which belonged to Durham College, and were
repaired by our Founder for the use of his Society.
They-consisted principally of a low quadrangle, with'
the Hall, Library, and Chapel. About the beginning
of the seventeenth century, Dr. Kettel, President,
added cocklofts, or garrets, to part of the quadrangle;
and about the same time erected some buildings near
the Kitchen, at the north end of the Hall, the ex-
pence of all which was defrayed by the College.
During the Rebellion, the buildings became ruinous,’
although the Society even at that time was in a flou-
rishing condition. In 1664, Dr. Bathurst, then Presi-
dent, began his extensive designs with repairing his
lodgings on the east side of the quadrangle, which he
afterwards completed in 1687 at his own expence.
Soon after a new court of three sides was projected in
the Fellows’ garden, the north side of which was fi-
nished in 1667. The west side, however, was not
completed until 1682, nor the south until 1728. The
east, opens into the larger division of the garden,
which is laid into grass-plats, and the fine centre
walk terminates with a handsome iron gate*. Sir
Christopher Wren was the architect employed on this
court ;' and by the late improvements, which give it

* The other division of the garden consists of narrow walks and a
wilderness, of the materials and forms which prevailed in King Wil-
liam’s time, forming a curious contrast to the display of modern taste
in the neighbouring garden of St. John's.

Aald
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uniformity, it appears more creditable to his talents
than as originally designed. The benefactions of Dr.
Bathurst, Archbishop Sheldon, Dr. Ironside, Bishop
of Bristol, and other eminent men formerly or at
this time members of the College, contnbnted most
liberally to complete the undertakmg :

.On these buildings Mr., Wanon remarks, with more:
regard for their style than was consonant wnth Kis
habitual veneratjon for the Gothic, that Dr. Bathurst
became, by example, a general benefactor, being the
first who introduced the just and genvine proportions
of Grecian architecture into the University, which
have ever since been so successfully followed. ' The
venerable beguties of Gothi¢ magnificence alone pre-
vailed, till his new court at Trinity College appeared :
particularly, the splendid decorations, and exquisite
finishings, of modern art, were absolutely unknown in
Qsxford, till the first effort ta these elegancies was
exhibited in the Chapel of his College, in a style of
which other specimens are now not uncommon. It
was reserved for the taste, the genius, and thé spirit
of Dr. Bathurst, to work this reformation; dnd in
this respect he reminds us of a King of Athens, men-
tioned by Plutarch, who first placed the statues of
the Graces in an ancient temple of Minerva®.

In 1683, the CommoN RoOM was built out of onne
of the Fellows’ chambers, whlch had’ been a dormitory
for the Scholars abont th¢ year 1652. ' In this room
_is an excellent likeness of Mr, Warton by Rising, and
one of Dr. Carne by Huddesford.. In 1676, the old
Kitchen was ‘converted-into a chamber, and a new one,

* Life of Bathusst, p, 87.
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with chambers over it, .built on the west side of the
Hall, and a passage made to it on a piece of ground
purchased of Balliol College. The old Gothic gate-
.way next the street, consisting of three arches, with
niches. and shields®, was pulled down in 1778, and
the present spacious entrance, iron palisade, and
gates, erected at the expence of Francis, first Barl éf
Guildford; a member of the College.

The HawrL, on the west side of the first quadrangle,
was originally that belonging to Durham College ;
but, falling into decay, it was pulled down in 1618,
duriag the government of Dr. Kettel, and the present
built on the same site, in the Gothic style, at the ex-
pence of the College. The windows of the old Hall
were _ decorated with portraits of saiats, &c. coatd
of arms, and iascriptions, which were either not re-
placed, or destroyed during the Rebellion. The last
improvements’ were a new ceiling, wainscotting, and,
chimney-piecé, in 1772. At the upper end is a por«
trait of the Founder, three quarters length, in a gown
of black sattin, faced with lucerne spots, and  the motto,
“ Quod tacitum velis nemini dizeris.”. There are four
other portraits of him in the College, by different
artists, but all of the same dimensions, dress, and atti-
tude, and are all supposed to be copies from one by
Holbein, in Lord Guildford’s collection at Wroxton.
On the right of the picture in this Hall is an admira.
- ble likeness of Mr. Warton, by Mr. Penrose, and on

« OF this there is a drawing in the Bursary, where also are portraits
of Dr. Kettel and Dr. Bathurst, and one of Dame Elizabeth Paulet,
which Mr. Warton thinks was painted by Sir Antonio More, about the
widdle of Queen Elizabeth's reign, and was in the College at least be-
fore 1613.

Aa4d
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the ‘left a_pertrait .of Dr. Bathurst, copied: from.the
engraving that was. made, when he was fifty.six: years. :
old, from Loggan’s miniature painting. .- . . .«

The Lisragy.is, in substance,.the oldest part of
the. College, being the same which belonged:to Dur-. -
_ham Collegé, with _such altesations - as.the decay- of
time readered necessary. .It was erected;, with the
other buildings, by Thomas. Hatfield; Bishop of Dur-
ham, in the year 1370%. . Sir Thomas Pope fownd it
in a rainous: state, and repaired it for present use.
It had originally an arched roof, as -appears .by.the
window at the south end, the garrets abave, now.the -
Undergraduates Library, being of. much - later- date.
The. windows were filled with portraits of saints and
benefactors to the College, which probablywere greatly
decayed when the Founder made his purchase, and.
what was left was destroyed by .the republican sol-
diers.. About the end of the. reign of .Queen Eliza~ -
beth, new book-cases were. purchased with: part of the -
legacy of 1571. 14s. left by Dr. Edwerd Hyndmer, who
quitted - “his Fellpwshlp in 1570, when .about .to take
orders, from his’ ajtachment to the popish .religion:
In 1765, after. many attempts -to. repair the windows,
they .were taken down and replaced.as we now find
them, with ynany curious remains of ancient painted
glass. The,window, at the: upper. end contains some
beautnfulspeclmenaof. that kipd; and in the centre has
lately been placed a neat tablet by. Flaxman, to the
memory of Mr. Warton, the gift,.of bis sister Jane,
who dned last year. Over the entrance.is a portran of

* From a MS m'l'rul Coll lerary but see whnt is said of lera-
ries in Merton College, p. 10, 11. RN
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~ the Fonnder,» and under it one: of Mr. Rlchard Rands,
a Wfamw et .
-. The Fonnder was the first contnbutor of books, to
" the ameunt of nearly. one hundred volumes, manuscript
snd priated; .many -of the latter still remain in their
original-hinding. - A ¢urious manuscript of the Founder
" waa!lately. .recovered -by a member of this- Society, &
thin:olio, distinctly written, and - entitled, “ An Ex-
‘ planation of tire ‘True Catholic Faith in the ‘most
“ holy:Sacrament of Christ’s body and blood.” It was’
presented 0. Stephea Markes, one of the first Fellows,
by~Lady Pope. The- collection was afterwards en-
larged by.8lythurste and Yeldarde, the first and se-
cond.Presidents, Edward Hyndmer, above ‘mentioned,
and:Edward Hutchins, one of the. first' Scholars of the’
Founder's; appointment, his. nephew, and.one of his'
heirs. .Qf:this gentleman the following memorial ex-
ists;;onua. buttress on the south side of the College,
facing the.north side of Balliol, "“‘Jesu have M. O.
“ E. Hutchins.” Other contributors were, Thomas
Allen, .the :mathematician ; Thomas Arden, Scholar ;
Dr. Iettel, President; Thomas Rawes; Canon of
Windsor; William Lord Craven; Gentleman Com- -
‘moner; Thomas Cooper; B:D.; Richard Rands, Par-: -
son - of . Hartfield in Sussex; Sir-Edward Hoby; Dr.
Harpis,; President ;: Richard Woodhull, of Mollington
in Warwiekshire; Dr. Rulph 'Batharst, &c. The to-*
pographical eollection here is very copious. '
The CuAPEL, originally that of Durham College,
was richly :supplied by the .Founder with furniture
suitable to the religion of the times, which the Soci-
ety were long desirous of retaining, the new opinions
having at first made but slow progress in this College..
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In 1570, however, the Visitar, Bishop- Harne, a deters
mined enemy to:superstiiion, and who sesms te hays
considered every thing as superstitious wh;ch Was Ore:
mamental, wrote a-leiter to the President.and Fellows,, "
enjoining. them to_deface all. Ccrosses, .cepsersy. ““ and |
“ such lyke fylthie stuffe used in the. jdolatrous tgmw;
“ ple.”  'With this it is probable they were obliged.,
to comply, s his visits to this and other Colleggs .
under his jurisdiction were frequent and watehful,,
The windows, which he permitted .to escape, were, ac- ;
cording to Aubrey, “ admirable Gothic painted glass, ,
« Jike those at New College,” and, he thinks, “ begtgr.
In the east window, over the altar, was this ipscgip-
tion, ¢ ORATE RRa ANIMA Tuomx Pork zguimis.
“ auBAT: FuNDATORIS 18TIUs CoLLEGIL” . Bytall,
these were destroyed during the Usurpation, and this-
last inscription is said to have given particulag offence.
At the same time the organ was removed, and 2 paint-+
ing of the Descent from..the Cross defaced,...knj,this-
state the Chapel remained uatil Dr. Bathurat becamg
President, to whom the. Callege.at. large is sqhighly
indebted. for, its renovation. After pulling down- the
old Chapel, with the adjoining gateway and treasury,
and enlarging the ground-plot, he .began the present
edifice, with its tower, by laying the first stone July 9,
- 1691, and coutributed nearly 2000l with which the exy.
terior was .completed. The farniture and decorations
were defrayed from large collections which he solicited .
from many persons of high rank, who had been mem.- .
bers of this Collcge‘ .Among these we find the names

* Many of his letters on this subject occur in Warton’s Life, and ihs-
play a laudable anxiety for the welfare of the Society. His own libe-'
ral examiple must likewise have produced a very striking effect,
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of the first" Liotd Skaftesbury ; Lord Craven; Lord So-
mers ; Stratford, Bisliop of Chester’;-Mews, Bishop of
Winchester} and' maby others. The plan, it is con-
jectured “by- Mr. Wirton, ‘was furnished by Dean Al-
drich, wittr-some improvements by Sir Chrrstopher
Wren, pémcularly that of substituting vases for pin-
nacles.-~ As the style'of this Chapel bears a strong're-
semblince to-that of -All -Saints, which is known to"
-have -been - built by Dean Aldrich, there is. perhaps
little to” be'added fo Mr. Warton’s conjecture, ex--
oept to express-our surprise, that so recent B matter
should be left in"doubt. :

The most/ingenious artificers, we are told, were pro-
cured ‘to detorate this-attic edifice, in the highest per--
factién,  which; amidst’ &' multiplicity of the most
‘¢ exquisite‘embellishmerts, maintains that simple ele-
¥ gance; which is:agreeable to the character of -the
“ place, and consistent with just notions of true taste.”
Fhe delicate hend of Grinlin Gibbons supplied the
carvings' of ‘the ‘screen and altar-piece; which are of
cedar. - The painting of .the Ascension dn the ceiling’
was the work'of Reter Berchet, a Frénch artist. The
altar has beén more recently decotited by @ ‘copY of
West’s Resurrection in ‘Windsof Castle, executed in*
needle-work, and ‘présented, in 1798, by Miss Ahhea
JFanshawe, of Shiplake Hill, ‘near Henley. '

This Chapel was- fitished ‘withih ‘three years, and
consecrated by Bishop' Héugh *, April 12, 1694. ' The
monument of the Founder is placéd againit the north
wall, at the upper end ; ‘and i¥ the ante-chapel ate the
monuments of Dr, Bathurst, Dr. Sykes, Dr. Almont,

s Mr. Warton says, by mistake, Bishop Fell, who &ied in 1686.
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Dr. Dobson, Dr. Huddesford, and. Mr. Warton. - The.
Presidents Yeldard, Harris, and Potter, and Allen the
celebrated mathematlcnan, were buried in the old Cha-
pel. Of the' Founder’s tomb, Mr. Warton remarks,’
that the greatest part of jts elegant workmanship js:
" now concealed, and the effect of the whole destroyed,
by an alcove corresponding to another on the.opposite: -
side. But this is perhaps a consequence of those-
¢ just and genuine proportions of Grecian architec- -
¢ ture,” which he is pleased .to admire, and. which:
are ill adapted for the reception -of ancient monu-: -
ments. . E

The first of the twelve PrEsipENTS who have go-
verned this Society for twa centuries and a half was:
Thomas Slythurste, Canon of. \despr, who-was ap-
pointed May 30, 1556, and of whown the Founder had"
-a high opinion, on account of his learning, experience,’
prudence, and probity. He enjoyed his confidence,’
indeed, in no.common degree, and was frequently con-"
sulted by him on matters relating to the College. - Re..
fusing to embrace the new religion, he was deprived,
of his office by Queen. Elizabeth’s visitors in 1559,and
died in the Tower. of London .in 1560. Yeldard, his:
successor, was of. Cambudge, an able classical scholar,
and the first philosophy.lecturer of this College ap-
pointed by the Founder, wha, pliced his son-in-'law,'
John Beresford, under his tnitign. . He waa\dppointed
President by .the Foundress, . and remalneql, in- office -
above thirty-nine years. Dr. Ralph Kettel, Who suc-
ceeded him, has already. been. l;qemmned ag-an im-.
prover of the buildings, and was in all respects gn ex- -
cellent governor. Hijs name is yet familiar, from the
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house he built near this College in 1615, called Kettel
Hall, otiginally intended for the Cbmmeoners- of Tri-
ﬁi_fy,'at‘@vhich time it had'a communfcatior ‘with the
College. Ttis now 4 private residéndée'but duriug the
Usurpation, Wood ‘'informs us, such of the academics
& liad been famous for aeting plays in the laté King’s
timé; uséd to act plays by stealth in ‘this Hall. Dr.
Kettél was elected Scholar of Trinity at eleven years
df“dfe, nominated President by the Visitor in Feb.
1398-9,' and died in 1643, having held- this office for
forty-four years. During the Usurpation, Robert Har-
its’was dppointed President, in 1648, a man of such
candout, that Mr. Warton is of opinion a majority
of-thie loyal Fellows were permitted to remain. Dr.
Bithurst honoured his ‘memory with a long epitaph,
#hicli was in the former Chapel, and of which, Wood
#iys, he was afterwards ashamed. One William Hawes
sucéeeded him in the same interest, and, on his death,
Dr!:'Seth"Ward, afterwards Bishop of Salisbury, was
elécted, “in- défiunce. of the usurping powers, by Dr.
Bithurst and his friends; althoogh disqualified, for
be was dot a member of the ‘College. 'He resigned,
however, to Dr. Potter, who had beénejected in 1648.
His 'successors were Drs. ‘Ralph Bathurst, Thomas
- Sykes, William Dobson, George Huddesford, and Jo-
s¢ph Chapman. . Dr. Bathurst was a man of learning,
wit, and public spirit, aud a.most liberal benéfactor to
Bis College, aver which he presided forty years; but
Mr. Warton’s copious life of him, accompanied by his
Hterary remains, renders any further notice of him in
this place unnecessary. His memory mmust ever be
revered. in Trinity. College.- One of the last acts of
bis beneficence was the purchase of the advowson of’
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Oddington for this Society in 1700. He died Jan.
14, 1704y in. bis eighty-fourth year. ’
. Mr.. Wartonr gives the following list of  Bisuo»s
and other eminent men, who were either educated
at Trinity College, or lived in it while: Dr. Bathurst
was. Fellow or President: Gilbert’ Ironside, Bis
shop of Bristol; William . Lacy, Bishop of St. Da.
vid's; Herbert Skinner, Bishop of Worcester; Henry
Glemham, - Bishop of St. Asaph; Nicholas Stafford,
Bishop of Chester ; Samuel Parker, Bishop of Oxford;
Archbishop Sheldon; Selden; Chillingworth; Gelli-
brand, the mathematician; Aubrey, the -antiquary ;
Arthur Wilson, author of theLife of . James I.;
Sic Joha .Denham, poet; Sir Heury .Blouat; Sis
Jawes Harrington, suthor of the Oceana; . Der-
bam, author of the Physico-theology ;- Dr.. Baniel.
Whitby ; Mr. John Evelyn; Sir Edward Bysche, a
most learned writer on heraldry; Francis Potter, ma-
thematician; Dr. Thomas Warton, physician; Aa-
thony Farringdon, author of a series of learned ser-
mons, but better known for his acquaintance and
coonnection with Hales of Eton, and Charles Deodate,
Milton’s intimate friend.

To these we may add, George Calvert, first Lord
Baltimore ; Charles Montague, Earl of Halifax ; Lord:
Somers, the Earl of Chatham, and the second Earl
of Guildford, who during his long administration was
better known by the title of Lord North. The poets,
Lodge, Settle, Glanville, Maunning, Merrick, and
Headley; Thomas Allen, mathematician; Gill, the
‘younger, Master of St. Paul’s school; Edward Lud-.
low, the republican chief ; Sir John Ford; hydraulist ;:
HMenry Birkenhead, founder of the poetry lecture in the
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University of Oxford ; John Chamberlaine, the son of
Edward of Edmund Hall, and the continuator of his
father’s-useful histerical compilations; Dr. Edward
Cobden; Thomas Coxeter, a miscellaneous writer of
some note ; Smart Lethieullier, Esq. antiquary; Fran-
cis Wise, another excellent antiquary, keeper of the
archives, and Radcliffe librarian; and Thomas War-
ton, who will be long remembered as an ornament to
this “Cotlege, the founder of“the school of poetical
conimentators; and himself a poet of no. mear rank.
It has been eaid in snother place, that few men  have
combined so many qualities of mind; a taste for the:
sublime and the pathetic, the gay and the humorous,
the parsuits of the’ anmtiquary, and the pleasures of
amuseniént, the labours of research and the play of’
mwghiatmh y

o, . . Life of Warton, Eudich Poets, 1810, vol. xviii.

s
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THE Founders of Colleges have hitherto been emi-
nent Statesmen or Prelates, men naturally and deeply
interested in the advancement of literature and re-
ligion, whose high stations afforded them the means
of giving more effectual support to the prosperity of
" their country, and a superior tone to the sentiments
of the people. We come now to a Founder not ori-
ginally possessed of these advantages, a citizen and
merchant of London, who does not appear to have
been acquainted with the pleasures of learning, and
could know its benefits ouly by report; one, at the
same time, of a class to whom the nation is indebted
for much of its honourable character, and many bene-
volent institutions for. their existence and support.

. Sir Thomas White, the Founder of St. John’s Col-
lege, was born at Reading, in the year 1492, the son
of William White, a native of Rickmansworth, by
Mary, daughter of John Kiblewhite, of South Faw-
ley in Berkshire.

His father carried on the business of a clothier, for
some time, at Rickmansworth, but removed to Rea-
ding before our Founder was born. The former cir-
cumstance has given rise to the mistake of Fuller,
Chauncey, and Pennaut, who say that he was born at
Rickmansworth. But this was rectified by Griffin
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Higgs*, a member of this- College, and afterwards Fel-
low of Merton, in his Latin memoir of the Founder.
Hearne dppears to have been' of the same opinion®.
. He is said to have beenn educdtéd at Reading, but
probably only in' the elements of writing and arithme-
tic, as at the age of twelve he’ was apprenticed to 4
tradesman or merchant of London. His apprentice-
ship lasted ten years, during which-he behaved so well,
that his master, dt his death, left him an hundred
pounds. With this, atid the patrimony’ bequeathed' by
his father, who died in 1523, he commenced businesg
on his own #ccoutit, and in a few years rose to wealth
and horours, and became distinguished by acts of
munificence. I 1542, he gave to thé corporation of
Coventry 1000l. which- with 400l of their own was
laid out in the purchase of lands, from the rents of

. » Griffin Higgs wrote in Latin verse, ¢ Nativitas, vita, et mors D;
 Thomse White, mil. et Alderm. civit. Lond. et Fundatoris Coll. 8.’
“ Johannis Bapt. Oxon. ;" and in prose, ¢ A true and faithful relation
« of the rising and fall of Thomas Tooker, Prince of Alba Fortunata,
¢ Lord of St. Jobn’s; with thé occurrents which happeried throughout’
¢¢ his whole dominions,” Both pieces bound together in MS. are in thé
custody of the President. The latter contains verses, speeches, plays,
&c. and a description of the Christmas Prince of this College, 1607,
whom the juniors used annually to elect from its first !bundatmn which
custom prevailed likewise in other Colleges.

b For the principal part of this account of the Founder, I am in-
debted to the Rev. Charles Coates’s History of Reading:- In a fote re-
specting Sir Thomas’s birth, he says, ¢ Dr. Merrick of Reading told the’
“ late Mr. Loveday, that he remembered an old man who' used to
“ pame, as the very bouse of his birth, a bmld'mg, since taken down, in
¢ the Butter-market at Reading, upon thé' spot’ wheré ‘afterwards lived
¢ John- May, an undertaket. Dr. M. related this Avgust'90, 1929.”
My learned friend Mr. Henry Ellis has favoured me with an'gxtract froin
Hearnc’s MSS. Diaries, vol. cxxii. p. 33, by which it appears that Dr.
Merrick had made the same communication to him. ’

I 3
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which provision was made for twelve poor men, and
a sum raised to be lent to industrious young men of
Coventry. This estate in 1705 yielded 930l. yearly.

He gave also to the mayor and corporation of Bristol,

by deed, the sumn of 2000l. and the same to the town
of Leicester, to purchase estates, and raise a fund, from
which sums of money might be lent to industrious
tradesmen, not only of those but of other places speci-
fied, which were to receive the benefits of the fund in
rotation, and by the same the poor were to be relieved
in times of scarcity. These funds are now in a most
prosperous state, and judiciously admibistered.

_Sir Thomas White was Sheriff of London in 1546,
and'Lord Mayor in 1553, when he was knighted by
Queen Mary for his services in preserving the peace
of the city during the rebellion of Sir Thomas Wyatt.
Of the rest of his history, or personal character, senti-
ments, and pursuits, no particulars have been reco-
vered, except what may be inferred from his many
and wise acts of liberality. He must have been no
common man who shewed the first example of de--
voting the profits of trade to the advancement of learn-
ing. He died at Oxford, Feb. 11, 1566, in the 72d
year of his age, and was buried in the Chapel of his’
College*.

* The following Letter was addressed by him to the Society, a short
time before his death,

¢« Mr. President, with the Fellowes and Schollers,

¢ 1 have mee recommended unto you, even from the bottome of my

¢ hearte, desyringe the Holye Ghoste may bee amonge you untili the ende-
“ of the worlde, and desyringe Almightie God that every one of you
 maye love one another as brethren ; and I shall desyre you all to ap-
s plye to your learninge, aud so doinge God shall give you his blessinge
¢ both in this worlde and in the worlde to come. Aad furthermore if
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Some accounts relate, that toward the latter end of
his life he fell into extreme poverty ; a circumstance,
M. Coates observes, that seems very improbable, as,
by his will, he left 400 marks to his widow, and 3000l. -
to St. John’s, with legacies to the children of his bro-
ther Ralph, and the Merchant Taylors’ Company, of
which he was a member, to a considerable amount.

He was twice married ; first to a lady whose name
was Avisig or Avis, but whose family is unknown. She
died in 1577, without issue, and was buried with great
pomp and ceremony in the parish-church of St. Mary
Aldermanbury. His second wife was Joan, one of
the daughters and coheiresses of John Lake, of Lon-
don, Gent. the widow of Sir Ralph Warren, Knight,
twice Lord Mayor of London, by whom sh® had chil-
dren. She survived Sir Thomas, and died in 1573, and
was buried by her first husband in the church of St.
Bennet Sherehog, London.

There is a portrait of him in the town-hall of Leices-
ter, habited as Lord Mayor of London, with a gold
chain, and collar of SS. a black cap, pointed beard, his
gloves in his right hand, and on the little finger of his -
left a ring. There are similar portraits in the town-

¢ anye variaunce or strife doe arise among yon, I shall desyre you for
¢ God’s love to pacifye it as much as you maye; and that doinge I put
¢¢ noe doubt but God shall blesse everye one of you. And this shall bee
¢¢ the last letter that ever I shall sende unto you, and therefore I shall
¢¢ desyre everye one of you to take a coppye of yt for my sake. Noe-
¢ more to you at this tyme, but the Lord have you in his keeping
¢¢ untill thende of the worlde. Written the 27th of Januarye, 1566. I
¢« ‘desyre you all to praye to God for mee, that I may ende my life with
¢ patience, and that he may take mee to his mercye.
) ¢ By mee Sir Thomas White, Knighte, Alderman of London, and
" ¢ Founder of S. John's Coﬂgdge in Oxforde.”
Bb2:
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ball at Salisbury, at Reading, Merchant Taylors’, and
this College. ]

At what time he first projected the foundation of
‘a College is not known. His original intention was
to have founded it at Reading, but he relinquished
that in favour of Oxford; and on May 1, 1555, ob-s
tained a licence from Philip and Mary, empowering
him, to the praise and honour of God, the Virgin
Mary, and St. John Baptist, to found a Cqllege for.
divinity, philosophy, and the arts; the members to be
a President, thirty Scholars, graduate or non-graduate,
ot more or less, as might be appointed in the statutes;
and the site to be Bernard College, in the .parish of
St. Mary Magdalen, without the north-gate of the
city of Oxfbrd, and to be called St. John Baptist Col-
ldge in the University of Oxford.

'St. Bernard’s College was founded by Archbishop
Chichele for Scholars of the Cistercian order, who
might wish to study in Oxford, but had no place be-
longing to their order in which they could associate
together, and be relieved from the inconveniences of
separation in Halls and Inns, where they could: not
keep up their peculiar customs and statates. Oa re-
presenting this to the King, Henry VI., he granted
letters patent, dated March 20, 1437, giving the Arch-
bishop leave to erect a College to the honour of the
Virgin Mary and St. Bernard in Northgate-street, in
the parish of St. Mary Magdalen, on ground contain-
ing about five acres, which he held of the King in
capite. According to Wood, quoted by Stevens, it
was built much in the same manner as All Souls;
but the part they inbabited was only the front and
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the south side of the first court, as the Hall, &c. was
not built till 1502, nor the Chapel completed and con-
secrated ontil 1530. Their whole premises at the dis-
solution were estimated but at two acres, and to be
worth, if let to farm, only twenty shillings yearly ;
but as the change of owners was compulsory, we are
not to wonder at this undervaluation. It was granted
by Henry VIII. to Christ Church, from whence it
came to Sir Thomas White. In the Monasticon is &
list of seven Priors, the last of whom, in 1535, was
. Philip Acton. The Society was governed by a Prior,
and he and they were subordinate to the Chancellor,
who was their Visitor. Among other exercises, they
were enjoined to preach twice in Lent at the parish-
church of St. Peter in the East, which is the reason,
probably, why the Fellows of St. John's do the same.
From Christ Church, Sir Thomas White obtained
a grant of the premises, May 25, by paying twenty
shillings yearly for it; and they covenanted with him
that he should choose his first President from the
Canons or Students of Christ Church, and that after-
wards the Fellows of St. John's should choose a Pre-
sident from their own number, or from Christ Church,
to be admitted and established by the Dean and Chap-
ter, or, in their absence, by the Chancellor or Vice-
Chancellor of Oxford; and they farther wished to
covenant that the Dean and Chapter should be Vi-
sitors of the new College. With some reluctance, and
by the persuasion of his friend Alexander Belsire,
Canon of Christ Church, and first President, Sir Tho-
mas was induced to consent to these terms; but the
last article respecting the Visitor must have been with-
Bb3



" ST. JOHN'S COLLEGE.

THE Founders of Colleges have hitherto been emi-
nent Statesmen or Prelates, men naturally and deeply
interested in the advancement of literature and re-
ligion, whose high stations afforded them the means
of giving more effectual support to the prosperity of
’ thelr country, and a superior tone to the sentiments
of the people. We come now to a Founder not ori-
gmally possessed of these advantages, a citizen and
merchant of London, who does not appear to have
been acquainted with ‘the pleasures of learning, and
could know its benefits only by report; one, at the
same time, of a class to whom the nation is indebted
for much of its honourable character, and many bene-
volent institutions for. their existence and support.

. Sir Thomas White, the Founder of St. John’s Col-
lege, was born at Reading, in the year 1492, the son
of William White, a native of Rickmansworth, by
Mary, daughter of John Kiblewhite, of South Faw-
ley in Berkshire.

His father carried on the business of a clothier, for
some time, at Rickmansworth, but removed to Rea-
ding before our Founder was born. The former cir-
cumstance has given rise to the mistake of Fuller,
Chauncey, and Pennaat, who say that he was born at
Rickmansworth. But this was rectified by Griffin
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Higgs*, a member of ‘this- College, and afterwards Fel-
low of Merton, in his Latin memoir of the Foundef.
Hearne dppears to have been' of the same opinion®.
. He is snid to have beein eduédtéd at Reading, but
probably only in- the elements of writing and arithme-
tic, as at the age of twelve he’ was apprenticed to &
tradesman or merchant of London. His apprentice-
ship lasted ten years, during which-he behaved so well,
that his master, at his death, left him an hundred
pounds. With' this, atid the patrimony’ bequeathed’ by
bis father, who died in 1523, he comimenced business
on his own accouftit, aind in-a few years rose to wealth,
and honours, and bécame dlstmgmshed by acts of
munificence.  In 1542, he gave to the corporation of
Coventry 1000l. which: with 400l of their own was
laid out in the purchase of lands, from the rents of

. » Griffin Higgs wrote in Latin verse, * Nativitas, vita, et mors D;
¢ Thowse White, mil. et Alderm. civit. Lond. et Fundatoris Coll. 8.
¢ Johannis Bapt. Oxon. ;" and in prose, ¢ A true and faithful relation
« of the rising and fall of Thomas Tooker, Prince of Alba PFortunata,
< Lord of St. John’s; with thé occurreiits which happened throughout’
< his whole dominions,” Both pieces bound together in MS. are in thé
custody of the President. . The latter contains verses, speeches, plays,
&c. and a description of the Christmas Prince of this College, 1607,
whom the juniors used annually to elect from its first foundatlon which
custom prevailed likewise in other Colleges.

b For the principal part of this account of the Founder, I am in-
debted to the Rev. Charles Coates’s History of Reading.: In a fote re-
specting Sir Thomas’s birth, he says, ¢ Dr. Merrick of Reading told the’
< late Mr. Loveday, that he remembered an old man who used. to
 name, as the very house of his birth, a building; since taken down, in
¢ the Butter-market at Reading, upon thé' spdt wheré afterwards lived
¢ John- May, an undertaket. Dr.M. remd'mn-mgm’ﬁo,' 1920.”
My learnied friend Mr, Henry Ellis has favoured mé with an'extract fron
Hearne’s MSS. Diaries, vol. cxxii. p: 33, by which' it appears that Dr.
Mgrriek had made the same communication to himn '

" Bb



- 376 . ST. JOQHN’S COLLEGE.

About this time he enlarged the bounds of the Col-
-lege by the purchase of about four acres, which were
inclosed by a wall, by the benefaction of Edward
Sprot, LL. B. some time Fellow, who died Aug. 25,
1612. This is commemorated by an inscription over
.the President’s garden door, “ Edvardus Sprot, hujus
“ Coll. Socius, hunc murum suis impensis siruxit, 1613.”
It has already been noticed, that the Founder* left by
-will 3000l for the purchase of more lands. On the
17th December, 1565, the College was admitted a )
.member of the University, and the Society declared
partaker of all the privileges enjoyed by ather Col-
Jeges or Societies. In 1576 the College purchased the
ground before the gate from Sir Christopher Brome,
Kaot. lord of north-gate hundred, and inclosed it by a
dwarf wall and row of elms, some of which are still

standing.
- The BENEFACTORS to this College have been very
mumerous. Among them we find the names of seve-
ral citizens of London, as Walter Fish, Hugh Henley,
George Palm, Jeffry Elwes, Sir Robert Ducie, Alder-
man, and George Benson, all of whom gave various
sums for the better endowment of the Fellowships
and Scholarships. For the sdme purpose other sums
were given or bequeathed- by. Dr. John Case, phy-
sician; John Rixman, of Maidenhead in Berkshire;
Lady Knevet; Dr. John Buckeridge, Fellow and Pre-
sident, and afterwards Bishop of Ely; Archbishop
Laud, who left 500l. by will, besides his munificent
contributions to the buildings, which will be men-
~ tioned hereafter; Dr. Juxon, Archbishop of Canter-

% His purchase of Gloucester Hall will be noticed in our acoount of
Worcester College.
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Higgs*, a member of this: Collége, and' afterwards Pel-
low of Merton, in his Latin memoir of the Founder.
Heare dppears to have been' of the same opinion®.
. He is said to have beeir educatéd at Reading, but
probably only in' the-elements of writing and arithme-
tic, as at the age of twelve he’ was apprenticed to 4
tradesman or mierchant of Eondon. His apprentice-
ship lasted ten years, during which-he behaved so well,
that his master, at his death, left him an hundred
pounds. With this, atil the patrimony bequeathed by
bis father, who ‘died in 1528, he conimenied business
oun his own accoutit, and in a few years rose to wealth,
and honours, and became distinguished by acts’ of
munificence. - In 1542, he gave to thé corporation’ of
Coventry 1000l. which with 400l. of their own was
laid out in the purchase of lands, from the rents of

. Griffin Higgs wrote in Latin verse, ¢ Nativitas, vita, et mors D:
& Thomre White, mil. et Alderm. civit. Lond. et Fundatoris Coll. 8./
« Johahnw Bapt. Oxon. ;” and in prose, ¢ A true and faithful relation
¢ of the rising and fall of Thomas Tooker, Prince of Alba Fortunata.
< Lord of St. Jobn’s; with the occurrents which happened throughout’
¢ his whole dominions,” Both pieces bound together in MS. are in thé
custody of the President. The latter contains verses, speeches, plays,
&c. and a description of the Christmas Prince of this College, 1607,
whom the juniors used annually to elect from its first foundatnon 5 which
custom prevailed likewise in other Colleges.

b For the principal part of this account of the Founder, I am in-
debted to the Rev. Charles Coates’s History of Reading.: In a hote re-
specting Sir Thomas’s birth, he says, ¢ Dr. Merrick of Reading told the
< late Mr. Loveday, that he remembered an old man who used. to
« name, as the very house of his birth, a buildinig; sinee taken down, in
o the Birtter-market at Reading, upon thé’ spot’ where ‘afterwatds lived
¢ John- May, an undertaker,. Dr,'M. related this Avgust 90, 1920
My learned friend Mr. Henry Ellis has favoured miy with an'gxtract from
Hearne’s MSS. Diaries, vol. cxxii. p. 33, by which it appears that Dr
Merrick had made the same communication to hims ’

" Bb
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in the suburbs of Oxford; Fyfield, Berkshire; St.
Sepulchre’s, London ; Leckford, Hampshire; St. Law-
.rence, Reading; and Great Stoughton, Huntingdon :
and the Curacy of North Moor, Oxfordshire.

In 1592 the rents of this College were estimated at
400l., and in 1612 the Society consisted of one hun-
dred and twenty-eight persons. The present members
-are, a President, fifty Fellows, two Chaplains, and a
numerous choir, with Commoners, &c.

The original BUILDINGS of this College were
what belonged to the monks of St. Bernard, and con-
sisted principally of the first quadrangle, of only three
sides that were habitable. In 1597, the east side,
which contains the President’s lodgings, and rooms
for the Society, was built on the site of some irregular
and decayed tenements, at the expence of the College,
and partly with money given by Mr. Richard Barnes.
Over the common gate are the arms of the Founder,
and in a niche on the upper part of the tower is the
statue of St. Bernard. Other parts of this quadrangle,
which contains the Hall and Chapel, are decorated by.
the arms of Sir William Cordall, and of the sees of
Winchester and Canterbury, in honour of the Visitor
and of Archbishop Laud. The Kitchen and chambers
over it, at the west end of the Hall, were built by
Thomas Clark, senior Cook, in 1613, who was per-
mitted to enjoy the rent of the chambers for twenty
years; and they were enlarged by additional rooms at
the College expence in 1638.

The second quadrangle, which we enter through the
east side of the first,except the south side,in which is
the Library, was entirely built at the expence of Arch-
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bishop Laud. It was begun in July, 1631, and com-~ .
pleted in 1635, from a design furnished by Inigo
Jones, who was first employed at Oxford by Laud;
but it is to be regretted that he had not formed a plan
more independent on what may be termed common-
place ornaments. King Charles I. contributed two
hundred ton of timber from the forests of Shotover
and Stow to the completion of this quadrangle, the
east and west sides of which are built on a cloister,
supported by eight pillars, over which are busts re-
presenting the four Cardinal virtues, three Christian
graces, and Religion. In the centre of each cloister
is a spacious gateway of the Doric order, surmounted
by a semicircular pediment of the Ionic and Corin-
. thian. The statues between the columns on either
side are those of King Charles I. and his Queen, ex-
cellently designed and cast in brass. by Fanelli of
Florence. They cost 400l. and were the gift of Arch-
bishop Laud, and, according to Lord Orford, were
buried during the Rebellion. Dr. Rawlinson informs
us, that they were taken down at that unhappy period,
and ordered to be sold, but were refused because not
solid. .It is probable that some loyalist took this op-
' portunity to secrete them.

This quadrangle leads to the GARDENS, whlch after
remaining long in the stiff and unnatural taste, which
prevailed at the beginning of the last century, were
at length improved into the highly. elegant and pic-
toresque form in which we now find them. Formerly
they were divided by a wall into an inner and outer
part, and appear to have excited considerable attention
from a terras, a mount, a wilderness, and arbour, which
were, according to Salmon, the rendezvous of the
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Oxford ladies and gentlemen “ every Sunday evening
¢ in summer.” “Here,” adds this grave historian, “ we
¢ have an opportunity of seeing the whole University
¢ together almost, as well as the better sort of towns-
“ men and ladies, who seldom fail of making their
¢ appearance here at the same time, unless the weather
¢ precent them.” :

The HaLL, on the morth side of the first qea-
drangle, is that which belonged to Bernard College,
but has undergone many necessary repairs by the
Founder, and by the Society since his time. It is
now a spacious, elegant, and well-proportioned room,
with a finely arched roof, and is decorated with the
portraits of the Founder, Archbishops Laud and
Juxon, Bishop Buckeridge, Sir William Paddy, Dr.
Gibbons, Dr. Woodroffe, (Principal of Gloucester
Hall,) Dr. Holmes, Edward Waple, B. D. and a whole-
length portrait of his present Majesty, painted by
Ramsay, and bequeathed to the College by the Count-
ess Dowager of Lichfield, widow of the late Earl of
Lichfield, Chancellor of the University from 1762 to
1772. Titian’s picture of John the Baptist, the gift
of Jobn Preston, some time Fellow, (M. A. 1715,)
which formerly was over the chimney-piece, is now
removed to the Common Room, a very handsome de-
tached building in the wood-yard.

The LisrARY, on the south side of the second qua-
drangle, was built in 1596, and was completed by be-
nefactions from the Merchant Taylors’ company, and
some members of the College, Dr. Willis, Dr. Case,
and others. Before this the books were kept in one
of the old houses on the east side of the first quadran-
gle.  The collection was soon augmented by Sir Tho-
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mas Tresham, Sit William Paddy, Henry Price, Rec-

tor of Fleetmarston in Buckinghamshire, John Smith;

some time Fellow, Bishop Buckeridge, Mr. Crynes,

&c:. A Librarian was first appointed in 1608, with a’
small salary, afterwards increased by the will of Sir

William Paddy. The large bay window at the "upper
end contains the arms of the Merchant Taylors’ com- -
pany, of the Founder, and others, and a portrait of

the Founder. There are other portraits on canvas of -
Archbishop Laud, Sir James Eyre, late Chief Baron, -
&e. '

In this state the Library remained until Laud en--
larged it, and added another, which occupies the east
side of the quadrangle, a spacicus and elegant room,
which, by the disposition of the richly ornamented -
bookcases, forms a gallery. There are here some cu- -
rious paintings of the Apostles on copper, supposed
to be by Carlo Dolci, an exquisite miniature of -
Charles I. and His Queen, and a curious figure of
St. John, stained in scagliola, a composition resem-
bling and as durable as marble, done by Lambert
Gorius, and presented to the Society by the late John
Dauncan, D. D. 1750. In this Library is a valuable:
collection of manuscripts and printed books, given by
the Archbishop, and since increased by other bene- -
factors, and many specimens of natural and artificial -
curiosities, and' relics of autiquity. Dr. Rawlinson
bequeathed several books, and all his Greek, Roman, -
and English coins, not ‘given to-the Bodleian; to be
deposited here. The fine eagle, executed by Mr. .
Sunetder of Oxford, and the gift of Thomas Estcourt, -
Esq. a Gentleman Commoner, (M. A. 1778,). which -
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formerly stood in the Chapel, has lately been removed
to this Library.

In 1636, when Charles I. visited the University,
Archbishop Laud, then Chancellor, had the honour
to entertain the royal party at dinner in this room.
The King, Queen, and Prince Elector, dined at one
table across the upper end of the room, and Prince
Rupert, with the Lords and Ladies, at another, reach-
ing from one end to the other, ¢ at which all the gal-
¢ lantry and beauties of the kingdom seemed to meet.
¢ All other tables, to the number of thirteen, besides
“ the said two, were disposed in several chambers in
¢ the College, and had men and scholars appointed
¢ to attend them to theirs, and the content of all."
¢ I thank God (saith the Chancellor) I had the happi-
¢ pess” that all things were in verie good order, and
¢ that no man went out of the gates, courtier or other, -
¢ but contented, which was a happiness quite beyond
¢ expectation.” When dinner was ended, he attended
"¢ the King and Queen, together with the Nobles, into
“ several withdrawing chambers, where they enter-
“ tained themselves for the space of an hour. In the
“ mean time he caused the windows of the common
¢ Hall, or Refectory, to be shut, candles lighted, and
« gl things to be made ready for the play, which was
¢ then to begin, called, The Hospital of Lovers, made
“ for the most part (as it is said) by Mr. George
“ Wild, Fellow of St. John’s College. When these
¢ things were fitted, he gave notice to the King and -
¢ Queen, and attended them into the Hall, whither he
“ had the happiness to bring them by a way pre-
« pared from the presence* lodgings to the Hall with~

. Qu. President’s ?
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““ out any the least disturbance. He had the Hall
“ kept so fresh and cool, that there was- not any one
¢ person when the King and Queen came into it. The
¢ Princes, Nobles, and Ladies, entered the same way
¢ with the King; and then presently another door was
“ opened below, to fill the Hall with the better sort of
“ company. All being settled, the play was began
“ and acted. The plot good and the action. It was
“ merry, and without offence, and so gave a great

¢ deal of content, which I doubt cannot be said of

“ any play acted in the play-houses belonging to the

“ King and Duke since 1660. In the middle of the

¢ play, the Chancellor ordered a short banquet for the

“ King and Queen, Lords and Ladies. And the Col-.
“ lege was at that time so well furnished, as that they.
“ did not borrow any one actor from any College in

“ the University *.”

The CnaPEL was the same which belonged to the
monks of St. Bernard, and was consecrated in 1530.
The Founder repaired it in a magnificent style, and
furnished it with the religious apparatus usual before = -
the Reformation ; but, on that event taking place, he
removed the most valuable part of the plate, which,
being restored in 1602 by his niece the wife of Wil-
liam Leech, M. A. was appropriated to other purposes.
For some time, however, this Chapel appears to have
been ‘neglected, until certain benefactors contributed
to its repairs. An organ was put up in 1619, on the
north side, which Mr. Warton says he was surprised
‘should be permitted to remain during the Rebellion,
especially as it had been erected under the patronage
of the Archbishop of Canterbury, and as the Parlia-

* Wood’s Annals, vol. ii. p. 410.
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mentary visitors had ordered Sir William Paddy’s
benefaction for founding a choir to be entirely ap-
plied to the augmentation of the President’s salary.
It did remain, however, until 1768, when a new one
was built by Byfield, and in the following year placed
over the screen. Among the benefactors towards the
“repairs of the Chapel are, John Lee, some time Fel-
low, Bishop Buckeridge, Dr. William- Haywoed,
George Gwynne, Dr. John Goad, &c. The projected
altefations were not completed until the year 1678,
and then not with so much regard as could be wished
to the architectural beauty of the windows®.. About’
the' same time, the smaller Chapel on the north: side’
at the upper end, which was built, with a vault under-
neath, in 1662, by Dr. Richard Bayley, President,
was consecrated. The roof of -this last is of beautiful

Gothic work, ornamented by the arms of Laud.

. Fhe fine east window in- the principal Cliapel was
put up in the reign of James I. and is said to have'
cost 1500l. The altar-piece is a copy, in tapestry,
from Titian, of our Saviour with the twe disciples’ at
Emmaus; the figures said to be portraits of the Popé,
the Kings of France-and Spain, and Titiau. The gé-:
neral style of this Chapel is modern; the screen’ and
altar being of the Corinthian order, richly, yet simply,
ernamented. ’

Here are deposited the remains of many einineht:
men, to whom this College owes: its prosperity and'
character, particularly of the Founder, who died ‘i
the College, and of Archbishop Laud, who was first"
laid in the ground of the parish-church of Allhallows’

" s The west end of the ante-chapel is suppoied to cover many old
Drasses of great curiosity.
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Barking, by the Tower of London, with little ¢ere-
‘mony. After the Restoration, the body was removed,
and on July 24, 1668, interred here with due respect.
The body of Archbishop Juxon lies near that of
Laud, but in a separate vault; and in other parts of
the Chapel and ante-chapel are monuments or in- -
scriptions to the memory of the Presidents Huchen-
son, Bayley, Levinz, Holmes, Derham, and Dennis,
and of the benefactors, Sir William Paddy, Dr. Case,
Dr. Bernard, Henry Price, and others.

On the north wall is a black marble urn, which con-
tains the heart of that very eminent benefactor to this
College and to the University, Dr. Richard Rawlin-
son. His body was interred in St. Giles’s church,
Oxford; but he ordered that his heart should be depo-
sited here, as a mark of his affection to the College.
His first intention was to be buried in Dr. Bayley’s
Chapel, in. a leaden coffin, inclosed in one of oak, co-
vered with Russia leather, and the pall supported by
six of the senior Fellows, who were to have & guinea
each, ¢ of more use to them than the usual dismal ac-
‘ coutrements at present in use.” Butin a codicil,
he desired to be buried in St. Giles’s, where he had
purchased a piece of ground, in a decent and private
manner. It was in this curious codicil also that he
revoked his bequests in favour of the Society of Anti-
quaries, who had offended him by extending the num-
ber of their members beyond what he chose to ap-
point; and proscribed every member of that or the
Royal Society, and all natives of Scotland, Irelaund,
and the plantations- abroad, their sons, &c. from any .
advantage arising from his foundations at Oxford.

cc
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His leaving his heart to St. John’s was a subsequent
part of his will, which does not appear in the printed
copy ; as was also his request, that the head of Connsel-
lor Layer®, who was executed for high treason, should
be placed in his right hand.

Among the PRESIDENTS of this house are many
names of great celebrity in the literary world, and
not less distinguished for the judgment and liberality
with which they conducted the affairs of the Society.
The first President, Alexander Belsire, was appointed
May 29, 1555. He and his successor William Elye
were removed on account of their repugnance to the
reformed religion, and they, with William Stock and
John Robinson, were of the Founder’s election. The
celebrated Tobie Matthew, afterwards Archbishop of
York, was the fifth President, but resigned in 1577,
when he was appointed Dean of Christ Church. The
more celebrated and unfortunate Archbishop Laud
was elected the ninth President in 1611, and conti-
nued in office until 1621, when he was promoted to
the Bishopric of St. David’s. His eventful history
is well known. He was, like the Founder, a native of
Reading, and educated at the free-school there until
1589, when he was removed to this College, became a
Scholar in 1590, and Fellow in 1593, A. B. in 1594,

* < When the head of Layer was blown off from Temple Bar, it wag
¢ picked up by a gentleman in that neighbourhood, who shewed it ta
¢ some friends at a public house, under the floor of which house I have
¢ been assured it was buried. Dr. Rawlinson mean time having made
¢ enquiry after the head, with a wish to purchase it, was imposed. on
¢ with another instead of Layer's, which he preserved as a valuable re-
¢ lique, and dirécted it to be buried in hia hand.” Nichols’s Life of
Bowyer, 4to edit.
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and M. A. in 1598. In this last year he was chosen
Grammar-lecturer, and was the first, and probably
the only Divinity-lecturer, on Mrs. Maye’s foundation,
which was afterwards lost. ln 1603, he was one of
the Proctors, and proceeded B. D. in 1604, and D. D.
in 1608. He was preferred to the vicarage of Stan-
ford in Northamptonshire in 1607, and next year to
North Kilworth in Leicestershire, which, in 1609, he
exchanged for West Tilbury in Essex, that he might
be near the Bishop of Rochester, Neile, who had made
him his Chaplain; and who in 1610 gave bim the
living of Cuckstone in Kent, on which promotion he
vesigned his Fellowship, and left College. His absence,
however, was short, as he was elected President in
May, 1611, which he retained with other preferments
until chosen Bishop of St. David’s. In 1626, he was
translated to Bath and Wells, and in 1628 to London.

. In 1680, he was elected Chancellor of the Univer-
pity, and evinced his liberal spirit as a benefactor, first
at St, John’s, where he built the inuer quadrangle, &c.
and afterwards by erecting the Convocation-house,
and enriching the public Library. In 1633, he was
advanced to the Archbishopric of Canterbury. In
this high station, the share he took in public affairs,
and hjs inflexible antipathy to the principles of the
Puritans and Republicans, rendered him extremely an-
popular, and brought on a catastrophe well suited to
the temper of a turbulent age. After repeated pro-
ceedings against him in Parliament, certainly not
without feundation, but more guided by popular cla-
mour than: by justice, and aggravated by every.ape-
cies of unfair representation, a bill of attainder passed
in a very thin house. In consequence of this, he

cc?2
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was sentenced to death, which he suffered Jan. 10,
1644-5, with ‘meekness and composure. Unjustly as
this prosecution had been carried on, it must be ac-
knowledged that the spirit and zeal which he displayed
in matters of church-discipline, and which might have
been applauded a century before, were totally unsuit-
able to the times in which he lived: but, on the other
hand, it is equally evident, that his enemies were nu-
merous, resolute, and implacable, and that a more
conciliatory temper might not have frustrated the
well-concerted plans which were forming for the ruia
of the King, the Church, and the Constitution.

In his office of President, he was succeeded by his
friend Dr. William Juxon, afterwards Bishop of Lon-
don, memorable for his steady loyalty, which induced
him to accompany his royal master to the scaffold,
and receive his dying injunctions. At the Restora-
tion he was promoted to the Archbishopric of Canter-
bury ; but he was now far advanced in age, and died
in 1663. Dr. Bayley, who succeeded him as Presi-
dent, was ejected by the parliamentary visitors, who
put in, first, the celebrated Francis Cheynell®, and, se-
condly, Thankful Owen, M. A.: but at the Restora-
tion Dr. Bayley resumed his office, and built the small
Chapel, of which some account has been given. His
successors were, Peter Mews, afterwards Bishop of
Winchester ; Dr. William Levinz, a very learned phy-
sician and divine; Dr. William Delaune, Lady ‘Mar-
garet’s Professor ; Dr. William Holmes, Regius Pro-
fessor of Modern History, Dean of Exeter, and an
emineat benefactor ; Dr. William Derham; Dr. Wil-

* See Mertou College, p.21. -
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liam Walker; Dr. Thomas Fry; Dr. Samuel Dennis;
and the present President, who succeeded on the death
of Dr. Dennis in 1795.

. The most eminent of the PRELATES educated in
this College, with the exception of Sir William Dawes,
Archbishop of York, have been just noticed as Presi-
dents. Among the scholars of other ranks may be
enumerated, Campian, the celebrated Jesuit, a man of
undoubted learning, eloquence, and a most subtle dis-
_ putant :—Gregory Martin, the principal translator of
the Rhemish New Testament :—Dr. Case, the bene-
factor, and an able commentator on Aristotle :—John
Blagrave, mathematician :—Henry Briggs, also a ma-
thematician of great eminence, first Professor of Geo-
metry in Gresham College, and Savilian Professor at
Oxford :—Sir James Whitelocke, Chief Justice of the
King’s Bench, and not more eminent as a lawyer, than
as a classical scholar :—William How, botanist, and a
man of very considerable learning :—Shirley, the dra-
matic, and Gayton, the miscellaneous and humorous,
poet :—Sir Bulstrode Whitelocke, the annalist of his
unfortunate times, in which he took part with the
Parliament, and was made one of Cromwell’s Lords:
yet, although very active in the impeachmeat of Lord
Strafford, he refused to assist in the prosecution of
Laud, from whom, when at College, he had received
many favours :—Sir John Marsham, the learned chro-
nologist :—Dr. Edward Bernard, Savilian Professor, a
man of extensive learning in the Eastern languages
and literature, and an able mathematician :—William
Lowth, a very learned divine and commentator, and
father to the late learned and excellent Bishop of Lon-

cc3
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don :—Dr. William Sherard, or Sherwood, one of the
first botanists of his time, and the friend and corre<
spondent of Boerhaave, Tournefort, and Dillenius, and
a munificent benefactor to the botanical professorship
and garden:—Dillenius, the first botanical professor
on Sherard’s foundation, was connected in some re-
spect with this College, as he was admitted to the de
gree of Doctor of Physic in it; and here, in the fol-
lowing year, he had the honour of a visit from the
celebrated Linnaus:—Bevil Higgons, poet and his-
torian":—Ambrose Bonwicke, the learned Master of
Merchant Taylors’ school :—Sir William Trumbull, the
friend and correspondent of Pope, afterwards a mem-
ber of All Souls:—Dr. Robert James, an eminent phy-
sician and medical writer in London, whose name has
been rendered familiar to the public by his discovery
of a febrifuge powder :—Dr. Andrew Coltee Ducarel,
an able and learned antiquary:—Dr. John Monro,
physician, and one of Radcliffe’s travelling Fellows :—
Peter Whalley, the ingenious commentator on Shaks-
peare and Ben Jonson:—Samuel Bishop, late Mas.
ter of Merchant Taylors’ school, an amiable man, and
pleasing poet :—and Josiah Tucker, D. D. Dean of
Gloucester, and the well-known author of various ex-
cellent tracts on general politics and commerce. This
list ought not to be closed, imperfect as it is, con
sidering the number of eminent scholars of St. John’s,

* Nicholas Amhurst, the noted political and satirical writer, was ex»
pelled this College for his irregularities, 'and took his revenge by abusing
the Society in his Terrz Filius, He afterwards became a libeller by pro-
fession under the auspices of the opponents of Sir Robert Walpole,’ \vho,
when they came into power, left him to die of neglect.
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without noticing, that of the above names, Sir James

. and Sir Bulstrode Whitelocke, How, Shirley, Gayton,
Bernard, Lowth, Sherard, Bonwicke, Monro, Whal-
ley and Bishop, were educated at Merchant Taylors’
school.
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THis College owes its foundation to the zeal of
Hugh ap Rice, or Price, of whom little else is known
than that he was a native of Brecknock, and educated
in Oseney Abbey, under an uncle who was a Canon
there. He was afterwards first Prebendary of Ro-
_ chester, a Doctor of the Civil Law, and Treasurer of
St. David’s, and died in August, 1574, but where, or
where buried, seems not to be known.

He was far advanced in life when he meditated the
establishment of a College that should extend the be-
nefits of learning to the natives of Wales, not hi-
therto provided for at Oxford, and scarcely ever spe-
cified in the endowment of Scholarships and Fellow-
ships. With this benevolent intention, which gives
him a very strong claim’ to the veneration of his
countrymen, he petitioned Queen Elizabeth that she
would be pleased to found a College on which he
might bestow a certain property. Her Majesty ac-
cordingly granted a charter of foundation, dated
June 27, 1571, prescribing that the College should
be erected by the name of JEsus COLLEGE, WITH-
iN THE City AND UNIVERsiTY oF OXFORD, OF
QUEEN ELIZABETHS FOUNDATION ; the Society to
consist of a Prmclpal, eight Fellows, and eight Scho-
lars; and for their maintenance Dr. Price was per-
mitted to settle estates to the yearly value of one
hundred and sixty pounds. To this her Majesty
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added the benefaction of a quantity of timber for the
building; from her forests of Shotover and Stow. The.
Founder’s estates, which he conveyed June 30, lay in
Brecknockshire ; and he bestowed upwards of 15001,
on the building, besides leaving some money by will,
which was suffered to accumulate, and in the begin-
ning of the seventeenth century amounted to 700l

: Queen Elizabeth appointed the first members of the
Society; David Lewes, LL. D. Principal; Thomas
Huycke of Merton College, John Lloyd, John Cot-
trel of New College, William Aubre, some time of
All Souls, Robert Lougher of All Souls, all Doctors
of Laws, Robert Johnson, B. D. Thomas Huyt and
John Higgenson, Masters of Arts, to be Fellows ; and
George Downhall, Lancelot Andrews, afterwards Bi-
shop of Winchester, John Wylford, Prancis Yeomans,
William Plat, Thomas Dove, afterwards Bishop of
Peterborough, John Osmond, and William Garth,
Scholars. '

- The site on which this College is built belonged
partly to White Hall, or Aula Alba Magna, and partly
to Plumbers’ Hall, Aula Plumbea, on which last are
the stable-yard and Principal’s gardens. White Hall
was an ancient place of education for students of the
canon law, and was once attached to the priory of St.
Frideswide, but was private property when purchased
for this College, and during the building of the first
quadrangle was inhabited by the Principal and Scholars.

“In 1589, the Society procured of the Queen another
charter,dated July 7, empowering them to hold posses-
sions to the value of 200l. per annum, and to appoint
commissioners for the drawing up of statutes. In

11622, Sir Eubule Thelwall, Knight, some time Prin-.
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cipal, and a liberal benefactor to the buildings, pro-
cured from King James I. a new charter*, dated June
1. of that year, appointing commissioners to make a
perfect body of statutes, which provided, that the So-
ciety might settle the number of Fellows and Sche-.
lars as they saw cause, until the College' was able to:
maintain more, and became possessed of 600l. per an+
nwm, when the number was to be increased to. sixteen
Fellows and sixteen Scholars.

Before this, the estates of Dr.'Price had become so.
unproductive, that for some time the Fellowships were
merely titular, and the numbers of the Society de-
creased. About the period, however, when the second
charter was obtained, various benefactions adminis+
tered considerable aid, and the wise purposes of the
~ foundation were ‘gradually and amply accomplished.
Fellowships and Scholarships were successively found~
ed, on money or estates, by Dr. Griffith Lloyd, Prin-
cipal, in 1586 ; by Herbert Westphaling, Bishop of
Hereford, in 1602 ; Henry Rowlands, Bishop of Ban-
gor, in 1609; Owen Wood, Dean of Armagh; Tho-
mas Reddriche, Minister of Battley in Suffolk,in 1616 ;
Griffith Powel, Principal, in 1620; Mrs. Mary Ro-
binson of Monmouth, widow of a grocer of the city
of London; Richard Parry, Bishop of St. Asaph, in
1622; William Prichard, Rector of Ewelme, in 1623;
Oliver Lloyd, Chancellor of Hereford, in 162563 Sir
Thomas Wynne, a military officer, in 1629; Stephen
Rodway, citizen of London, 1628-29 ; Sir John Wal-
ter, Chief Baron of the Exchequer, in 1630 ; Richard

® According to one of these charters, I know not which, the Primci~
pal was to resign on marrying ; a restriction which was done away by a
late Act of Parliament. '
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Budde, the King’s Auditor of Hampshire, Wiltshire,
&c. in 1630; Lewis Owen, Serjeant of the Larder in
the court of James I.; William Thomas, mercer, and
High Sheriff of the county of Monmouth; King
Charles 1.*; David Parry, of Cardiganshire, Esq.;
William Robson, citizen and salter of London ; Thos
mas Gwynne, LL. D. Chancellor of Llandaff, in 1648;
Williamt  Backhouse, of Swallowfield in Berkshire,
Bsq. in 1661.- The places from which these Fellows
and Scholars were to be chosen are the schools of
Llyn, Bangor, Beaumaris, Carmarthenshire, diocese
of St. Asaph, Ruthen, Abergavenny, the counties of
- Penbigh; Caernarvon, Monmouth, Brecknock, Cardi-
gan, and Pembroke; and in almost every case a pre-
ference was ordered to be given to the kin of the re.
spective founders. :
" Besides these endowments, sums of money for ges
neral purposes were left by Francis Mansell, D. D.
Principal, a great benefactor to the buildings; and in
1685, Sir Leoline Jenkins, Knt. and Principal from
1661 to 1673, left estates for the augmentation of the
Printipal’s salary, and of the Fellowships and Scholar~
ships, which were now sixteen each. By his means
also the College was empowered to hold 1000l. a yeat
over their former revenue, and two new Fellowships
and two Scholarships were added. One of these
last F’ellowshlps was to be known and distinguished
by the name of the Scholar and Alumnus of King
Charles II. and the other the Scholar and Alumnus of
King James II. A third Fellowship was added by
a decree in Chancery, for the application of the re-
mainder of Sir Leoline’s personal estates. These be-

s See Fa_e(er College, p. 67.
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nefactions make up the present number of the Fel-
lowships and Scholarships of Jesus College.

In 1613, Dr. John Williams, Principal, left a sum
of money to found a Logic-lecture; and in 1623, Sir
Thomas Canon, Knt. one of his Majesty’s Justices,
and Deputy Lieutenant for the county of Pembroke,
founded a Catechetical-lecture, and a sermon, &c. in the
Chapel, on the Thursday preceding the University Act.
By the will of Edward Merrick, M. A. Treasurer of
St. David’s, who died April 24, 1713, and lefc his
whole estate to this Society, a very considerable in-
crease was made to the foundation; and by a charter
granted by George II., dated January 10, 1729, the
College was enabled to hold 500l. yearly, in addition
to their former revenues.

The LiviNes belonging to this College at present

are, the REcToRriEs of Aston Clinton, Bucking-
hamshire ; Braunston and Fortho, Northamptonshire ;
Longworth and Remenham, Berkshire; Rotherfield
Peppard, and Wigginton, Oxfordshire; N utfield,
Surry ; Scartho, Lincolnshire ; Tredington, Worcester-
shire: the VicaracEs of Shipston upon Stour, Wor-
cestershire; Holywell, Flintshire; and Llandough,
Glamorganshire : the Curacy of Cheltenham, Glou-
cestershire : and the CHAPELRY of Charleton King’s
in the same county,
" The Society now consists of a Principal, nineteen
Fellows, and eighteen Scholars, besides a considerable
number of Exhibitioners, &c. The Earl of Pembroke
is Visitor.

The BUILDINGS of this College, which consist
" principally of two quadrangles, advanced gradually.
During the lifetime of Dr. Price, little more was
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erected than the front to the street, and- part of the
south side of the first quadrangle. The remainder was
completed about the year 1625, partly by the bene-
faction of Griffith Powell, Principal from 1613 to
1620, and of other persons whose aid he solicited, and
partly by Sir Eubule Thelwall, who contributed very
liberally to the work. The east front of this qua-
drangle to the street was rebuilt in 1756. The di-
mensions of the interior are ninety feet by seventy,
and it contains the Chapel on the north, and the Hall
on the east side.

The second, or larger quadrangle, one hundred feet
by ninety, a very regular and not inelegant pile, one
story higher than the first, was begun when Dr. Man-
sell was for the first time Principal, and the south and
north sides completed in 1640, with the benefactions
of various members of the College, resident and non-
resident : but the work was so interrupted by the Re-
bellion, that he despaired of completing it, and very
honourably returned such part of the domors’ money
as had not been expended. It was, however, finished
in 1676, at the expence of Sir Leoline Jenkins. _

The' HaLL, on the east side of the first quadrangle,
was built about the year 1617, by means of various
benefactions from the Society, and with S00L. part of
Dr. Price’s legacy, but chiefly with the munificent
contribution of Sir Eubule Thelwall, who is supposed
to have expended at various times, on-this and the
other buildings, no less than 50001. This Hall, a plain,
but spacious and well-proportioned room, contains the
portraits of Queen Elizabeth, Charles I. by Vandyke,
Charles II. Sir Eubule Thelwall, when a child, with
his mother, Sir Leoline Jenkins, &c.
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- 'The LieraRry, formerly on the north side of the se-
.cond guadrangle, was begun by Sir Eubule Thelwall in
1626, and promoted by various benefactions and collee-
sions of books and manuscripts, particularly the ma-
nuscripts of Sir John Price, of Portham in Herefard-
shire, and the books of Mr. William Prichard, Dr.
Oliver Lloyd, Edward Herbert Lord Cherbury, and
Dr. Mansell. In 1639, Dr. Mansell removed this Li-
brary with a view to place it on the west side of the
quadrangle then about to be built; but the Rebels
lion prevented this design for some time, during
which the books were deposited in an upper room
over the Buttery and Kitchen. The present Library
was at, length erected in 1677, at the sole charge of Sir
Leoline Jenkins, who also left his own collection to
the College, with the exception of some law boaks,
which he bequeathed to the Library of Doctors Com~
mons, then in its infancy. In 1719, Dr. Jonathan Ed-
-wards, Principal, contributed his extensive collection
of books. This room was more recently repaired by
Six Nathanael Lloyd, some time Commener of this
College, and afterwards Fellow of All Souls. It is
now. very spacious, and, by means of a gallery along
the whole west side, has ample room for its copious
gollection®*, :
. The CaAREL, on the north side of the first quadran~

. * In the Bursary of this College is a copy of the statutes most beau-
tifally written on vellum, in imitation of printing, by Mr. Parry, of
Shipston upon_ Stour, formerly a Fellow: a corious. metal watch, pre-
sented by Charles I.: one of Queen Elizabeth’s enormous stirrups : and
- amore enormous and magnificent piece of plate, silver gilt, a capa-
s cious bowl,” the gift of the hospitable Sir Watkin Williams Wynne,
grandfather to the present Baronet. This bowl contains ten galions,
and weighs two hundred and seventy-eight ounces,
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gle, was built during the Principalship of Dr. Powell,
ohiefly by the contributions of the gentry of Wales.
The interior was furnished and decorated by Sir Eu«
bule Thelwall. It was consecrated May 28, 1621, by
Dr. John Howsen, Bishop of Oxford, after a sermon
by Thomas Prichard, the Vice-Principal; but proving
too small for the Society, it was lengthened at the east
end, at the expence of Sir Charles Williams, of Mon-
mouthshire, Knt.; and Dr. Edwards, Principal, gave a
considerable sum towards the ornamental part. It now
consists of three divisions, the ante-chapel parted by a
screen, and the body and thechancel by another screea,
which probably marks its former leagth. The style,
as usual, is that of the mixed Gothic. The roof ia
very richly finished in compartments. The subject of
the altar-piece is St. Michael overcoming the Devil, a
fine copy from Guido, presented by Thomas James,
Viscount Bulkeley.

The principal monuments in this Chapel are those
of Sir Eabule Thelwall, Dr. Mansell, Sir Leoline Jen-.
kins, Bishop Lloyd, Dr.Jonathan Edwards, Dr. Henry
Maurice, Lady Margaret's Professor, Dr. William
Jones, and the late Dr. Hoare, Principals, all of whom,
were interred here. -

Of the series of nineteen PRINCIPALS since the
foundation, David Lewes, already mentioned, was the
first, and appointed by Queen Elizabeth in 1571.
The third Principal, Francis Bevans, LL. D). formerly
Principal of New Inn Hall, was also appointed by the -
Queen, and was one of her commissioners in her se~
cond charter for the establishment of the College. A

“succession of Principals thea followed who were emin
nent benefactors to the College : John Williams, D D
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at whose election there were. only three Fellows.ip the
house, but who left. it in a far. more floprishing stage;:
Francis. Mansell, third son of Sir Francis Mansell, of
Muddlescomb in Carmarthenshire, Bart. and_kigsman
to William Earl of Pembroke, Chancallor sodaruJo-
nathan Edwards; Sir Eubule Thelwall, son of Jobn
Thelwall,.of Batharvan Park, in the county of Den-
bigh, Esq. B. A. of Trinity College, 1579, afterward.
M. A. a Counsellor at Law, Master of the Alieuation.
Office, and one of the Masters in Chancery ; he. died.
Oct. 8, 1630. In the biography of Sir Leoline Jen-.
kins, there is much which belongs to the history of
academical education, and must be peculiaxly interest
ing to the Society of which he was so valuable a:mem-
ber. He entered of this College in 1641, and con-
tinued his studies for some time after the ‘death of
Charles I. He then retired to Llantrythyd, the seat of
Sir John Aubrey, which, having been left void by ser
questration, served as a refuge to several eminent loy-
alists; among whom was Principal Mansell, who. had
been ejected by the Parliamentary visitors; Frewen,
Archbishop of York, and Sheldon, Archbishop of Can-
terbury. Jenkins was first employed as tutor to .Six
John Aubrey’s son, and afterwards educated other
young gentlemen in the pringiples of the fallen Cbrrch
of England, which, he hoped to see restored. . Such
zeal, however, was not.to be overlooked, and he was
accordingly. sent to prison, and indicted for keeping a
seminary of rebellion and sedition. In this dilemma he
was discharged by the liberal interposition of Dr., Wils
kins, Warden of Wadham, to whom he had been recom-,
mended by the celebrated J udge Jenkins, and removed
with his pupils to Oxford, in 1651, and inhabited Lit- .
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te Welel Hall, an ancient seminary in the Highs
streét. Bat om the removal of Di. Wilkins to the.
Mastesship of Trinity College, Cambridge, in 1655,.
he-: lnfa his. protector, and was obliged to- go. to the
contimennt along with his. pupils, where he continued
to instruct them from place to place. In 1658, they
returned to their respective friends, and their tutor
went to live with Sir William Whitmore, at Appley
in Shropshire. On the Restoration he returned to
Jesus College, and was chosen one of the Fellows,
created LL.D. in Feb. 1611, and elected Principal in
the following month. He was afterwards raised to the
highest offices of state, and appears to have acquitted
himself, in very critical times, with spirit and inte- -
grity. . _

Of the PreLATES educated in Jesus College, the
most eminent are, John Rider, Bishop of Killaloe,
one of our first Latin lexicographers; the learned
William Lloyd, successively Bishop of St. Asaph,
Lichfield and Coventry, and Worcester, one of the
seven of his order who were sent to the Tower of
London by King James II.; and Dr. John Wynne, Bi-
shop of St. Asgph, and father of Sir William Wynne.
The pious Archbishop Usher had his name at one time
on the books, and resided here. Among the scholars of
inferior ranks, we find David Powell, the celebrated
antiquary : —John Davies, lexicographer and anti-
quary :—Rees Prichard, a very popular Welch poet,
and Chancellgr of St. David's :—James Howell, a man
of various talents and accomplishments, and the most
miscellaneous writer of his time :—Sir Thomas Her-
bert, an eminent traveller and benefactor to the Uni-
versity :—Sir William Williams, lawyer :—The pious

nd
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Dr. Richaid Lutas:~Edward Lloyd, a very eelebrated
antiquary and botanist, afterwards Keeper of the. Ash-
molean Museum :—and the late learned divines and
and theological -writers, Dr. William Worthington,
Dt. Henry Owen, and Dr. .Iames Bandinel, tbe first

Bampton Lecturer. "
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. WADHAM COLLEGE.

'THE Founder of: this College, Nicholas Wadham,
" Esq. of Edge and Merrifield in Somersetshire, in
‘which county he was born, was a descendant of the
-ancient family of Wadhams of Devonshire*. But the
-period of his birth is not known, nor have we many
‘particulars of his personal history. According to
Wood, he was a Gentleman' Commoner either of
‘Christ Church, or Corpus Christi College, where he
-is supposed to have been admitted about the year
-1548. " He inherited an estate which he increased
40 more than 3000l. 4 year, and accumulated about
-14;0001. in money. Alarge portion of this property he
yesolyed to devote to some foundation of public utility.
His first intention is said to have been to found a
College at Venice for such Englishmen of the Roman
Catholic persuasion as might wish' to enjoy their edu-
"cation énd religion, now no longer tolerated in Eng-
‘land. From this it may be inferred that he was him-
self attached to popery; but his adherence could not
be inflexible, as he was soon persuaded by his friend,
-Mr. Crange, to erect & College in Oxford, in imita-
-tioa of the others, where the established religion was
“mow cultivated with zeal®. "And as he died before this
* Of whom see Prince’s Devonshire, and Nichols's Leicestershire,
‘grt. CATHERSTON, ' ’ ) )
- His, or rather his wife’s, appointing that the Warden should not
be roarried, may be thought a part of the old persuasion ; but it must be
pd2
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design could be carried into execution, he, bequeathed
the management of it to his wife, Dorothy, the da\lgh-
. ter of Sir William Petre, Secretary of State, who has
so often occurred as a benefactor to this University.
This lady, assisted by trustees, and with a zeal pro-
portioned to her husband’s spirited design, completed
the necessary purchases, buildings, and endowment.
‘She survived her husband nine years, died May 16,
1618, aged 84, and was buried with her husband in
the north transept of the church of Ilminster ip. Seo-
mersetshire, under a stately monument of alabaatey,
on, which are their figures on brass plates; hpt the
whole is consnderably decayed. o L s
Mrs. Wadham first endeavqured tp purchase t})g,mc
.of Gloucester Hall; but Dr. Hawley, then Principa),
refusing to give up his interest in that propesty,
unless she would appoint him_ her, first Goverper.qr
Warden, she declined the condition, and madg..psa-
posals to the city of Oxford, for the site of ,the, priory.
of Austin Friars. A e -
~ This was once a place of grea.t fama in the Univer-
sity, and may be traced tp very high antiquity. In
the year 1251, Pope Innocent IV. granted a power
to the Fnars Eremites . of St. Aus;m, . travel. intp
any countries, build mopas;enes, and ;.gkhmtp .di-
remembered, that the marriage of the clergy was:oab of the 1sst changes
of opinion to which the nation was esmpletely regoneiled. Queen Eliza-
_beth was always agamst it, and we have alread found that it was pro-
hibited by the statirtes of Jesus College. A more ridiculous reason has
been traditionally assigued for Mrs. Dorothy Wadham’s injufietion
against marriage : she is said €o have been refused by the.first Warden,;

but she was at this time seventy. -five years old, which renders ﬂ\u story
hghly xm[rrobable, - ]
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vine service.” With this permission they first esta-
blished a house in London, but deputed some of their
number to go to Oxford, where they hired an obscure
house near the Publi¢ Schools. Acquiring some re--
putation for their skill in philosophy and divinity, or
at least what were then so 'called, they attracted the
attention of Sir John Handlove, or Handlow, of Bur-
stall in- Buckinghamshire, a very opulent gentleman,
who purchased for them a piece of ground, enlarged
afterwards by a gift from Henry III. On this they
built a house and chapel in a sumptuous form, and
held schools for divinity and philosophy of such repu-
tation, that, before the Divinity-school wes bujlt, the
University Acts were kept, and the exercises in arts
were performed, in this place. It was in particular en-
joined, that every Bachelor of Arts should once in each
year dispute, and once answer, at this house ; and this
continted until the dissolution, when the disputations
were removed to St. Mary’s, and afterwards to the
Schools.

- Their church appears to have been a magnificent
and spacious edificé, the choir sixty paces, and the
pave sixty-six in length, and the breadth about forty;
and-Sir John Handlow, the Founder, and other emi-
nent behefactors, were buried here, but their remains
and monuments were afterwards removed to Water
Perry.ia Oxfordshire,

“After the dissolution, the premises were let on a
leasé of twenty.one years, at 3l. yearly, to Thomas
Carwarden, .or Cardon, Esq. whe appears to have de-
molished the whole; and carried off the materials. In
1552, King Edward VI. sold the site to Henry Duke
of Suffolk, and Thomas Duport, Gentleman, who al-

pds
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most immediately conveyed it to Hetiry Baylie, M. D.-
formerly a Fellow of New College, for forty«five shil:
lings yearly. In 1558, Baylie sold it to his fathes-inw-
law, Edward Freere, of Oxford, Esq. who left it to his
son William, by whom, ia 1587, it was again sold to:
the Mayor, Bailiffs, and Commonalty of Oxford, for
the principal sum of 4501.

In 1609, Mrs. Wadham made ptoposals to she city
for the purchase of this site, which after many consult-
ations was agreed to*, with- this condition, that they:
thight have the first nomination of one Fellow and two.
Scholars of the new College. This being agreed to,
the site was conveyed to Mrs. Wadham, May 29,
1610, for the sum of 6060l. Of the old priory nothing
at this time remained except parts of the walls, which
were immediately removed, and the foundation-stone
of the College laid July 31. On this occasion, she
Vice-Chancellor, Doctors, Proctors, &c. came in pro-:
cession from- St. Mary’s. church, and met the Mayor
and Aldermen on the spot. Dr. Ryves, Warden of
New College, delivered an oration in praise of the
Founders, and the first stone was then laid on the east:
part, where the Chapel now stands. ;

The King’s licence, bearing date Dec. 20, 1611, em-:
powered the Foundress to found a College for the
studies of divinity, canon and civil law, physio; the
arts and sciences, and classical languages ; the Society.
to consist of a Warden, sixteen Fellows, and thirty
Scholars, ;gradaate or not graduate, or more or less,
as the statutes might prescribe. The Act.of Parlia-
mhent for the confirmation of Wadham College was

* By their sale to Mrs. Wadham, the clty was relxeved from a fa.lr, or
fairs, held before the public gate of the ptiory
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passpd on the 1Gth of Aagust, 1612. The statutes of
the; Foundress, thus eonfirmed, specified the College

to.be for a Warden, fifteen Fellows, fifteen $cholars,

two. Chaplains, two Clerks, with College seryaats,

The Warden was to:.be a native of Great Britain,

Master of Arts at least, and to be incapacitated from

holding his situation, either if he married, or was pro-

moted.to a Bishopric; but the condition respecting

marpiage was annulled by Act of Parliament, July, .
1806. The Fellows, afier completing eighteen years

fram the expiration of their regency, are to vacete

sheir Fellowships. The Scholars, from whom the Fel-

Jows are to be chosen, are to be three of the county

of Somerset, three of Essex, and the rest of agy other

-couaty in Great Britain,

The first election was made by the Foundress, Apml
409, 1613, on which occasion she nominated Robest
Wiright, D, D. Warden; William Smyth, John Pits,
Edward Brounker, Joha Goodsidge, and James Har-
xiggton, Masters of Asts, Dapiel Escote, Humphrey
Sidenham, Richard Paleston, Francis Strode, Ralph
Flexney, Thomas Harrys, and William Payton, Ba-
chelors of Arts, and John Swadell, Undergraduate,
Fellows ; Nicholes . Brewyn, Robert Ellis, Amias
Hext, John Wolley, William Armold, Robert Araold,
Whalter Stonehouse, William Boswell, John Willis,
John Flavell, Richard Tapper, Alexander Huish,
George Hill, Iseac Smyth, and William Potter, Scho-
lass. Of these Thomas Harrys, Issac Smyth, aud
William Potter, were appainted by the. Corporstion,
aoccording te the agregment before mentioned. The
Warden was afterwards admitted, ia St, Mary's, by
the Vice-Chanocellor sad Heads. of Howses; the Fel-

pd4
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design could be carried into execution, he, bequeathed
the management of it to his wife, Dorothy, the daygh-
. ter of Sir William Petre, Secretary of State, who has
so often occurred as a benefactor to this University.
This lady, assisted by trustees, and with a zeal pro-
portioned to her husband’s spirited design, completed
the necessary purchases, buildings, and endowment.
‘She survived her husband nine years, died May 16,
1618, aged 84, and was buried with her husband in
the north transept of the church of Ilminster in Se-
on. which are theu' ﬁgures on brass plq.,tes,_hut the
whole is cousxderably decayed. i g E
Mrs. Wadham first endeavouted t.o purchase t))p,,mg
of G]oucester Hall; but Dr. Hawley, then Principal,
refusing to give up his interest in that propesty,
.unless she would appoint him her. first Goverpor.qr
Warden, she declined the condition, and madg. pra-
'posals to the city of Oxford, for the site of the, priery.
of Austin Friars. Trver
This was once a place of grea.t faum iu the Univer-
sity, and may be traced to very high antiquity. In
the year 1251, Pope Innocent IV. granted a power
to the Frmrs Ereml,tes .of St. Austm,l to. travel. into
any countries, bmld monas;enes, and celehxqt,e di-

remembered that the marriage of the clerg‘yw oAk of the 1ait changes
of opinion to which the nation was epmpletely regopeiled. Queen- Eliza-
_beth was always agamst it, and we have already found that it was pro-
hibited by the statites of Jesus College. A more ridiculous reason has
been traditionally assigned for Mrs. Dorothy Wadham's' injofietion
against marriage : she is said to have been refused by the first Warden.;

but she was at this time seventy-five years old, which renders this story
blghly nmprobable, )



WADHAM COLLEGE. 405

vine ‘service.” With this permission they first esta-
blished a house in London, but deputed some of their
number to go to Oxford, where they hired.an obscure
house near the Publi¢c Schools. Acquiring some re--
putation for their skill in philosophy and divinity, or
at least what were then so called, they attracted the
attention of Sir John Handlove, or Handlow, of Bur-
stall in- Buckinghamshire, a very opulent gentleman,
who purchased for them a piece of ground, enlarged
afterwards by a gift from Henry III. On this they
built a house and chapel in a sumptuous form, and
held schools for divinity and philosophy of such repu-
tation, that, before the Divinity-school wgs bujlt, the
University Acts were kept, and the exercises in arts
were performed, in this place. It was in particular en-
joined, that every Bachelor of Arts should once in each
year dispute, and once answer, at this house ; and this
continved until the dissolution, when the disputations
were removed to St. Mary’s, and afterwards to the
Schools.
- Their church appears to have been a magnificent
and sphcious edificé, thé choir sixty paces, and the
nave sixty-six in length, and the breadth about forty;
and-Sir Johri Handlow, the Founder, and other emi-
nent benefactors, were buried here, but their remains
and monuments were afterwards removed to Water
Perry.in Oxfordshire, : :
“After- the dissolution; the premises were let on a
leasé of twenty-one years, at 3l. yearly, to Thomas
Carwarden,,or Cardon, Esq. who appears to have de-
molished the whole; and carried off the materials. In
1552, King Edward VI. sold the site to Henry Duke
of Suffolk, and Thomas Duport, Gentleman, who al-
pds
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most immediately conveyed it to Henry Baylie, M. D.-
formerly a Fellow of New College, for fortysfive shil«:
lings yearly. 1In 1558, Baylie sold it to his fatbersin«-
law, Edward Freers, of Oxford, Esq. who left it to his
son William, by whom, ia 1587, it was again sold to-
the Mayor, Bailiffs, and Commonalty of Oxford, for
the principal sum of 4501

- In 1609, Mrs. Wadham ‘made proposals to the city
for the purchase of this site, which after many consult-
ations was agreet to*, with- this condition, that they
thight have the first nomination of one Fellow and two
Scholars of the new College. This being agreed ¢o,
the site was conveyed to Mrs. Wadham, May 29,
1610, for the sum of 600l. Of the old priory nothing
at this time remained except parts of the walls, which
were immediately removed, and the foundition-stone
of the College laid July 31. On this occasion, the
Vice-Chancellor, Doctors, Proctors, &c. came in pro-:
cession from-St. Mary’s. church, and met the Mayor
and Aldermen on the spot. Dr. Ryves, Warden of:
New College, delivered an oration in praise of the
Founders, and the first stone was then laid on the east:
part, where the Chapel now stands. ~

_The King’s licence, bearing date Dec. 20, 1611, em-:
powered the Foundress to found a College for the
stadies of divinity, canon and civil law, physic, the
arts and sciences, and classical languages ; the Society.
tb consist of a Warden, sixteen Fellows, and thirty
Scholars, ;graduate or not graduate, or more or less,
as the statates might:prescribe. The Act. of Parlia-
thent for the confirmation of Wadham College was

* By their sale to Mrs. Wadham, the clty was relieved from a fau', or
fairs, held before the public gate of the pﬁory
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passed on the 1Gth. of Angust, 1612. The statutes of
the, Foundress, thus eonfirmed, specified the College

to.be for a Warden, fifieen Fellows, fifteen Scholars,

two. Chaplsins, two Clerks, with College seryants.

The Warden was to:be a native of Great Britain,

Master of Arts at least, and to be incapacitated from

holding his situation, either if he married, or was pro-

moted.to a Bishopric; but the condition respecting

marriage was annulled by Act of Pardiament, July, .
1806. The Fellows, afier completing eighteen years

fram the expiration of their regency, are to vacgte

their Fellowships. The Scholars, from whom the Fei-

Jows are to be chosen, are to be three of the county

of Somerset, three of Essex, and the rest of gy other

couaty in Great Britain, ,

The first election was made by the Foundress, Apnl
90, 1613, on which occasion she nominated Robert
Wright, D. D. Warden; William Smyth, John Pitts,
Edward Brounker, Joha Goodridge, and James Haz-
riggton, Masters of Arts, Daniel Escote, Humphrey
Sidenham, Richard Paleston, Frencis Strode, Ralph
Flexney, Thomas Harrys, and William Payton, Ba-
chelors of Arts, and John Swadell, Undergraduate,
Fellows ; Nicholes . Brewyn, Robert Ellis, Amias
Hext, Jobn Wolley, William Amold, Robert Araold,
Walter Stonehbouse, William Baswell, John Willis,
John Flavell, Richard Tapper, Alexander Huish,
George Hill, Issac Smyth, and William Potter, Sche-
lars. Of these Thomas Harrys, Issac Smyth, aud
William Petter, were appainted by the. Corporstion,
aoccording te the sgreement before mentioned. The
Warden was afterwards admitted, ia.St, Mary's, by
the Vice-Chanoellor sad Heads of Howses; the Fel-
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Jows, bim: thoCollepeHally: by thé Watdet!; andvhid/
‘Seholats)dn theosaine place; Hy~thoWardest dndl Bal-
lowsd o Fhe kst Chaplains:iwere' Thonvas : Randolphes
and:(llbert BiokespMastets of ‘Asts. -The: Foundoess:
cmuued to- mmmmuhe Wardens as long as- she!
Tived. Ao ot 3.
- The ﬁrst benefnctmv WA John “Goodridge, M. AI®
‘sama sime Fellow of this Gollege, afterwards Warden!
".ofs Trinity NHospital, - Greeawich, and +Professer --of.
‘Rhetorie: in: Greshany College, who, in11654, gave am’
‘estate -and memey, which he ordered:vo be dividedron
‘four Bakibitioners; three:Scholars, the. Moderatornin!
Divinity, the Crtechist,; &e.+ The learned Humphrey
“HodyyeRegius Professor of Greek, and Archdeason.ef*
Oxford, who died in 1706, founded ten Bxhibitiors of
30); now -increased~to:-15]. each, four for students! of:
":Hebrew, and six for students of Greek, who are e&~
-agriined every term by the Regius Professors iof :He~
‘btow and~Greek. .Lord Wyndham, Baron Wyntlbam
ofolrgia¥,:and Lerd Chaacellor of Ireland from 392y
‘toyiagtwho died-in 1745, gave 2000k of which 1560F
-waswathe appsbpriated  to. the. increase:of the-Ward
.dow’s)salary, and.the remsinder: to the repairs of sthe
- Collegec 1 Au. Exhibition of 1gl. was founded:by. Sa-
muel Lisle, D). 1; Warden, who wad promoted tei the
Rishoprio vof: /Bt Asaph,-and. afterwards -to thatTof
No¥wich.. dw17%5, & botanical Exhibition was foonded
- by Richasd \Waener, Esq. who'will occur. Weresfter s
ashanofantor tathe Library; andlother Exhibitions
have been founded by Sis.Benjamin : Maddox," the
Rev, Henry Pigott, B. D. and Dr. James Gerard
famedy Wakdenps >0 w0 oo m A
* 4Bukckhie: snost mumﬁoant benefacter was: the latq
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" Wrwden, Dr.Jokn Wills, 'who! died -in. 1806, and be-
queathed the following legnoies, subject to the legacy
tadaio400L. a -year din addition toithe: Wandénship ;
1060l. to improve the Warden’s ‘lodgings; two' Exhie
bitions of 100l. each to two Fellows, students or pruo-
titioners in law or medicine ; and.two Exhibitionsof
20l. guch to two Scholars, studeats: in the' same facal-
tiedgaléo 201, yearly to.a Divinity-decturer.in the Col
lege, 40 wead lectures ‘on -the Thirty-unine Articles - to
one superannuated Fellow, not having property of his:
owrhto the amount of -751. yearly; an annual Exhibis
tion-of 74l ;: 10 sue other supersmnuated. Fellow, not-
having ;property of hie jown 4o the :amount of :100.,
50l. per annum; 11l. 10s. to a preacher for: four sere
mons: -annually in the College Chapel ; 5. or 6l. value
‘in buoks, yearly, to the: best reader. -of lessons in the
Chapel; -interest of money arising from the sale of an* .
esthtetin -Lincolnshire, to the - Vice-Chancelor: for the
time -being ; 8600l to the -Bodleian librariany 20001
to'be divided: between the Theatre and the Clarendon
Press; and 10001, three per cents. to the Infirmaty.
The'residue of his fortune, after some legacies to very’
distat relations, &c. he'bequeathed ds a fund to ac-
cumulate for the purchase of livings for the College.

- The Bishop of Bath and Wells fs the Visitor.

“Thet Livines. of Wadham :are the Recronizs of

'Fsyuning,,"alim Friarn Ingh or-Ginge Hospital,  Est
'sex ;-and - Maperton, . Somersetshire 5:and’ the Vicar-
-aeBs of Hockleigh;- Essex:;: Sdutlwopp, Gloncester-
-shire ;- and Wadhurst; Sussox o o

‘ ' ‘ T

The BUILDINGS of tlns College, which have all

-the beauty of -upiformity, gpacious proportions, and
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codvenience, are comprised in an extensive quadeaw-
gle wbout one hundred and thirty feet square, of mo+
dere Gdthic, which we eater through a gate under.s
tawer. Three sidesof this quadrangle contain chams
bers for the Soocicty end the Warden's. lodgings, eud
on the east side sre the Hall and Chapel. -The: Lis
brary aad Chapel, extendiag eastward, form two sides
of ma inner or gardem court. The portico- in the
centrs of the east side of the great quadrangle is we.
namented by the royal arms in sculpture, and statues
of James 1. and of Nicholas and Dorothy Wadham,
she former in armour, holding a model of the Cellege
is his hand ; and between them is the follomng iar
scri puon : : P
’ AN, poa. 1618. Apx. 20. TR e
SUB AUSPICINS R. JACOBL .

BOSPES, 4 JoE

GUAM VIDES DOMUM MUSIS NUNCUPATAM PONENDAMN:): '
_ MANDABAT NICHOLAUS WADHAM SOMERSETENGIS . 1

i ARMIGER. VERUM JLLE YATO PREBKPTUS DOROTHES (
. . HONJUBT PERFICIENDAM LEGABAT. ILLA INCYNGFANTER

. DPRFRCIT, MAGNIFICBQUE SUMPTIBUS SUI§ APXIT
TU SUWB J’ATER ADSIS PROPITIUS, TUOO,UB MUNERI ADD&_S
OUBSUHUS PB!PBTUITATBM )

To tbe wmh in the front of the College is ab\uld-
"ing of three stories, erected in 1694, whig¢h. s in-
“habited by some members of the Society. Awother
-on the north side appears 1o have been intended, and
-is engraven in the Oxford Almanack for 1738, but
was never begun. The expence of building this Col-
lege is recorded ‘in a manuscript folio of about two
‘hundred ‘end fifty pages, in which every article is
distinctly laid down. By this it appears, thet the ex-
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penoe: of building was 10816l. 7s. 8d. and the sum
total, including the Kitchen furniture. and College.
plate, 11360l. The whole of this expence was-defrayed
by the Foundress, withowt any eid whatever. At the
same period, or nearly, the building of the new qua«
drangle et Merton College, and the public Schools,
went on, and the same architect is said to have been
employed on those, and on this College. If so, we
are enabled to -reeord the name of Thomas Holt of
York, who was, according to Heame, the, architect of
the Schools. -

- The HaLw, one. of the langest in- Lhe Umversuy,
s a .finely proportioned and elegant ropm, of se-
venty feet by thirty-five, and contains the portraits
of Nicholas and Dorothy Wadham ; Sir Joha Strange~
ways; John Goodridge; Joha Lord Lovelace, by La«
voon; Chief Justice John Pratt; the late learned
James Harris, Esq. given by his son Lord Malms-
bury; Arthur Onslow, the celebrated Speaker of the
Heouse of Commons, by Hudson ; George I.; William
II1.; Dr. Bisse, founder of the Library ; Dr. and Mrs,
Hody ; and the Wardens, Wright, Bishop of Bristol;
Smith; Wilkins, Bishop of Chester; Blaunford, Bie
shop: of Worcester; Ironside, Bishop of Hereford ;
Duaster ;- Baker, Bishop of Norwich; Lisle, Bishop
of Norwich ; and Wills; the latter a very fine picture
by Hoppwer.. In the large and .beagtiful window at
the upper end of this. Hall are two small portraits of
Charles I. and: his. Queen, the sama with those as
Magdalen College..

In the Common Room is a portraxt of Dr. Wllkms,
and another of an old female servant of the College!
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whodivedsto themge. of -one- burndied' and’ twehdy:
piintedvand-presented by Sonmap. = "t it 0 U
AStrmidye heresBez noticed; thav! théte aré engraved
plades of the' Fewnder and ‘Fotidress, #hdotwg ém<
Bossad ioredals, redgraved in Petry’s; Snelling’s, and
CGbmie's .« English' Medals, 7and! -fatedly ehgraved: 'fOi'
Mir[¥icholss History of Lilseshershire. 1~ ~
.. Tha:Lisaanysis aivery spadious room, fifty-five
feen by - thirty p with- naow Gethié  widows, except:
the poble:lone at »the upper: end; which contains twb
smalliportraitsief she'Pounder and Foandress. Amongr
the fiystrocontributors 166 the vollection was Philip
Bitgty I2. Dy Alrohdeacow:of Tautitén, who gave his
poisdterdibrary: of two thousand volumes, valued -at
76612 3 The Library and “its “fund-iwere : afterward¢
amgmented by various centributions. Rir William Gov
“delphid’ pave many books in .the Spanish lahguage,
whick-he eollected while he:was employed’ in thé
énibasay to Spsinc  Richard Warner, Esy.‘a -membet
of>thg College, who-died in. 1775, Béguenthed 4 very
valwsble -collectiomiof printd amd: books, chiefly of
natural- histoty; - botany, aud: Eaglish poetry, and*
founded ' botanieq] -Exhibition; as -alresdy -noficed.’
This - gentleman ‘was!bred.to the: Jawyand for somi
time had chamberi-in:fLitreoln’s Inn ; but being. pos--
sessed-of an ample fortune, retired to Woodford Greet; -
Bssex, where he mainteitred 8 'botdnioal garden; and was
very-suocessful in the cokivationof rarerexoties. - e
was not less- distinguishedfer-polite ledttiing; and pdiv’
tmnlaﬂy his crmcahknowkdge of Sbakspiea#e, of whove

’ ' h; Wpod's Colleges, publmhed by Mr Gutch, we have 17001, whxch
#s uiterly improbable, Dr. Bme died in 1613,
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works he collected every edition, with every treative
respecting his favourite berd, all which:are now:im this
Library. Ia 1768, he.pullished: a letses to Gmrriek,
with whom he was, .wary-intimateyoomeerniug’ a glas-
sacy tq Shakspeare, which he prejegted, and nontinued
t0.BUgIRERS $0. they Mstdays of hidifess SashuelBush;
M. A. Vicar of ,Wndhwtst; in Suseeld, whoo diéd !
1783,. was another, liberal pbenefactor ta this: Libreky,
which -now ponteing many eanly. printed . booksyyanda
good gpllection of sheologisalk warks randiclassics; toi-
gether with Franchs, Kialisn,and: Sptieh diserasgréscs
+aef CHAREL s an elegant adifice; sesentyl feet’
long . by, thivky, ivith &' noble estewtiapel, at right’
angles, with _the;. cholr, eighty . feet. by - thirty-five.,
The.fine east. windom-is filled. with: painting of great'
mer, sepresepting:. the Ristory.iof our Saviour: ju
types.apdi their: aecomplishments, from the. Oldiqud
New Testament executed: by. Bernard Vaa Linge:in
Uigfaokt Wav. given- by Sir. Jelin Strangewnys.s. b
the. logex-. compartiments of. the'!windows are figuteb
of , thq-Apostles,, Prophessn &c. 1these: ot  the! right:
side, daged. 16163, -are.supposed; tarbive. been.: paintod:
by, Van Lingey hut.the othersi aje ‘probably of .ataver
age.. . A, 1the eass. end:of the- Chapel is.a.paigting,'
if .it. may be.;po gallad, on.cloth) whigh s esteethedia -
curiosityyand..iw thua deaexibed.. . ¢ The:.cloth, of-an
“.gsh,gelowr, seryes foo.the, mediumy the livesvand:
“ ghades ave-done wish,e,brewn crayon; snd the lights:
“ and " heighening - with.e: white.ane... These dryion
“ lours. being;-presaed with hot, irdrs; which produce
“ an exsudation from the cloth .are 50, .incorpgraged

* Palteney’s Historical and Botaticil ﬁeeénes, HHd NHARL Eife
of Bowyer.

N R L Cwever T s
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“ into ity “texture and substance, that they are proof
% against & brush, or even the harshest touth.” - The
subject ‘of the front is the Lord’s Supper; on- the
north side are Abraham and Melchisedeck ; and:on
the south the Children of Israel gathering Manna:
This was the performance of Isaac Fuller, and still
retains some portion of effect, althoﬂgh the ﬁgom
dre becoming indistinet.

: "Phis~ Chapel was completed, dnd consecrated to St
N:cholas, April 29, 1613, before the Heads of Houses,
Doctors, &c. by Dr. John Bridges, Bishop of Oxford.
In 1677 it was repaired, and paved with black and
white marble, at the expence of the Collegei: The
monument of Sir John Portmen is the only éne now
in the inner chapel, but the ante-chapel contains mo-
numents and tablets to the memory of many &mﬂn-
guished members of the Society. :

The GarpENs of this College are laid out in tl\e
modern taste, and are inferior only to those of St
John’s.

" The first three WAnnnNs, Robert Wright, Joh
Flemming, and William Smyth, were ‘appointed: by
the Poundress. Wright resigned -on his marriage, and
was afterwards promoted to the Bishopric of Bristol:
- Flemming died in office, and was buried in the Cha-
pel: and Smyth resigned in 1635. John Pytt, B. D.
the fifth Warden, was ejected by the Parliamentary
visitors, and was succeeded, on the same usurped au-
thority, by John Wilkins, M. A. afterwards Bishop
‘of Chester, an able divine and philosopher. Although
attached at this time to the Parliament, he had the
inclination as well as the power to prevent much of
the violence that was meditated in the University
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agaiait the. loynlists. Having married the widowed
sister of Oliver Cromwell, he obtained considerable
influence with -him, and, among other favours, a dis-
pensation to hold his Wardenship, notwithstanding
his marriage. By Sprat’s- History we ‘learn, that
~ the Royal Society. originated in this College from
slow beginnings, and that its meetings were held in
an upper room over the gateway from 1652 to 1650,
when Dr. Wilkins went to- Cambridge as Master of
Trinity:College.. He appears to have taken a very
active part in the establishment of the- Society ; and
among his coadjutors at this time were Mr. Seth Ward,
Mr. Boyle, Sir William Petty, Mr. Matthew Wren,
Dr. Wallis, Dr. Goddard, Dr. Bathurst, Sir Christo-
pher Wren, Mr. Rooke, and others. Nor must it be
omitted, that, when this Society was afterwards esta-
blished at Gresham College, a branch of it was con-
tinaed atOxaford; and the original Society-books of
this' Oxford department are still preserved in the
Ashmolean Museum, where their - assemblies were
held®. The seventh and eighth Wardens, Dr. Walter
Blandford and Dr. Gilbert Ironside, resigned,and
were afterwards promoted to the:Episcopal bench.
Other PRELATES were originally admitted or after-
wards incorporated into this College, as the celebrated
John Gauden, Bishop of Worcester, Seth Ward, of
Salisbury, Thomas Sprat, of Rochester, and Samuel
Parker, of Oxford.

Amongst the other eminent members of this So-
ciety we find the names of T. Creech, the edltor and
translator of Lucretius: —Wllham Walsh, the poet :—
Dr. J. Trapp, Professor of Poetry :—Thomas Baker,

* Warton’s Life of Bathurst, p, 44,45. .
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an able mathematioign :—8Si¢ C. Sediey :~Wilmatt;
Earl of Rochester :—The celobsnted Admiml Blake :—
Dr. J. Mayow, M. D. a physician, whe is suid .
bave been acquainted with the mpst walushle pastef
our  modera discoverids respecting air: —Fhe: very.
learned Dr. Humphrey kiedy, already noticed among
the benefactors:—Sir Christopher Wren, the moau-:
ments of whose vast powers will be long couteppleted
by admiring ages :—Axsthur Onslow, for many Parie~
ments Speaker of the House of Commons:—Lesl
Chief Justice Pratt :—George Costard, a learmed lim--
guist and astronomical writer :—James Harnis, uan-
ally styled the Philosopher of Salisbury, & mia of
profound learning, taste, and critical acumem :<-
Floyer Sydenham, the translator of Plato:—Br. Kes-
nicott, the collator of the Hebrew MSS. of the Qid.
Testament :—John Richardson; author of the Persias:
Dictionary :—George Anderson, who translated the.
Arenarius of Archimedes :—and the late Dr. Willinin:
Aansten, well known as. an eminent physician, snd s
man of science. It may be added, that the. famous.
Dr. Richard Beatley of Cambridge becime a member
. of Wadham College in 1669.
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o I?EMBROKE COLLEGE

THIS College was founded, in the eaﬂy part of the
weventeeath century, on the site of Broadgates Hall,
‘9.very ancient seminary for students of the-civil -and*
#opon law. . It originally belonged to the: priory of
St. Frideswide, and, as Wood thinks, was the place
-where-their novices received their. first education. In
the twelfth century, we find it held by the family of
‘Segrims, and for a long time was known by the name
of Segrim, or, corruptly, Segreve Hall. It afterwards
received the name of Broadgates from the wide form
_ &f itaentrance, aula cum latea porta, or, aula late por-
“densis®, At.the dissolution of the religious houses, it
wae given by Henry VIIL to Christ Church, its rent
~ then being valued at only thirteen shillings and four«
" penea; but it sppears to have been before this one-of
the .purchases which Cardinal Wolsey dttached to hii
intended College. '

© Wood’s list of the Pnncxpa]s of thls Hall is con-
fessedly imperfect. The only names he has been able
to recover are those of Brian Hygden, in 1503, after-
wards Dean of York, and one of the benefactors to
Brasen Nose College; John Story, LL.B. 1537, an
eminent civilian, but one of Bonner’s most implacable

. Accordmg to Fuller, there was an ancient proverb, ¢ Send Verdin-
¢ gales to Broadgates in Oxford,” in ridicule of a bulky and inconve-
nient dress, which obliged the ladies to enter doors of a common width
sideways. Fuller's Worthiey.

Ee
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agents, and afterwards executed for high treason ;
Thomas Yonge, in 1542, Archbishop of York; Ro-
bert Weston, 1546, afterwards Chancellor of Ireland,
and, according to Camden, a man of great integrity
in office ; Thomas Randolph, 1549, who was a skilful
negociator, and employed in several important embas-
sies to Scotland, Russia, aud France; George Sll.lll;
‘master, 1506 ; and, lastly, Dr. Jobn Buddea, 1618, far-

- merly Principal of New Inn Hall, Philosophy Reader
of Magdalen College, the biographer of its Founder,
and Regius Professor of Civil Lauw. He died at Broad-
gates Hall, June 11, 1620, and was buned in the chan-
cel of St. Aldate’s church,

The new foundation took place a few years after
this, ia consequence of the bequest of Thomas Tes-
dale, Esq. This gentleman was a native of Standford
Dingley in Berkshire, where he was born, October,
1547, and educated at the free-school of Abingdom,”
founded by Johu Royse, citicen and mercer of Lon-
don, in 1563. He married Maud, daughter of Edward
Little of Abingdon®, and became 8 dealer in malt, by
which he gained a very comsiderable fortune. Ia 1569
he was chosen Common Councilman of Abisgdoa,
in 1571 on¢ of the Bailiffs, in 1577 Goveraar of the
Hospital, in 1580 Pricipal Burgess, and in 1581 Mayor
of that ancient Corporatien. He removed afterwards
to Glympton, near Woodstock in Oxfordshize, where
he traded in wool, tillage, adl grazing, and begame 2
‘benefactor 1o this place .as well as to Abingdon. He
died at Glympton, June 18, 1610, aged sixty-three,
and wbs buried in the chancel of that church, with a

-The mrpﬁonmhermnnmtmdn,m she was born at
Henley on Thames.
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costly. monument, and inscription, in which he is com-
memorated as f.a man, in the judgment of aj]l men
# that knew him, in the whole course of his lifs, reli-
t gious towards Ged, sober and honest in bis conver-
¢ sation, just and upright in his dealings amongst
4 men, bountiful in hospitality, liberally beneficial to
¢ Balliol College in yOxford, to the. free-school a1
« Abingdon, charitable te the poor, loving and-kind
4 to his wife, as also to his and her kindred.” - His
wife, who suryived him six years, and is interred in
the same place, is praised for her charity to the paor
of Glympton, Charlbury, and Ascot, and for her con-
tribution to St. Mary’s church, Oxford. - In 1704 this
monument was repaired at the expence of Pembroke
" College.

Mz, Tesdale having bequeathed five thousand pounds
to purchase estates for the maintenance of certain Fel-
lows. and. Scholars. from the free-school of Abingdon
in .any of the Colleges of Oxford, Dr. Abbot, Arch-
bishop of Canterbury, and the other trustees, intended
at first to place this foundation in Balliol College,
which occasioned the notice in Tesdale’s monumental
imscription, probably written soon after his death.
That design, however, not having been completed®,
they determined to found a new. College on the site

* The Corporation of Abingdon emrgd u;w tenns with Balliol Col-
lege, and the bargain proceeded so far, that 3001 of Tesdale’s money
was given to the College, and Ceesar’s lodgings (see p. 54.) were built
with that sum and the addition of 40}. and were to be the residence of
Tesgale’s Scholass. But about this time the sgasonable aid of Wight-
wick’s bounty induced the Carporation of Abingdan to alter their pus-
pose, and found a new College; and as Balliol was unable to Tepay
the money, Dr. Abbot, the A.rchbnhop of Cauterbury, genercusly ad~
wanced tln whole,

Eeg
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of Broadgates Hall, and in the mean time estates
were purchased for the endowment in Berkshire and
Wiltshire. The plan was likewise assisted by a second -
benefactor, Richard Wightwick, B. D. some time of
Balliol College, and afterwards Rector of East Ildes-
ley in Berkshire, who engaged to make over some
estates in aid of the endowment.

The Corporation of Abingdon next petitioned the
King that he would constitute a College within Broad-
gates Hall, and on the site, circuit, and precinct there-
of, to consist of a Master, Fellows, and Scholars, and
that he would grant to the said Master and Fellows
the usual powers to receive and hold estates for their
maintenance. Accordingly his Majesty, by letters
patent, dated June 22, 1624, granted, that within the
said Hall of Broadgates there should be a perpetunal
College of divinity, civil and canon law, arts, medi-
cine, and other sciences; that it should consist of one
Master, or Governor, ten Fellows, and ten Scholars,

“graduate or not, or mare or less; according to the fu-
ture statutes ; that the said College should be known
by the name of The Master, Fellows, and Scholars, of
the College of Pembroke, in the University of, Oxford, of
the foundation of K. James, at the cost and charges of

' Thomas Tesdale and Richard Wightwick. The first Sa-

ciety was appointed by the King, and consisted of
Thomas Clayton, M. D. Regius Professor of Ph)"sic, :

' Master; Thomas Goodwyn, Robert Payne, Chris-

topher Tesdale, Nicholas Coxeter, Charles Sagar,

Thomas Westley, Henry Wightwick, John Price,

William Lyford, and William Griffith, Fellows; and

Johin Lee, William Reade, Francis Dringe, Richard.

Allen, John Bowles, Jobn Gra.ce, Thomas Millington,
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Humphrey Gwyn, Richard Kirfoate, and George
‘Griffith, Scholars.” The Society were permitted to
hold estates to- the value of 700l. yearly, and "the
Master and Scholars immediately. took possession,
with the usual cerembonies, before the Vice-Chancel-
lor, Dr. Prideaux, the Proctors, &c. and the Corpora-
tion of Abingdon.

Accordmg to the language of the day, Kmo' James
1. was ‘denominated the FounpeRr, the Earl of Pem-
broke, GopraTnERr, and Tesdale and Wightwick,
Foster-Farners. William Herbert, Earl of. Pem-
broke, whose character is one of Lord Clarendon’s finest
sketches, was at this time Chancellor of the Univer-
sity. .To this office he succeeded on the resignation
of Lord Ellesmere in 1616, and held it until his death
in 1630. His interest is said to have been liberally
employed in the establishment of this College.

- Archbishop Abbot, the Earl of Pembroke, the Vice-
Chancellor, Sir John Bennet, Sir Eubule Thelwall, the
Master of the College, Walter Darell, Esq. Recorder
of Abingdon, and Richard Wightwick, Clerk, or any
four of them, were appointed to draw up the statutes,
which were finished about four years after. Accord-
ing to these, of Tesdale’s seven Fellows, who were all
to study divinity, four were to be of his kindred ; and
his six Scholars were to be elected from the free-
scheol of Abingdon, two from his poorer kindred, if
any such could be found, or, if not, from his poorer
kindred of any other school, and the other four from
the poorer natives of Abingdon, and the scholars of
William Bennet, Esq. educated in the same school.
Wightwick’s foundation, upon-an estate of 100l. per
annum, was for the maintenance of three Fellows and
EeS
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four Scholars, two of each of his kindied, wherever
born, and the rest of Abingdon school. The election
of ‘bath foundations was fixed for the Mouday after
‘the first Sunday in August, and the right of electiod
vested in the Master of the College, two of Tesdale’s
senior Fellows, the Master of Christ’s hospitdl at
Abingdon, two of the senior Governors, and ‘the
Schoolmaster of the sclwol.
The Fellowships and Scholarships of this Collegé
~ were afterwards increased in number, or value, by Ju-
liana Stafford, wife of Alexander Stafford, of High
Holborn in Middlesex, Gentleman, in 1628; King
Charles I. who gave the patronage of St. Aldate's
church, and a Fellowship for the natives of Jersey
snd Guernsey, in 1636; Francis Rouse, B. A. of this
house, and Provost of Eton during the Usurpation
Sir John Bennet, K. B. afterwards Lord Ossulstony
grandson to the Founder Tesdale, and some time
Géntleman Commoner here, who founded two Fel-
lowships and two Bcholarships in 1672; George
Townsend, of Rowell in Gloucestershire, Esq. who, in
1683, founded ‘¢ight Exhibitions for Scholars from the
granimar-schools ‘of Gloucester, Cheltenham, Camden,
and North Leach; George Morley, Bishop of Win-
chester, who died in 1684, gave five Exhibitions, threé
for natives of Jersey, and two of Guernsey ; and Lady
Elicabeth Holford foanded two Exhibitions by will,
dated 1717. This Lady will occur hereafter as a be-
nefactress to Worcester®, The last benefactor was Sir
Jobn Philtips, Bart. who, in 1749, founded one Fel-
lowship and ome Scholarship, and gave ‘the united
livings of Haroldstone and Lambstone in Pembroke-

® See also Christ Church, p. 307.
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shiré, to Be posséssed by the Fellow of his founda<
tion, '

- The LiviNgs of this College, besides those already
mentioned, are the Recrorigs of Ringshall in Suf.
folk, and Coln St. Denys in Glouncestershire; these
two have beén purchased with money left for that
purpose by Mr. James Phipps: and the Sinecurz
of All Hallows, Wallingford, Berkshire. In 1612 the
Society consisted of one hundred and thirty-one pere
sons. The numbers now are, a Master®, fourteea
Fellows, thirty Scholars and Exhibitioners, besides
Gentlemen Commoners, &c. The Chancellor of the
University is the Visitor. ' .

The BUILDINGS of Broadgates Hall formed an
irregular collection, consisting, besides the Hall, of
various tenements, called, Cambye’s lodgings, Abing-
don chambers, and New College lodgings. Cambye’s
lodgings were so called from John Cambye, who, in
1517, beld them of the Prior of St, Frideswide, and at
that time furnished them for the use of the Scholars

" of Broadgates. In 1596, Principal Summaster rebuilt
them, and in 1626 they were sold to the Master and
Fellows of Pembroke College; and on them the Mas-
ter's lodgings were etected in 1695, chiefly at the ex-

- pence of John Hell, D. D. then Master, and Bishop

of Bristol. .

Minott, Mine, or Mignott Hall, on the west side of

Cambye’s lodgings, wus amother part of the premises,

fitted up for the students of Broadgates, by Principal

, * To whose office ;, Prebend of Gloucester was annexed by Queen
Aune, June 8, 1714, at the same time that a Prebend of Rochester was
annexed to the Provoitship ef Oriel.

Ec4
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Summaster, and was conveyed to Pembroke. Collége
in 1629. Near it also stood Durham, or St. Michael’s
Hall, 'and St. James’s Hall, the former of which is now
part of the buildings on the right hand, as we pass
into the Fellows’ garden, and St. James’s Hall was
formed into chambers. Beef Hall, or Aula Bovina, a
seminary for the study of the law, of high antiquity,
Wild’s Entry, and Wolstan or Dunstan Hall, both ha-
bitations for clerks, were added by purchase, but have
little else in their history that is interesting. Abing-
don chambers belonged anciently to the monks of
Abingdon, and the tenement called New College cham-
bers to that College. .

Soon after the foundation of Pembroke College,
these buildings falling into decay, the south and west
sides of the present quadrangle, and a portion of the
east, were ‘built as they now stand, with part of the
money bequeathed or given By the Founders. The
remainder of the east side and the front were com-
‘pleted before. 1673, towards which contributions were
‘made by Sir John Bennet, James Howard, jun. Comp-
troller of the Mint, and John Morris, a citizen of Lon-
‘don. This front, however, with the gate, were ndt
quite completed before the year 1694.

‘The HALL is the same that belonged to Broadgates,
but the upper transverse end was added by Dr. Clay-
ton, the first Master. It contains some very fine por-

“traits of the Founders, of Charles I. Bishop Morley,
Lord Ossulston, Bishop Hall, Dr. Slocock, &¢. and a
bust of Dr. Johnson, by Bacon, given by the late Sa-
muel Whitbread, Esq.

The Lirary of this College was formerly kept
in a large room over the south aisle of St. Aldate’s
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chirch. This had been anciently a. civil law school;
and had a collection of baoks on that science, for the
use of the scholars of Broadgates and the other Halls
adjoining ; but they were dispersed or lost in the reign
of Edward VI. Dr. Clayton, first. Master, Witliam
Gardinef, of Linton, Sir Robert Hanson, of London,
Knt. and Dr. John Wall, Rector.of St. Aldate’s, and
afterwards Canon of Christ Church, were among the -
earliest contributors of books; but when, in 1709, Dr.
_ Hall, Master, bequeathed his collection, it became. ne-
cessary to remove the Library to its present situation
over the Hall. - . ) : : .
Before the erection of thé present CnAPr.L, thxs qo»
ciety performed divine service in the south aisle of St.
Aldate’s church. In 1728, a new edifice began ta be
erected on part of the gardens on the west side of the
College, principally at the expence of Bartholomew
Tipping, Esq. of Oxford. It was cansecrated July 10,
1732, by Dr. John Potter, Bishop of Ozxford, after a
sermon by Matthew Panting, D. D. then Master. [t is
a small but elegant building of the Ionic order, richly
ornamented ; the altar-piece, a copy, by Cranke, from
Rubens’s picture at Antwerp of our Saviour after his
* Resurrection, presented by Dr. Jdseph Plymley, of -
Longnor in Shropshire,
The first of the series of MAsTERS of thls College
was Thomas Clayton, M. D. admitted August 5, 1624.
“In the same year he was elected first Anatomy Pro-
fessor of the foundation of Richard Tomkins, Esq.
He died June 10, 1647. "In his professarship he was
‘succeeded by his son, afterwards Sir Thomas Clayton,
and Warden of Merton College. The second Master
was Henry Wightwick, B. D. probably a relation of
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the co-founder, who had the misfortuhe to be twice
removed from his office, first by the Parliamentary
visitors, and again in 1664, for improper conduet, by
order of the Chancellor. John Hall, his successor, was
Rector of St. Aldate’s, Lady Margaret’s Professor of
Divinity, and Bishop of Bristol. He held the Master.
ship and Rectory of St. Aldaté’s in commendam, until his
death in 1709. His successors here were, Drs. Colwell
Brickenden, Matthew Panting, John Radcliffe, Wil
liam Adams, William Sergrove, and John Smith. Dr.
Adams, a man of polite manners, and extensive leamn-
ing, and an able controversial writer, will be long
more particularly remembered as the friend of Dr
Johnson, with whom he once studied in this College,
and whose last days he frequently cheered by his hos-
pitality. The present Master is the eleventh from the
foundation. '

Among the PreLaTES educated here, some have
already been noticed as members of Broadgates Hall,
or as benefactors. And to them may be added, Philip
Repingdon, Bishep of Lincoln in 1405, and Cardinal
in 1408 ; Edmund Bonner, Bishop of London, justly
surnamed the Bloody; the late learned and eminent
biblical critic, Dr. William Newcome, Archbishop
of Armagh; and the late Archbishop of Canterbury,
Dr. John Moore.

In enumerating a few-of the distinguished metnbers
. of other classes, it may be noticed, that the celebrated

historian and antiguary, Camden, studied here for some
tithe after he left Magdalen College, and before he
went to Christ Charch. But Pembroke may more
entirely claim Sir Thomas Browne, author of the Re-
ligio Medici, &c. ;—Carew, Earl of Totness, a gallant
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commander, and patron of literature, and historian of
the wars of Ireland:—Sir James Dyer, Chief Justice
of the King’s Bench :—David Baker, Roman Catholic
ecclesiastical historian :—end Pym, the noted patriot.
Among the scholars of more recent times are, that
very celebrated ornament to the University of Oxford,
Judge Biackstone, who was first educated here®:—
Philip Morant, antiquary and historian of Essex:—
George Whitfield, the celebrated founder of the ses
cond or Calvinistic division of the Methodists, who
eiteréd ‘a8 a Servitor here from the Crypt-school
of Gloucester :=~Dr. Darell, afterwards Principal of
Hertford College:—The late eccenttic John Hender
son :—and the poets Southem, Shenstone, and Graves,
and Mr. Hawkins, Poetry Professor. Dr. Samuel
Johmson has aiready beea incidentally noticed. This
illastrious scholar was entered a Cothmoner, Oct. 81,
1728. His apartment-was that upon the second floor
over the gateway, a residence which his admirers wiil
contemplate with veneration, and be sensible of that
Jocal emotion which he has dignified by ome of the
most splendid passages in his writings".

» See All Souls, p. 189. .

b ¢ To abstract the mind from all local emotion would be impossible,
¢ if it were endeavoured, and would be foolish, if it were possible. What-
« ever withdraws us from the power of our senses, whatever makes the
% past, ‘the distant, or the future, predominate over the present, ad-
“ vances us in the dignity of thinking belngs. Far from me and from my
“ friends be such frigid philosophy, as would conduct us, indifferent
« and unmoved, over any ground which has been dignified by wisdom,
¢ bravery, or virtue,” Journey to the Western Yslands. Few places,
it may be added, afford sach ample scope to the indulgence of local
emotion as Oxford. .
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(G LOUCESTER Hall, afterwards St. John Baptist's
‘Hall, and now Worcester College,"was one of.the
most ancient houses belonging to the Benedictines at
the time of the dissolution. Before they possessed it,
it was the residence of Gilbert Clare, Earl of Glou-
cester, in 1260, who was heir of Robert Hayman, first
Earl of Gloucester; and his arms, in Wood’s time,
were in the window of the Hall. Not long after this,
it belonged to the Hospitallers of St. John of ‘Jerusa-
lem; and from them; or from the Carmelite friars, who
first resided in this neighbourhood; it came to John
Giffard, Baron of Brimsfield, who in 1283 converted
it into a seminary for the monks of Gloucester. Here
they studied phllosophy and theology, and took their
degrees in the manner used in other places of learning
in the Umversxty ~
The advantage of possessing such a school appear-
ing obvious to other abbies of the order of Benedic-
tines, they solicited the abbot and convent of St.
Peter’s Gloucester to enlarge their premises; with
‘which request they complied, and Giffard their founder
gave them ground for the purpose in Stockwell-street;
and the several habitations of the students were dis--
tinguished by arms and rebuses cut in  stone over
their respective doors, some of which are still visible
on the old buildings ; one of them, on the last house
westward, is a comb and a fun, with the letter W over
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it, which is supposed to mean William Compton,
benefactor.

The abbies which sent monks hither, besldes St.
Peter’s Gloucester, were Glastonbury, St. Alban’s, Ta-
vistock, Burton, Chertsey, Coventry, Evesham, Eyns-
ham, St. Edmundbury, Winchcombe, Abbotsbary,
Michelney, Malmsbury, Rachester, Norwich, Stokes,
and St. Neot's, and others. They lived under the go-
vernment of a Prior, who was at first chosen by the
Founder and his heirs, and afterwards by.the Students.
Among.their eminent men are enumerated, Thomas
‘Walsingham, and Thomas Winchcombe, historians,
and John Whethamsted, Abbot of St. Alban’s, one of
the principal benefactors, who built,. or nchly fur-
nished, the Chapel and Library.

At the dissolution in 33 Henry VIIL. it was given
to John Glin, and John James, and valued at 26s. 8d.
but on making Oxford a see, it was allotted as a'man-
sion for the Bishops, and as such was inhabited by
bishop Robert King, while the see was at Oseney.
After his death it remained in the crown until the se-
cond year of Queen Elizabeth, when she granted it to
 one William Doddington, in fee. In: the same year,
1559, it was purchased of Doddington by ‘Sir Tho-
mas White, and made a Hall, for the use of St.John’s
College, which he had founded, and then it became
known by -the name of St. Jobn Baptist’s Hall*. In
this .state the buildings, although decayed, remained
for a considerable time, except the Chapel and Li-
brary, both of which had been demolished at the dis-

* According to Wood, however, both in his History, Annals, and
Athens, the name of Gloucester Hall was retained in writings, &c.
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solntion, and were now repaired by Sir Thoamas Whits.
At the same time he settled a Principal, who was to
be ané of the Fellows of St. John's, and an hondred
Scholars, some of whom were maintained at their
awa charges, but the greater part by his libérality.
They took possessian, and dined for the first time
in .the: public Refectory, which belonged to the
monks; an, St. John Baptist’s day, 156Q. Some years
afterwards the patronage; with that of other Halls,
was vested in Rabert Dudley, Chancellor of the Uni-
. versity, and bis sucoessars, who bestowed it upon the .
students of other houses; and the succession of Princi-
pals continued until the beginning of the last eetituny,
when a new foupdation took place. '
The merit of this rests with Sir Thomas Cookes,
of Beauey Pauncefort, in the parish of Tardebigg, in
Woreestesshire, Bart. and lord of the manor of ‘Nor.
grove, in the parish of Feckenham, who died in 1708,
gnd was buried in a chancel built on purpose in the
old church of Tardebigg. By his will, dated June
8, 1701, he bequeathed the sum of 10,000l. “in the
# disposal and management of the Archbishop of
“ Canterbury, the Bishops of Worcester, Oxford,
¢ Lichfield and Coventry, and Gloucester, the Vice:
¢ Chancellor, and all the Heads of the Colleges and
% Halls in the University of Oxford, for the time
“ being; for the erecting and building an orma-
% mental pile of building in Oxford, and thereto
 adding, rgising, creating, or endowing such and so
“ many Scholars’ places and Fellowships, as they
¢ should ‘think the product or yearly revenue of
# that smm of 10,000l and the lands therewith par-
¢ chased, would support and maintain; or otherwise,
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“ for the adding to, creating, or raising, or eadowing
“ such other College or Hall in Oxford, with such
“ and so many Fellowships and Scholars’ places, as
“ they should think most fit and convenient; with pre-
¢¢ ference to such asare bred and educated at his schools
“ of Bromsgrove and Feckenham, in the county of
“ Worcester, as for their leaming should be thought
¢ fit for the University, and such of them principally
“as should be of -his relations; and for want of
“ fit boys in those schools, then such boys ap are
“ bred in and educated at the free,schools .in Wor.
¢ cester, Hartlebury, and Kidderminster, and other
“ free-schools in the county of Worcester.” He also
appointed the Bishops of Worcester and. Oxford, and
the Vice-Chancellor of the University of Oxford, for
the time being, and their successors for ever, to be
especial Visitors ; but this last .appointment was afters
wasls modified.
- Some years elapsed before it .was determined to
which of the above purposes this money should be ap-
plied, and in the mean time it accomulated to the
principal sum of 15,000l. Gloucester Hall being at
length chosen, the trustees under the will purehased it
of St. John’s College, and Queen Anne granted her
royal letters patent, dated July 14, 1714, for erect-
ing it into a College, by the name of Tur Pro-
vosT, FELLOWS, ANP SCHOLARS, o WORCESTER
CoLLEGE, 1¥ THE UNi1VERsSITY oF Oxforp. Adbout
the same time a charter of iacorporation was obtained,
some adjacent ground purchased .as & proper site
for the inteuded buildings, and a body of optntet '
formed.

The first members of Womesm College weie,
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Richard Blechynden, LL. D. last Principal of Glou-
cester Hall, Provost; Roger Bourchier of Gloucester
Hall, ‘Thoas Clynier of All Souls College, Robert
Burd of St. John’s, afterwards M. D. William Brad-
ley of New Inn Hull, Joséph Penn of Wadham, and
Samuel Creswicke of Pembroke, Fellows. .
The first benefactor to this new establishment was
Mrs. Margaret Alcorne, widow, of St. Giles’s, Oxford,
‘who,:in 1717, bequeathed one half of her estates, real
and personal ; but as it was proved that she had only
a life-interest in the former, the College obtained but
a moiety of her personal property, amounting to 798l
which, by a decree of the court of Chancery, was or-
dered to be expended on the new buildings. In the
same year, Lady Elizabeth Holford, the widow of Sir
William Holford, of Welham in Leicestershire, Bart.
already mentioned as a benefactress to Christ Church
and Pembroke, founded two Exhibitions here ofg@0l.
each for eight years, to be enjoyed by Charter-hoase
scholars. -In 1726, Dr. Jawes Fynney, a Fellow of
St. John’s, and Rector of Long Newton in Durham,
&c. bequeathed. 25001. for the foundation of two Fel-
lowships and two Scholarships, the former of 40l. and
the latter of 10l. 'yearly, for students from the Moor-
lands, in Staffordshire, or the county in general, or
the Bishopric of Durham. - He died March 10, 1726;
but, in consequence of a tedious litigation by his heirs,
“his benefaction was not finally established by a de-
cree in Chancery until Jan. 25, 1788. George Clarke,
D.C. L. already noticed as a liberal benefactor to the
* College of All Souls, &c. bequeathed to Worcester
College his estates at Purton and Hill Marton in
Wiltshire, for tae foundation of six Fellowships of
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451. each, and three Scholarships of 251. each, yearly.
The Scholars to be born of English parents, within the
provinces of Canterbury and York. This endowment
took place May 7, 1759, when the new buildings were
completed, and the election fell upon Messrs. Moore of
‘Worcester, Skinner of Pembroke, Brickerden of Tri-
nity, Gyles of Worcester, Ravenhill 'of Brasen Nose,-
and .Phillips of New College, to' be Feéllows; and
Bennet of Christ Church, Mynton of Worcester, and
Campbell of Oriel, to be Scholars. -~ |~

. In 1789, Mrs. Sarah Eaton, daughter “of Byrom
Eaton, D. D. Principal of Gloacester Hall, bequeathed
freehold estates at Piddington and Rhode in North-' |
amptonshire, and leasehold estates at Walkeringham'
in Nottinghanishire, and Tulwell, Gloacestershire, for
the endowment of six Fellowshxps and five Scholar-
ships, confined to the sons of clergymen only. Dr:
William Gower, Provost, who died in 1777, be-
queathed the sum of 3500l. Old South Sea Annuities,
and the reversion of an estate at Bransford, near the:
city of Worcester, for general purposes. Sir Thomas
Cooke’s Fellowships were increased in value, in 1745,
by the benefaction of 1000l left by Mr. Thomas Chet-
tle, of ‘the city of London, merchant, and brother to
William Chettle, one. of the first Scholars. His in-
tention was, that this principal sum should be divided
among the Fellows then in College; but they, with
a manly. and disinterested spirit that cannot be too-
highly praised, agreed to lay the whole out in an estate:
for the benefit of their successors. To these miay be
added an Exhibition of 30l. a year, left by a Mr. Kay,
for a native of Yorkshire.

Of the ancient state of the Society of Glouncester

¥f
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or St. John Baptist's Hall, a few particulars yet ré
main to be noticed. In 1612, the number of mem-
bers was sixty-two; during the Rebellion it suffered
like the other Colleges and Halls; but. from 1675 to

1678, not one Scholar was matriculated in it, and in
1678 it was inhabited only by the Principal and his
family, and a few other families, who. were permitted
to occupy the rooms to keep them in. decent order.
At this time, Wood informs us, * the paths were
« grown over with grass, and the way into the Hall
‘ and Chapel made up with boards.” Wood was told,
that before:the. war, in Diggory Wheare’s time, there
were an hundred students; and some of them persons
‘of quality ; bat after the Restoration he adds, that he
never knew abowe fourteen in the house, - !

. The present Society consists of a Provost, tweaty-one
Fellows, sixteen Scholgrs, &c. . The Visitor isithe Chan-
cellor of the University: . The, Livixas of Waorcester
College are, the REcToriks of Whitfield; Northamp-
tonghire ; Nyend Selars, Shropshire ; Winford, Somer-
setshire ; Tadmarton, Oxfo:dshlre, Hogston, Backing-
hamshire:and theV:c ARAGEOf Denchworth, Berks!m'e

‘The BUILDINGS of Worcesater Cq‘llege cbnsist
at present of the Library, Hall, and Chapel, in.the
centre ; on the north, an elegaut pile of buildimg,. the:
north-west corner of which is the Provost’s lodgings,:
and the rest the apartments of the Fellows:and Scho-
lars on Dr. Clarke’s and Mrs. Eaton’s foundations.
The south side is still occupied by the old buildings
which belonged to Gloucester Hall, and which are in-.
tended to be rebuilt, to correspond with Dr. Clarke’s,
as soon as the funds of the Society will permit.
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 very considerable. The plan of the new chambers, in-
deed, was etmrely his - own, as he found that the: plan
in Williams’s Oxonia, and which he ﬁut preferred
was too extensive for the ground.

The CuareL is an-edifice of the same dxmenslom
with the Hall, elegant and simple, without- any orna-
ment, except a roof beautifully stuccoed in compart-
ments of various figures,

The list of PriNcipaLs extends from William
Stock, B. D. .appointed by Sir Thomas White -in
1560, to Richard Blechynden, LL.D. who was the
twelfth and last, and the first ProvosT of Worcester
College ; ‘in which office e was succeeded by Drs.
Gower, Shefficld, and the présent Provost. Degory
or Diggory Wheare, Principal from 1626-to his.death
in 1647, was a man of extensive learning, first Cam-
den Professor of History, and thesfirst who attempted
‘to give a method to the study of history. He was
originally of Broadgates Hall, and afterwards of Exe-
ter College, where he has already been noticed*. Dr.
Benjamin Woodroffe, the eleventh Principal, was an-
other person of considerable eminence, a native of
Oxford, Student of Christ Church, Lecturer of the
Temple, Canon of Christ Church, &c. Wood informs
us, that he accepted the.Principalship. of Gloucester
Hall at a time (1692) when his predecessor, Dr..By-
rom Eaton, resolved to resign, if he could find a per-
son ‘who was likely to revive the fame of the Hall.
This Dr. Woodroffe undertook, and, besides his ex-
emplary attention to learning and discipline, bestowed
several hundred pounds ou the buildings,. which in-
duced many promising young men . to. resort to.it.

T

* Exeter College; p. 75. - * B
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He died in 1711, and was baried in the parish-church
of St. Bartholomew Exchange, London, of which he
was then Rector. A

Before the Reformation, we have the names of
three Bismors educated in Gloucester Hall; John
Langdon, Bishop of Rochester, 1422 ; Thomas Myl-
-ling, 'of Hereford, 1474 ; and Anthony Kitchin, alias
‘Dunstan, of Llandaff, 1545, who had been Prior, but
lived to the reign of Queen Elizabeth, and acknow-
ledged her supremacy. .

In the same Hall were educated, or some time re-
-sided, the celebrated and eccentric traveller, Thomas
-Coryate :—Dr. John Budden, afterwards of Magdalen
.College, and Principal of New Inn Hall and of Broad-
-gates :—Thomas Allen, the mathematician, and, ac-
cotding to his funeral oration by, Burton, ¢ the very
"¢ goul and sum of all the mathematicians of his
¢ time :"—Richard Lovelace, poet and loyalist ;—and
the learned Sir Kenelm Digby.

: rfé
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HERT or Hart:Hall, on which part of this College
is built, is of considerable antiquity. It was conveyed
sbout the beginning of the reign of Edward I. by
Henry Punchard, of Oxford, butcher, to Joan the
-wife of Nicholas de Stocwell, and from her it came
.to John de Hanketon, and afterwards to Walter de
:Grendon, mercer. From Walter Grendon, about the
-tenth year of Edward I. it came to Elias. de Hertford,
who let it out to Clerks, and it was then kmown by
~"the name of Hertford, or, corruptly, Hert or Hart.
Hall. By this name it was conveyed by the son of
this Elias to:John de Dokelyngton, a burgess of Dx-
ford, June 17, 1301, for the sum of 20l. - Its situation
at this time is stated to have been between Black
. Hallon the west, and-Le Micheld Hall on the east,
that is, nearly the site on which the present hall is in
New College lane. A
In 1312, Dokelyngton conveyed it to Walter Sta-
pledon, Bishop of Exeter, and founder of Exeter Col-
lege*, who, after adding another messuage called Ar-
thur Hall, procured a licence from the King, dated
May 10, 1314, to grant the two messuages to twelve
Scholars studying in Oxford; and here they remained
until he removed them to Exeter. College, which re-

. tained the privilege of appointing the Principals of

* Exeter College, p. 64.
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“Hert Hali,»nnless during the time that New C(Sllége
“was building, when the Society, who admitted the
students of that College to live here, were governed
by its 'Wardens. ,

While Hert Hall, we find mention but of one bene-
factor, —— Bignell, Knt.'who gave certain lands to the
abbey of Glastonbury, from the produce of which the
abbot should pay an yearly Exhibition to ten Scho-

‘lars of Hert Hall. This in process of time appears to
have been sometimes alienated, and sometimes de-
"creased in value by mismanagement; but, after the
- dissolution of the monasteries, the sum of 161. 13s. 4d.
continued to be paid from the Exchequer, which Dr.
Newton in his statutes prescribed to be divided be-
tween the four Scholars of his College, as sufficient
“ to answer the expence of tuition; and chamber-rent,
¢ and Bursar’s stipends,” until they take their first de-
‘gree in Arts. The Hall, however, continued as a
‘place of education, on the usual terms: of Halls, and
the list of Principals from 1360 to 1710 is complete.

At thislast period, Dr. Richard Newton as Principal,
and determined to endow it as a College, and devote his
property for that purpose. This gentleman was born
in Yardly Chase, Buckinghamshire, and educated at
"Westminster school. From thence he was elected to a
“Studentship of Christ Church, where he acquired very
‘comsiderable reputation as a tutor.. He was inducted
Principal of Heért Hall in 1710, and was afterwards
'private tutor to the late Duke of Newcastle, the min-
ister of state, and to his brother Mr. Pelham. Bishop
'Compton gave him the Rectory of Sudbury in Northi-
‘amptonshire, on which he resided for many years, dis-
‘charging the duties of his office wnth aﬂ'ecnonate and

RAL)
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pious care. In 1724 he returned to Oxford, where he
bad some time before published “ A Scheme of Dis-
*¢¢ cipline, with Statutes intended to be established by
“ a Royal Charter for the education of Youth in Hert
“ Hall;” and in 1725 he drew up the statutes of Hert~
ford College, which he published in 1747. In 1727 he
published a treatise on University education, which
_appears to have involved him in some unpleasant al-
tercations with his brethren. He was afterwards pro-
_moted to a Canonry in Christ Church, and died at
Lavendon Grange, April 21,1753, aged about seventy-
seven, having survived the establishment of his Col-
lege on what he deemed a solid foundation, but which
_proved eventually insufficient for its support. By fix-
ing the price of every thing at a maximum, he injudi-
ciously overlooked the progress of the markets, as well
.as the state of society, and seems to have been more
intent on establishing a school upon rigid and ecorio-
mical principles, than a College which, with equal ad-
vantages in point of education, should keep pace with
the growing liberality and refinement of the age.
- Towards his project of founding a College, he first
settled an annuity of 55l 6s. 8d. issuing out of his -
house at Lavendon, and other lands in that parish, to
be an endowment for four senior Fellows, at the rate
“of 13l 6s. 8d. each yearly. He then purchased some
houses in the neighbourhood of Hert Hall for its en-
largement, and expended about 15001, on building the
. Chapel, and a part of the new quadrangle. In 1739
‘he drew up, or rather completed, a body of- statutes ;
and on Aug. 27, 1740, obtained a royal charter for
raising Hert Hall into a perpetual College, for the
usugl studies; the Society to consist of a Principal,
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_four senior Fellows or Tutors, and eight junior. Féllows
or Assistants, eight probationary Students, twenty-four
actual Students, and four Scholars. The allowance of
his senior Fellows has already been mentioned. . The
Jjunior Fellows or Assistants were to have 26l. 13s. 4d.
each yearly ; the probationary Students 61. 13s. 4d. and
the actual Students 13l. 6s. 8d. which might be aug-
mented by allowance for commons at the rate of six-
pence per day. The name to be the ¢ PriNcipaL
“ aND FELLows or HERTFORD COLLEGE IN THE
“ Un1versiTy oF Oxrorp;” but, by the statutes, it
fw ‘may be called by the name of any other person who
“ will complete the endowment of it, or become the
“ principal benefactor to it;” and it was to hold in
mortmain not exceeding 5001, per annum.

The first Prmclpal appointed was Richard Newton,

‘D. D. The four senior Fellows were, Thomas Hutch-

inson, D. D. some time of Lincoln College; Thomas
Hunt, afterwards Professor of Arabic, Regius Pro-
fessor of Hebrew, and Canon of Christ Church; John
Saunders, apd Thomras Wimot Case. The eight first

junior Fellows, or Assistants, were, Thomas Griffiths,

John Shirley, George Hippesley, Nathaniel North,
William Clare, John Gering, John Theophilus Desa-
guliers, son of the celebrated. phnlosopher, and Henry
Terry.

Very few benefactions have been made towards the
completion of this establishment. Dr. Rawlinson be-
queathed a small property at Fulham, for the increase
of the Principal's salary, which yields 28l. yearly.
According to the statutes, the Principal’s revenue was
to arise from the rents of the chambers, and certaiy.
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-. sums8 to be paid each term by the Scholars and by the
Graduates, which altogether, when the Collége should
be completed and the Society full, were computed at
@811..6s. 8d. perann. Dr. Durell, Principal, who died

-in 1775, left 201, yearly, one half to the Principal, and

. the-other to two senior Fellows. The Rev. William

-Rogers endowed one of the Studentships, the Student
to come from Hampton Lucy school in Warwickshire;;

.and two other Students were provided for by thirty

‘pounds yeatly, left by a lady unknown, in the trustee-
‘ship of Sir John Thorold, of Cranwell, near Sleaford,

- Lincolnshire, Bart.

On these scanty funds, and by the aid of inde-
‘pendent members, this College has subsisted for some
years; but the members have gradually fallen off, and
.o successor has yet been found to the late Pnnctpal
-Dr. Bernard Hodgson, who died in 1805.

- The BUILDINGS of Hertford College were, ac-

‘cording to Dr. Newton’s design, (published in Wil-
liams’s Oxonia,) to be erected in the form of & gua-
-drangle, containing the Chapel, Hall, and Library, the
‘Principal’s lodgings, and apartments for the Soclety.
‘Dr. Newton built only the Principal’s lodgings, the Cha-
‘'pel, which was consecrated by Bishop Potter, Nov. 25,
1716, and a portion of the new quadrangle®. "What

" »The writer of Dr. Newton’s 'Life, in the Biographical Dictionary,
‘informs us, that he procured great aids from his numerous frienids,
which may be credited ; but when he adds, ¢ and 1000l at least, by his
o publication of Theophrastus,” it may surely be asked, how such a pub-
lication could produce half the sum! It was a small octavo, price six
whillings, published after his death by Dr. Sharp, and never republished.
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-gan Owen, Bishop of Llandaff, are -the only Pre-
LATEs connected with Hert Hall; and Dr. Dickson,
Bishop of Down and Connor, and the learned Arch-
.bishop " Lewcome, already noticed as belonging to
Pembroke, are clainred by Hertford College.

Nicholas Brigham, and Lord Buckhurst, poets:—
Yhe illustrious Selden :—Sir John Glynn, an eminent
lawyer :—Dr. Donne, afterwards transplanted to Cam-
Jridge :—Nicholas Fuller, formerly of St. John’s, the
first Hebrew critic of bis time :—Sir William Waller,
the celebrated Parliamentary general :—end Sir. Ri-
chard Baker, author of the very popular Chronicle, are
. enumerated among the scholars of Hert Hall. Of the
eminent men educated at Hertford College, the most
considerable are, Edward Lye, a very celebrated anti-
-quary, and Saxon lexicographer :—Thomas Hutchin-
son, the learned editor of Xenophon:~—Dr. Thomas
Hunt, Arabic Professor :—Dr. Benjamin Blayney, Ca-
non of Christ Church, and -Hebrew Professor:—and
the late very celebrated statesman, Charles James Fox,.
who was educated here under the tuition of Dr. New.
come. '
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'THE HALLS.

-BEFORE the foundation of Colleges, all education a
the University was carried on in certain houses, or sets
of buildings, called Halls, Inns, or Hostels, which were
‘the property of the citizens of- Oxford, who let them
partially to individuals, or generally to societies cons
nected under one roof, jn which case they were derfo-
.minated . Halls. . When they thus became Halls, al-
though the proprietors still continued to receive rent,
“and to be in every other respect the landlords, yet they
could not-divert them from the purposes of education;
nor demise them without this exception, * in case thé
¢ University had no occasion for the same;” nor does
it appear that they could raise the reuts wantonly or
at pleasure, questions of-that kind being referred to
the arbitration of two Masters on one side, and two
citizens on the other, regularly sworn to do justice
between the parties.

Of these Halls there are said to have been in Ed-
ward L.'s time abeut three hundred ; and Wood, in his
manuscript History of the city of Oxford, partly, byt
inaccurately, published by Sir John. Peshall, gives an
account of above two hundred. Of many of these
some_ natice has. been taken .in. cases:whete. they be-
came the site of the Colleges. As the latter advanced
in fame and prosperity, the Halls decreased; having
no Exhibitions, endowments for Fellowships .or- Scho-
larships, Livings, or any of those' inducements to resi-’
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dence which became necessary to the circumstances
of modern times. Five, however, still remain, and
nearly in their original state, and some of them have
been enriched by benefactions which are given in Ex-
hibjtions to the Students for a certain time. These
are governed by their respective Principals, (whose
incomes arise from the rents of the chambers,) and by
statutes and customs originally made and alterable by
the Chaacellor of the University®, who is Visitor of
all the Halls, and nominates the Principals of all of
them, except that of St. Edmund, the Principal of
which is appointed by Queen’y College. With respect
to. every academical privilege, the members of the
Halls stand on the same footing as the other Colleges:
Their discipline,.course of studies, tuition, length of
residence, examiaation, degrees, dress, &c. are pre-
cisely the same as in the rest of the University.

ST. ALBAN'S HALL.

THIS Hall, sitnated on the east side of Merton Cole
lege,.in St. John’s parish, is the most:ancient of any;
and derives its name from Robert de Sancto Albano;
a burgess of Oxford, who lived in King John’s time.
In the beginning of the reign of Henry VI. it was

+:This segulation was first procured in 1570, by R3bert Dudley, Ear}
of Leiocestes, then Chancellor. The Halls, however, elect a ‘Principal;
subject to the admission of the Chancellor or Vice-Chancellor.
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‘united to Nunne Hall, which stood on the west side
of it, and the scholars were then governed by the same
Principal ; but it is douBtful whether it always conti-
nued so. It was, however, connected with Merton
College, which appointed its Principals, In the'reign
of Henry VII. the two were formed into one building ;
and Henry VIII. about the latter end of his: reign,
granted it, by the name of Alban Hall, to his favour-
ite physician, Dr. George Owen, some time Fellow of
Merton College. Dr. Owen soon. after conveyed it
to Sir John Williams, afterwards Lord Williams, of
Thame, and Sir John Gresham, who conveyed it, in
1548, to Johu Pollard, and Robert Perrott, Esquires,
and from them, on June 16, 1549, it came to the
Warden and Fellows of Merton College, to whom the
site of it now belongs.’

Wood has recovered :a list of Pnnclpals of Alban
Hall from 1437, and of Nunne Hall from 1445 to
1461, when the latter ceased to have a separate Prin~
cipal.

There is little noticeable in the buildings of any of
the Halls, which are in general plain and commodious.
The south, side. of the quadrangle of Alban Hall was.
rebuilt in 1789, by the late . Dr. Randolph, Principal.
The Prelates Hooper, Bishop.of Gloucester, and mar-
tyr; Lamplugh, Archbishep of ¥York; and Narcissus
" Marsh, Primate of Ireland, were of this Hall; ‘which.
also eppmerates among it.scholars, Massinger, the ce-
lebrated dramatic poet; William Lenthal, Speaker to
the House of Commons during the Long Parliament ;
and Sir Thomas Higgons, an English writei of some
note, and ambassador at Vienna. )
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EDMUND HALL.

EDMUND Hall, founded in the 16th century, and
situated opposite to the east side of Queen’s College,
was' traditionally so called from St. Edmund, Arch-
bishop of Canterbury in the reign of Henry IIL
Wood, indeed, derives its name from the first owner,
Edinand, an inhabitant of Oxford in that reign; and
in ancient deeds it occurs sometimes as Aula S. Ed-
mundi, and sometimes only Aula Edmundi®. It de--
scended through a succession of propriefors, until the
dissolution of religious 'houses, at which ‘time it be-
longed to Oseney Abbey. In 1546, Henry VIIL
granted it to John Bellow and Robert Bygott, and
they conveyed it to William Burnell, Gent. who sold
it to William Devenysh, or Dennys, or Dennyson,
Clerk, and from him it came to Queen’s College, of
which he was Provost, in 1557. The Society of Queen’s’
then re-established it as a place of study, on conditien,
made with the Chancellor of the University, that they’
should have the nomination of a Principal, which pri-’
vilege they have ever since retained. In 1631, Dr. John:
Rawlinson, Principal, bequeathed 6} yearly, part of
which was to be paid to a Catechetical-lecturer; and
in 1747, Robert Thomlinson, D. D. some time Vice-
Principal, left 2001 to this Hall. The list of Princi-
pals begins in 1317. - , B2
: * Butfrom this nothing can beargued ; and the probability is, that ;
it was dedicated from the first to St. Edmund, as Nov. 16, the festival

appointed for his memgrial by Pope Innocent IV. was obeerved in the
Hall within the recollection of some of the present members,
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~ The buildings of this Hall are more extensive than
formerly, when they occupied only the ground on
which the Refectory and rooms at the north end now -
stand. The first enlargement is supposed to have
taken place in 1451. The front opposite Queen’s
" College, with the Hall and rooms on the south side of
it, were built by the Abbot and Convent of Oseney;
but, becoming decayed, were pulled down by Dr. Airay,
~ Principal, and rebuilt at his own expence about the
year 1635. In 1659, the present Refectory, with the
apartments over it, were erected by means of the li-
beral benefactions of many of the members of Queen’s
College and of this Hall. The north side of the court
was repaired in the beginning of the last century by
the benefaction of Robert Thomlinson, D. D. before
mentioned, and by Thomas Shaw, D. D. Principal,
‘and the eminent traveller*. - The Library was begun in
" 1680, and its collection has been enriched by Princi-
pal Tully; John Loder, the benefactor to Gloucester
" Hall; the Rev. John Berriman, Rector of St. Alban’s,
Wood-street, London, and others. The Chapel was
consecrated April 7, 1682, by Dr. Fell, Bishop of Ox-
ford, and dedicated to St. Edmund, Archbishop of
Canterbury ; and the expences of both it and the Li-
brary were defrayed by Steéphen Penton, Principal,
and other liberal benefactors. .

Dr. George Carleton, the plou;s anhop of Chlches-
ter, and Dr. White Kennet, Bishop of Peterborough,
occur among the Prelates who were educated or re-
5idé} some time in Edmund Hall. Among its emi-
" ® The lodgings allotted for the Principal 'hivé been greatly enlarged

- and impraved by the present Principal, Dr. Thompson, and the number
of rooms for the recepuon of Undergraduates has been increased. -
o
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nent scholars of other ranks, we find Sir William
Jones, a celebrated lawyer and law writer :—Judgé
David Jenkins :—Dr. George Bate, one of the great-
&st physicians of his time, and a historian :—Dr. John
Newton, mathewatician :—John Oldham, the poet :—
Kettlewell the learned and pious nonjuror, afterwards
Yof Lincoln :—Sir Richard Blackmore, physician and
poet :—Edward Chamberlaine, author of Angliee No-
titia, &c. :—Humphrey Wauley, the learned librarian :
—and that indefatigable antiquary, Thomas Hearne.
Not long after he entered here, Edmund Hall could
boast of the learned contemporaries, Dr. White Ken-
net; Dr. Henry Felton, Principal, and author of the
Dissertation on the Classics, &c.; Dr. John Mill,
the editor of the Greek Testament, first a Servitor
and Fellow of Queen’s College; and Dr. Grabe,
Hearne’s curious Life, written by himself, is now be-
fore the public. He lies interred in St. Peter’s church-
yard, under a stone repaired in 1754 by Dr. Rawlinson.

ST. MARY'S HALL,

near Oriel College, anciently called the Hall of St.
Mary the Virgin in Scbydyard-street, was gnven by
Henry Kelpe, a burgess of Oxford, in the reign of
Henry III. to the Rectors of St. Mary’s church, as'a
parsonage-house. It continued in their possession
until the year 1825, when it was turned into an acade-
mical Hall. Either from its belonging to St. Mary’s
church, or afterwards to the College of St. Mary the



ST. MARY'S HALL. 451

¥irgin, commonly called Oriel or the King’s Hall, it
got the name of St: Mary’s Hall.

The buildings are comprised in a quadrangle, of
which the north side is the Principal’s lodgings, the
east and west the apartments for the members, and
the south the Hall and Chapel. The Principal’s lodg-
ings were built by Dr. John Hudson, Principal from
1712 to 1719, upon the site of the old Refectory; and
the celebrated Dr. William King, Prineipal, assisted
by the contributions of many noblemen and gentle
men educated under his care, rebuilt the east side in
its present form. The Chapel was built in 1640, at
the expence of sundry benefactors, during the Prin.
<ipalship of Dr. Saunders. Dr. Nowell, the late Prin-
cipal, was also instrumental in improving the south
side of the court, by his own liberality and the benem.
factions of other members of the Society ; and he left
by will certain shares in the Oxford Canal Navigas..
tion, for the founding an Exhibition, and for othes '
purposes therein mentioned.

* In 1677, Thomas Dyke, M. D.. granted by deed, &
moiety of the great tithes of the Parsonages of King’s
Brompton and Winsford, in the county of Somerset,
towards the support of four Scholars in this Hall, who
must be natives of that county. .
- The list of Principals of St. Mary’s Hall is not
quite perfect. The first is William Croten, in 1436..
In 1556, the famous Cardinal Allyh, or.Allen, was
Principal ; bot the most celebrated in his day, as a
satirist and political writer, was Dr. William King,
formerly a member of Balliol College, and Principal
from 1719 to 1763. He drew up a singular epitaph
for himself, which may now -be read in the Chapel,
cgs
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where he ordered his .heart to be preserved. He was
buried in Ealing church, Middlesex.

. The illustrious Sir Thomas More, Sir Chnstopher
Hatton, George Sandys, and Fulwell, poets ;. Hariot,
an. eminent mathematician; and Marchmont Need-
ham, the political writer; were educated, or studied
for some time, in this Hall.

" NEW INN HALL

ﬁear St. Peter’s in the Balley, was formerly a eol-
Jection. of several tenements called Trilleck’s Inns,
from Jobn Trilleck, Bishop of Hereford, who was
possessed of them in 1349. . After his death they be-
came the property of Thomas Trilleck, his brother,
who was afterwards Bishop of Rochester. From him
they descended, through .two successions of proprie-
tors, to William of Wykeham, who, in 1391, bestowed
" the premises on the Warden and Fellows of New Col-
lege, and thence they got the present name of New
Inn Hall,

This house was originally inhabited by the Bemar-
dine monks, before their College (now St. John’s) was
built. It was afterwards chiefly occupied by students
of civil and canon law, and produced many eminent

- proficients in that faculty. During the reigns of
Mary, Elizabeth, and part of King Jamess, it ap-
pears to have had very few members. The first Prine
cipal who revived the character of the house was
Christopher Rogers, of hincoln College, in whose
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time it'was not unusunal to admit forty students in a
year. During the Rebellion, or from 1642 to 1648,
it was employed as the office of the Mint; and here
the plate of several Colleges and Halls was melted
down' to supply the necessities of the Court, Some
part is said to have been preserved; but doubtless
enough of those valuable specimens of ancieat art pe-
rished on this unhappy oceasion to excite regrét in
the mind of every antiquary. After the Restoration,
New Inn Hall became.again a place of study; but
of late years it has had no members, and the only part
of the buildings now remammg is a house for thz.
Prmcnpal

The list of Prmcnpals is copious, begmnmg with
William Freeman in 1438; and many of them were
‘men who rose to high distinction as lawyers. Ofits
more. recent Principals, it may be sufficient to notice
the celebrated Blackstone, who presided here from 1761 -
to 1766, when he resigned his office, and the Vinerian
"Professorship, and was succeeded by Sir Robert Cham-
bers*. Twyne, the antiquary, and the Rev. Dr. Scott,
author of the Christian foe, &c. were membets Of
thxs Hall,

_ST. MARY MAGDALEN HALL,

THIS Hall, close to Magdalen Collgge, was built in
1480, by William of Waynfleet, Founder of that Col-
lege, as a grammar-school, from which circumstance

« See University College, p.42.
cgs
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it was first called Grammar Hall, and then Magdalen
Hall; and the premises being enlarged, students were
admitted on the same terms as in other Halls. A few
benefactors also gave Exhibitions for their encourage-
ment, particularly Dr. William Lucy, some time &
member of this Hall, who bequeathed 2000l. for the
maintenance of four Scholars, to be elected from
Hampton Lucy school in Warwickshire, on certain
terms ; and ten Exhibitions were founded by Mr. Joha
Meeke, four by Dr. Thomas White, and three by Dr,
Burdsell.

This Hall appears to have been generally well fre—
quented. In 1612, the Society amounted to one hun-
dred and sixty-one persons, and, during the Principal-
ship of John Wilkinson, there were nearly three hun-
dred members, mostly, as Wood intimates, of noncon-
formist tenets ; but this is less doubtful than how such
a number could be accommodated,

- Originally the buildings of this Hall consisted of
the School only, with a Refectory, and chambers for_
the Schoolmaster ; but about the year 1518 the premises
were first enlarged by the Society of Magdalen Col-
lege, and afterwards by Dr. John Wilkinson, Princi-
pal from 1605 to 1643, who erected some part of the
buildings as we now find them, chiefly at his own ex-
pence. His successor, Henry Wilkinson, built the
Library; and procured a good collection of books. It
was opened for use in 1657, and afterwards enlarged
by Dr. Hyde, and the books augmented by John
Lisle, one of th®Commissioners of the Great Seal under
Cromwell, and a Gentleman Commoner of this Hall ;
also by the Rev. John Ridge, of Exton in Hampshire,
and Dr. Hardy, Dean of Rochester. In the Refectory
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is a portrait of Tyndall the martyr, some time a mem-
ber of this house, and, as the inscription justly cha-
racterizes him, * alumai simul et ornamenti.”

The list of Principals begins with Richard Barnes,
Vice-President of Magdalen College : but we have no
date until the second Principal, Edward Grove, who
occurs ypder that title in 1499. Magdalen Hall enu-
merates among its Prelates, John Longland, Bishop
of Lincoln; John Stokesley, Bishop of London; and
John Wilkins, Bishep of Chester: and among its ce-
lebrated scholars of other ranks, we find Warner and
Daniel, the poets :—Sir Henry Vane, the noted repub-
lican :—Sir Julius Casar, a learned civilian, and Mas-
ter of the Rolls :—Edward Leigh, Esq. an eminent
theologian :—Lord Clarendon, the illustrious historian,
who entered here in 1622 :—John Tombes, a most vo-
luminous writer, whom Wood calls the Coryphaus of
the Anabaptists :—Sir Matthew Hale, the pious and
learned Judge :—Dr. Thomas Godwin, a celebrated

’%onconformilt writer :—Theophilus Gale, author of the
ourt of the Gentiles:—Dr. Sydenham, the first of
rational pbyslcnans ~—Dr. Pococke, orientalist, after-
wards of Corpus: —Dr. Hickes, afterwards of Lincoln :
—Dr. Walter Charleton, an eminent physician :—Ed-
ward Phillips, Milton’s nephew, lexicographer, and
poetical biographer:—Dr. Robert Plot, naturalist :—
Dr. Edward Tyson, physician :—Sir George Wheeler:
—and Dr. William Nichols, commentator on the
Liturgy, &c.

cg4
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r

TuE principal public buildings attached to the Uni-
versity of Oxford are, the ScrooLs, with the Bop-
LEIAN LiBrRARY—The THEATRE—The ASHMOLEAN
MvuseuM —The CrLarenxpon PrinTine-House—
The RapcLirre LisrarY—The OBSERVATORY—
The Puysic GARDEN—and St. MARY’s, or the UN1-
VvERSITY CHURCH.

THE SCHOOLS, axp BODLEIAN
LIBRARY. -

DURING those early penods, .when all academical
education was carried on in Halls, there wer¢ a great
number of schools, one at least in each Hall, and
many in private houses, for the purposes of elemen-
tary instruction, besides those which were attached to
priories and other religious houses. Several of these
schools were situated where the front of Brasen Nose
College now is, in a street called fromr them School-
street, and a few were attached to the first Colleges. -
In the early part of the fifteenth century, Thomas
Hokenorton, Abbot of Oseney, erected the first build-
ing known by the distinctive name of THE ScuooLs,
or the NEw ScHooLs, which is delineated by Nele,
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and in Aggas’s map. It was a substantial building: of
two stories, and ‘contained “apartments for ten schools;
in which different branches were taught, but not to
the exclusion of the other seminaries in School-street;
of which there were at' the same time:above twenty:

This bmldmg appears to have been repaired in 1532,
about a century after its erection ; but in the latter end
of Henry VIII. and during the reign of Edward VI.

it fell into-decay. In Queen Mary’s time it was again
repaired, and continued to be the place where the scho-
lastic exercises were performed, until the erection of
thé present spacious building, in the beginning of the
seventeenth century, by Thomas Holt, of ‘York, who
is supposed- to have been the architect of Wadham
College, ad of the new: quadrangle of Merton, both
built about the samne time.

The DiviNiTy-ScHOOL may be traced to the year
1427, when the University purchased the ground on
which it stands, and obtained considerable benefactions
to defray the expences, particalarly from Humphrey,
Duke of Gloucester, who contributed so liberally, as to
be hailed the Founder of this beautiful and highly fi-
nished structure. It was completed in'1480, with the Li-
brary over it, in a richnessof the Gothic style, of which
there are few examples extant. In the beginning of
the last century, the stone roof was, under the direc-
tion of Sir Christopher Wren, carefully and inge-
niously repaired ‘in its original forms, and additional
security given to the building by buttresses, &e.

TrE ScrooLs form a magmﬁcent quadrangle, the
principal front of whicl in Cat-street is ‘oné hvndred
and seventy-five feet in length, divided by a gateway,
and lofty tower, somewhat fantastically ornamented
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with a display of the five orders®. This quadranglé was
originally of two stories, over which the Picture Gal-
lery was afterwards built, which contains a numerous
and valuable collection of the portraits of the founders,
benefactors, and other eminent persons belonging to
the University. Under it are the Schools belonging
to the different sciences, and the collection of marbles
presented by the Countess of Pomfret. - .
The BopLEIAN, or PuBLic LisrARY, consists of
three spacious and lofty #ooms, disposed in the form
of the Roman H, and fitted up at different times. The
first public Library in Oxford is said, by Dr. Hudson,
to have been established in Durham (now Trinity) Col-
lege, by Richard of Bury, or Richard Aungerville, who
was Lord Treasurer of England and Bishop of Dur-
ham in the time of Edward III. He died in 1345,
and left his books to the students of this College, who
preserved them in chests, until the time that Thomas
Hatfield, his successor in the see of Durham, built the
Library in 1370. Bat it is not very clear whether this
was a PUBLIC LIBRARY, in the usual meaning, or one
restricted to the use of the monks of Durham. We
know, however, that the Library of Merton College
was erected much aboyt the same time; and it may
be doubted whether before that age there existed in
aoy of our religious or academical houses a room ex-
pressly devoted to the preservation and arrangement
Bf books, by the name of Lizrary. Such books as
ik!ge societies possessed were gemerally kept in chests,
or dhained upon desks jn-churches and chapels.
Te<wmext e read of was called Cosnam’s Li-

* Nearly the same ocours in the contemporary quadrangle of Merton.
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BRARY, which woyld have been the first, had he lived
to execute his purpose. About the year 1820, Thomas
Cobhain, Bishop of Worcester, began to make some
preparations for a Library over the old Congregation-
house, in the north church-yard of St. Mary’s; but
dying soon after, little progress was made in the work
until 1367, when his books were deposited in it, and
the scholars permitted to consult them on certain con-
ditions. But the property of the site being contended
between the University and Oriel College, the dispute
was not finglly determined until 1409, when the room
was fitted up with desks, windows, &c. by the bene-
factions of Henry IV, hls four sons, Henry, Thomas,
John, and Humphrey, ‘Thomas Arundel, Archbishop -
of Canterbury; Philip Repindon, Bishop of Lincoln;
Edmund, Earl of March; and Richard Courtney,
Chaacellar of the University, in whose timne it wag
completed about the year 1411. This appears to have
been the first PusLic LisraRry, and continued in use
antil 1480, when the books were added to Duke Hum—
phrey’s collection.

Humphrey, Duke of Gloucester, surnamed the Goocl,
and certainly a man superior. t¢ the age in which he
lived, is justly styled the Fouunder of this Library,
which appears to have been completed over the Di.
vinity-school in 1480. The number of books given by
him is variously represented; but the names of the
greater part are still preserved in the archives, and,
according to Mr. Warton, they were the most splen-
did and costly copies that could be procured, finely
written on vellym, and elegantly embellished with mi-
niatures and illuminations. One only specimen yet
remaips, 8 manuscript in folio of Valerius Maximus,
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enriched with the .most elegant decorations, and’ writ-

‘ten in Duke Humphrey'’s age. The rest of the books
‘were Temioved or destroyed, as implements of super-

stition, by King Edward's visitors ; and before the
'year 1555 it' was despoiled of all its contents, the

" benches and -desks ordered to be sold, and. the room
~continued empty until restored by Sir Thomas Bodley.

This illustrious benefactor, a descendant of the an-
cient family of the Bodleys, or’ Bodleighs, of Duns-

‘comb, near Crediton, in Devonshire, was born ‘in

Exeter, March 2, 1544;'éhd~was educated at Geneva,
where his father was obliged to reside during the Ma-
rian tyranny. In 1558 he returned. to England, and
was'entered f Magdalen College, under the tuition of
Dr. Humphrey, afterwards President. In 1563, after
taking his Bachelor’s degree, he was chosen Proba-

. tioner of Merton College, and in 1564 was admitted

Fellow. In the following year he was encouraged by
some-of the Fellows to read a Greek lecture in the
Hall; and in 1556, at which time he took his Master’s
degree, he read Natural Philosophy in the Publi¢
Schools. In 1569 he was elected one of the Proctors,
and for a considerable-time after was Public Orator.

In 1576 he visited France, Germany, and Italy, and
at the end of four years returned to College, where he
began to qualify himself for political life, and was af-
terwards employed by Queen Elizabeth in various em-
bassies, which he negociated much to her satisfaction;
but, being disgusted with the intrigues of her court,
be retired from it about the year 1597, and no longer
]aeld any public employment. -

At this time, Camden justly observes, he set*hnmself"

e t.ask whwh would bave suitéd the character of a
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crowned head, the restoration of the Public Library.
‘With this view, in 1597, he sent a letter from Lon-
don to the Vice-Chancellor, Dr. Ravis, Dean of Christ
Church, offering to restore the building, and settle.a
fund for.the purchase of books, as well as the mainte-
nance of proper officers. This offer being. gladly ac-
cepted, he commenced his undertaking by presenting
a large collection of books purchased on the continent,
and valued at 10,000l. Other collections and contri«
butions were sent in, by his example and persuasions,
from various noblemen, clergymen, and others, to
such an amount, that the old building was no longer
sufficient to contain them. He then proposed to
enlarge the building; and the first stone of the new
foundation was laid with great solemnity, July 19,
1610, and so amply promoted by his liberality, as well
as by the benefactions of many eminent persons, that
the University was enabled to add three other sides,
forming the quadrangle and rooms for the Schools,
&c. He did not, however, live to see the whole com-
pleted, as his death took place Jan.28, 1612. He
was interred, as already mentioned, in Merton. Col-
lege Chapel®.

When he had succeeded in ennchmg his collecnon,
probably far.beyond his expectation, he drew up a
body of statutes, which have been since incorporated
with those of the University. . According to them, the
Librarian is to be a Graduate, unmarried, and with-
out cure of souls, and to be allowed deputies or assist-
ants. The revenues for the maintenance of the Li-
brary are entrusted to the Vice-Chancellor and Proc-

s Merton College, p. 16. . -
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tors for the time being; and the Vice-Chancellor and
Proctors, the three Professors of Divinity, Law, and
Physic, and .the two Regius Professors of Greek and
Hebrew, are appointed Visitors.

The first catalogue of the printed books was pub-
lished in 1674, by Dr. Thomas Hyde, then principal
Librarian, and another of the manuscripts was printed-
in 1697. A more full catalogue of books was printed
in 1738, in two volumes folio; but all these, from the
immense increase of the collection, are become of littlé
use. An annual speech in praise of Sir Thomas Bod-
ley was founded in 1681 by Dr. John Morris, Canon
of Christ Church, the speaker to be nominated by the
Dean of Christ Church, and confirmed by the Vice-
Chancellor. These speeches are delivered at the visi-
tation-day of the Library, Nov. 8.

It would require a volume to enumerate the many
important additions made to this Library by its nu-
merous benefactors, or to give even a superficial sketch
of its ample coutents in every branch of science.
Among the earliest benefactors were, Robert Deve-
reux, Earl of Essex; Thomas Sackville, Lord Buck-
hurst and Earl of Dorset ; Robert Sidney, Lord Sid.
ney of Penshurst; Viscount Lisle and Earl of Leices-
ter; George Carey, Lord Hunsdon; William Gent,
Esq.; Awthony Browne, Viscount Montacute; Joha
Lord Lumley; Philip Scudamore, of Londen, Esq.;
and Laurence Bodley, younger brother to the Founder.
All these contributions were made before the yeaz
1600,

In. 1601, collections of books and manuscripts were
presented by Thomas Allen, some time Fellow of Tri-
nity College; Thomas James, first Librarian; Her-
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bert Westphaling, Bishop of Hereford ; Sir John For-
tescue, Knt.; Alexander Nowell, Dean: of St. PauPs;
John Crooke, Recorder of London; and Chief Justice
of the Common Pleas ; and Nicholas Bond, D. D. Pre-
sident of Magdalen College. The most extensive and
prominent collections, however, are those of the Earl
of Pembroke, Mr. Selden, Archbishop Laud, Sir Tho-
mas Roe, Sir Kenelm Digby, General Fairfax, Dr.
Marshall, Dr. Barlow, Dr. Rawlinson, Mr. St. Amand,
Dr. Tanner, Mr. Willis, T. Hearne, and Mr. Godwin.
The last collection bequeathed, that of the late emi-
nent and learned antiquary, Richard Gough, Esq. is
perhaps the most perfect series of topographical sci-
ence ever formed, and is particularly rich in topogra-
phical manuscripts, prints, drawings, and books illus-
" trated by the manuscript notes of eminent antiquaries.
The Bodleian Library was first laid open to the pub-
lic on Nov. 8, 1602, and by the charter of Mortmain
obtained of King James, Sir Thomas, lately knighted
by him, was declared Founder; and, in 1605, Lord
Buckhurst, Earl of Dorset, and Chancellor of the Uni-
versity, placed the statue of Sir Thomas in the Lis
brary. Since the year 1780, a fund of more than 400}
a year has been established for the purchase of books:
This arises from a small addition to the matriculation
fees, and a moderate contribution annually from such
members of the University as are admitted to the use
of the Library, or on their taking their first degree.
The Principal Librarians since the foundation have
‘been, 1. Thomas James, Fellow of New Cellege, 1598:
2. John Rouse, Fellow of Oriel, 1620.. 8. Thomas
Barlow, afterwards Bishop of Lincoln, 165¢. 4. Tho-
es Lockey, Student, and afterwards Canon of Christ
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Church, 1660. 5. Thomas Hyde, of Queen’s College,
afterwards Laudian Professor of Arabic, Regius Pro-
fessor of Hebrew, and Canon.of Christ Charch, 1665.
6. John Hudson, afterwards Principal of St. Mary
Hall, 1701. 7. Joseph Bowles, Fellow of Oriel, 1719.
8. Robert Fysher, Fellow of Oriel, 1729. 9. Hum-
phrey Owen, Fellow, and afterwards Principal of Je- .
sus, 1747. 10. John Price, B.D. of Jesus College,
now of Trinity, 1768; a gentleman, who, for nearly
half a century, has eminently promoted the interests
of literature, by tlje ready, liberal, and intelligent aid
he has afforded to the researches of scholars’and an-
tiquaries. ’

THE.THEATRE. .

ON the, accession of Charles I1. when the members
of the University who had been ejected by the usurp-
ing powers began to restore the ancient establishments,
a design was formed of erecting some building for the
Act exercises, &c. which had formerly been performed
in St. Mary’s church, with some inconvenience to the
Uniwersity, and some injury to the church. Certain
houses were accordingly purchased, which stood on
the site of the present Theatre; and in 1664, Gilbert
Sheldow, Archbishop of Canterbury, having, contri-
buted 1000l. the -foundation-stone was laid July 26,
with great solemnity, before the Vice-Chancellor,
Heads of Houses, &c. And when no other bepefac- -
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tors appeared to promote the work, Archbishop Shel-
don munificently took upon himself the whole ex-
pence, which amounted to 12,470l 11s. 11d. and gave
also 20001 to be laid out in estates for repairs, or the
surplus to be applied in the establishment of a Print-
ing-house.

The architect employed was the celebrated Sir Chris-
topher Wren, and the building was completed in about
five years. It was one of Sir Christopher’s first works,
and a happy presage of those unrivalled talents which
he afterwards displayed in the metropolis. The ground-
plan is said to be that of the theatre of Marcellus at
Rome, and, by an ingenious contrivance of parts, is
calculated to contain nearly four thousand persons with-
out inconvenience. The roof was formerly more admired
than at present, when similar constructions are better
understood and practised. It is eighty feet by seventy
in diameter, unsupported by columns or arch-work,and
resting on the side walls; but as in 1800 it was disco-
vered to be in danger of falling, a new roof was sub-
stituted, the exterior of which is less happily adapted
to the general style of the building than the former.
Streater’s painted ceiling, which was repaired in 1762
by Kettle of London, has perhaps more beauties than
some rigid critics are disposed to allow; but the eye
dwells with little pleasure on painted ceilings, and the
examination of works of this sort is generally com-
prised in a few transient glances. The only portraits
- here are those of Archbishop Sheldon; of James,
Duke of Ormond, the Chancellor; and Sir Christo-
pher Wren. The statues of Archbishop Sheldon and
of the Duke of Ormond on the outside were executed

by Sir Henry Cheere.
vh
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In this Theatre are held the acts called the Co-
mitia and Enccenia, and Lord Crewe’s annual comme-
moration of benefactors. On such occasions, when
the whole members of the University are seated ia
their respective places, according to their rank, and
the solemnities are graced by the presence of ladies
and strangers of distinction, the coup d’ceil is smk-
ingly august and magnificent.

Formerly' the rooms above the Theatre, and the
cellar underneath, were employed for the purposes of
printing; but now the cellar only is used as a ware-
house for the books printed at the Clarendon Press.
The care of the whole is invested in two persons, called
Curators, who were first appointed by the Founder,
and bave since been elected by Convocation.

. ettt S i

THE ASHMOLEAN MUSEUM,

appropriated for the reception of objects of natural
history, or extraordinary art, was the first establish-
ment of the kind in this country; and the build-
ing, with respect to architectural proportions, is one
of the finest of those which Sir Christopher Wren
erected in this University. Its founder was the ce-
lebrated Elias Ashmole, an eminent philosopher, che-
mist, and antiquary, of the seventeenth century, and a
man of a singular character, compounded of science
and credulity. He was a native of Lichfield, and owed
his early education, and muck of his success in life, to
his relation, James Paget, one of the Barons of the
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Exchequer. At first he appears to have studied and
practised the law ; but during the Rebellion he served
in the loyal army, and, when nearly thirty, entered of
Brasen Nose College. On the failure of the royal
cause, he resided some time in London, and associated
with the noted astrologers of his time ; but in 1647 he
retired to Englefield in Berkshire, where he employed
his time in various studies. In 1649, on his marriage
with Lady Mainwaring, he settled again in London,
and formed an intimacy with the most learned men
of the age. On the Restoration, he was called to the
bar, and received many civil promotions, which en-
abled him to devote the remainder of his life to learned
pursuits. He died on May 18, 1692, leaving behind
him the character of one of the most learned men and
most liberal patrons of learning. '
~In 1677, he offered to bestow on the University all
the valuable collection formed by the Tradescants of’
Lambeth, two eminent physic-gardeners®, which he
bad enlarged by coins, medals, and manuscripts, col-
“lected by himself, provided the University would erect
a building fit to receive them. The University wil-
lingly assented, and the building was completed in
1682. After his death, the Museum was enlarged by
the addition of his library, rich in antiquary lore ; and’
has since been augmented by the collection of Martin
Lister, and especially the manuscripts of John Aubrey,

* They were father and son. The son, who died in 1662, bequeathed
the Museum by a deed of gift to Ashmole, who had lodged in his house.
The contents of this collection were described in a small volume, entitled,
* Museum Tradescantianum; or a Collectipn of Rarities preserved at
¢ South Lambeth, near l;ondpn. By John Tradescant, 1656, 12mo.”

‘ o whe
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Sir William Dugdale, and Antony Wood ; the collec-
tions in natural history of Dr. Plott and Edward
Liwyd, the two first Keepers of the Museam, and of -
Mr. Borlace, the historian of Cornwall ; and the curio-
sities of the South Sea lslands, given by Mr. Rein-
hold Foster.

s

CLARENDON PRINTING-HOUSE.

THE art of printing, soon after its invention, was
introduced in Oxford. From 1464 we find a series of
printers, Frederic Corsellis, Theodoric Rood, John
Scolar, and Wynkyn de Worde, whose printing-house
" was in Magpye-lane. For many years after this the
businéss was entirely in the hands of individuals. un-
connected with the University, and was carried on in'
a manner not very conducive to the interests of learn=
ing: At length, in the year 1672, several distinguished
members of the University, John Fell, Bishop of Ox-
ford, Sir Leoline Jenkyns, Sir Joseph Williamson,
and Dr. Thomas Yates, undertook the management
of a press for its use. Having raised above four thou-
sand pounds, they expended it on printing types, pur-
chased in Germany, France, and Holland, there being
no foundery in Great Britain at that time; and be-
stowed so much attention: on correctness as well as
elegance, that the Oxford press was. soon enabled to
hold- a distinguished rank, and their editions became.
in request on the continent. .

This business was first carried on, as. already no-
ticed, in some rooms belonging to the Theatre ; but in
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1711 the present building was erected with' the profits
arising from the pale of Lord Clarendon’s History of
the Rebellion, the copy of which was bestowed .on
the University by his son. Vanburgh was employed
as the architect, and, having the advantage of a gentle
rise in the ground, was enabled to display the massy
peculigrities of his style, particularly in the north
front, with considerable effect. Over the entrance on
the south side is a fine statue of Lord Clarendon,
placed here in 1721. Besides the apartments appro-
- priated for the business, there is a handsome room,
where the Heads of Houses hold their meetings. The
affairs relative to the press are conducted by certain
persons, styled, The Delegates of the Press, who are
- sppointed by the Vice-Chancellor and Proctors.

e

THE RADCLIFFE LIBRARX

THE Founder of tb.ls Llhrary, one of the most mu-
nificent benefactors whom modern times have pro-
duced, was born at Wakefield in Yorkshire, where he
zeceived: his school education. .In 1665 he was admit-
ted a Batteler of University College, then a medium
rank between a Commoner and Servitor, and applied
to his studies with vigour and success. dIn 1667, as
Determining Bachelor, .he obtained great applayse in
the logic schools, and was made senior Scholar of his
College; but no Fellowship occurring so soon as his
circumstances required, he removed to Lincoln Col-
.lege, and took his Master’s degree in 1672. During
his residence here he studied physic, and in 1675 took
kis Bachelor’s degree in that faculty, and began to prac-
nhs
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tise in Oxford, where he soon attained considerable
eminence. In 1682 he proceeded to the degree of
Doctor of Medicine, for which he went out Grand
Compounder. Two years after he removed to Lon-
don, where for many years he enjoyed the most exten-’
sive practice, and acquired an ample fortune. Having
no family, he resolved to devote his money to the
most liberal purposes in that University where his
earliest attachments were formed. His first benefac-
tion to Oxford was the east window of the Chapel of
University College, which he gave in 1687, as a mark of
his regard to the place in which he had passed his first
academical days; and afterwards, while his friend Dr.
Arthur Charlet was Master, he contributed above 11001,
towards the increase of Exhibitions and the repairs of
the College®. But his more munificent benefactions
were reserved until after his death in 1714, when it
appeared, that, besides founding the two travelling
Fellowships, he left five thousand pounds for the new
buildings of University College, and forty thonsand
- pounds for the erection of a public Library in Ox-
ford, between St. Mary’s and the Schools, with an
endowment of 150l. per annum to the Librarian, and
100l. per annum for the purchase of books.

With part of this fund, which, agreeably to the
terms of his will, and during the life of his sisters, had
been permitted to accumulate for some years, the pre-
sent magnificent structure was begun in 1737, and
being. completed in 1749, it was opened on Thursday,
April 13 of that year, with great solemnity. Gibbs
was the architect?, and afterwards published adescrip_-

s University College, p. 33. :
® On this occasion the degree of M. A.waeonﬁamdonanh,wb
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tion, with views of the several parts of this singular
edifice. Whatever may be thought of the general
design, or of the situation, in which, however, the ’
artist had no choice, he took care that the interior,
and very highly finished ornaments, should be exe-
cuted by the first artists the age afforded; and al-
though it must be confessed the square in which it
stands was complete without it, there are none of the
perspective views of Oxford in which this building
would not be missed, and none in which it js not 8
wvery striking feature.

Dr. Radcliffe appears to have been & man of consi-
derable learning, but most conspicuous for his medical
skill, which recommended him to the highest practice.
He attended the royal family during the reigns of King
William and Queen Anne, and the families of the most
distinguished of the nobility.” Nor was he less noted for
8 peculiar cast of humour, of which many entertain~
ing instances are given by his biographers; but he
had, as a' physician, what is more valuable, a tender
and liberal heart, which led him to visit the abodes of
misery with the most ready compassion, and to alle-
viate by well-timed generosity the complicated evils
which he could not remove-by his skill.

From the funds still in the hands of Dr. Radcliffe’s
trustees, the PuBLic INFIRMARY on the north side
of Oxford was built, and the AsTroNoMicAL Oz-
SERVATORY, erected a few years ago by Mr. Wyat,
which is. admirably adapted to the purposes of
observation, and gmply supplied with,astronomicai

repaid the mmphment by bequeatlung bis valuable books and prints to
this Library.
Hha
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instruments, some of which were presented by his
Grace the Duke of Marlborough.

s

THE PHYSIC GARDEN,

situated opposite Magdalen College, was originally
the burial-ground of the Jews in Oxford, who were
once a very numerous community ; but, after their ex-
pulsion, it became the property of St. John’s Hos-
pital, and was the burial-ground of that Hospital, until
the whole was transferred to William of Waynfleet
for the erection of Magdalen College. Of that Col-
lege a lease was purchased in 1622 by Henry Danvers,
Earl of Danby, who surrounded the premises, about
five acres, with a wall. The fine gateway, designed
by Inigo Jones, but executed by Nicholas Stone,
senior, is decorated by a bust of the Founder; and on
the right and left are statues of Charles I. and II.
noticeable chiefly for the circumstance which defrayed
. the expence of them. They were purchased with the
fine which Antony Wood paid in consequence of hav-
ing libelled the character of the great Lord Clarendon
in the first-edition of his Athenz.

Besides the purchase of the ground, and the ex-
pence of the wall, &c. which are said to have amounted
to more than 5000l. Earl Danby’s intention was to
have endowed a Professorship ; but the unhappy state
of the nation, and his death in 1644, prevented his
executing his liberal design, although he had made
considerable progress, by employing the elder Trades-
cant, whom Wood calls John Tredesken, senior, im
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preparing the garden. The place of Keeper of the
Garden, however, was at length established in 1669,
and an -annual stipend of 40l allowed by the Uni-
versity. The first Keeper was Robert Morison, the
celebrated botanist, who was succeeded by Jacob Bo-
bart, Edwin Sandys, and Gilbert Trowe. Bobart be-
gan his labours here in 1632, and died in 1679, leaving
a son, Tillemant Bobart, who was also employed: in
this garden. The first Professor of Botany was.Jehn
James Dillenius, already noticed in our account of St.
John’s College, under the new foundation of Dr.
Sherard. In 1728, Dr. Sherard left 3000l. as the .en~
dowment of a Professor of Botany, and all his books,
prints, drawings, &c. and appointed Dillenius first
Professor. Dillenius died in 1747, and was succeeded
by Humphrey Sibthorpe, M. D. nominated by the
College of Physicians. On his resignation in 1784,
his son, the late Dr. John Sibthorpe, was nominated
by the same authority. In:1793, whean his present
Majesty was pleased to found a Regius Professorship
of Botany, Dr. Sibthorpe was appointed first Regius
Professor. He died in 1796, and was succeeded in
both Professorships by Dr. George Williams, Fellow
of Corpus Christi College.

e

ST. MARY’S CHURCH,

an elegant and spacious Gothic edifice, of which An-
tony Wood has left a very minute history, is here no-
ticeable chiefly as being the University Church, or
that to which the Vice-Chancellor, Heads of Houses,
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&c. repair for divine service on Sundays and holidays,
except on some particular days, when the sermons are
appointed to be preached in certain Colleges ; as, on.
Christmas-day in the morning, Good Friday, and
Ascension-day, at Christ Church; on the festivals of
St. Mark and St. John Baptist, at Magdalen; on
Lady-day and Trinity Sunday, at New College; and
on St. Philip and St. James, and on the first Sunday
in August, at Merton. During Lent in the afternoon,
and on St. Simon and St. Jude, the sermons are
preached in St. Peter’s in the East. The public
“preachers are ten in number, appointed by the Vice-
Chancellor, Proctors, the Regius Professor and Mar-
garet Professor of Divinity; and they must be either
Doctors or Bachelors in Divinity or in Civil Law,
-or Masters of Arts. Of these public. preachers. five
go out of office every year. The eight Lectures on
the essential Doctrines of . Christianity, and in de-
fence of Revealed Religion, founded by the Rev. John
Bampton, Canon of Salisbury, are also delivered in
this Church, The room on the north side of the chane
cel is. now the Common Law School, where the Vi-
nerian Professor reads his lectures,
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THE HEADS OR GOVERNORS

OF THE RESPECTIVE
QOLLEGES AND HALLS,

FROM THE EARLIEST TIMES TO THE PRRSENT.

MERTON COLLEGE.

WARDENS.

Peter de Habendons,
1286 Richard Warblysdon.
1295 John De 1a More.
1299 John Wanting.
1328 Robert Treng.
1351 William Durant,
1375 John Bloxham,
1387 John Wendover,

1398 Edmund Beckyngham.

1416 Thomas Rodborne,
1417 Robert Gilbert.
1421 Henry Abendon.
1438 Elias Holcot.

1455 Henry Sever.

1471 John Gygur.

1482 Richard Fitzjames.
1507 Thomas Harpur.
1508 Richard Rawlins.
1521 Rowland Phillips.
1525 John Chamber.

¢ Where dates are wanting, they are ¢ither unknown or doubtfal.

1544 Henry Tyndall.
1545 Thomas Raynolds.
1559 James Gervys.
1562 John Mah.

1569 Thomas Bickley.
1585 Henry Savile,

1621 Nathaniel Brent.
1645 William Harvey.
1646 Nathaniel Brent.
1651 Jonathan Goddard.
1660 Edward Reynolds,
1661 Thomas Clayton,
1693 Richard Lydall.
1704 Edmund Marten.
1709 John Holland.
1734 Robert Wyntle.
1750 John Robinson.
1759 Henry Barton.
1790 Scrope Berdmore.
1810 PETER VAUGHAN.
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MASTERS.

1332 Roger de Aswardby.
1362 John Pockyngton.

William Kerby.
1392 Thomas Foston.
1396 Thomas Duffield.
1398
1403 John Appleton.
1413 John Castle.
1420
1426 Richard Wytton.

. 1430 Thomas Benwell, or Benyng-

1551 George Ellison.
1557 Anthony Salveyn.
1558 James Dugdale.
1561 Thomas Key.
1572 William James.
1584

1597

1609 :
1632

1648 Joshua Hoyle.
1655 Francis Johnson.
1660 Thomas Walker.

well. 1665 Richard Clayton.
1441 John Marton. 1676 Obadiah Walker.
1474 1689 Edward Ferrar.
1488 or Rokes- 1690 Thomas Bennett.
1692
1509 . 1722
1518 1744
1546 1764
1547 Richard Salveyn. 1608 Joun GRIFFITHS.
BALLIOL.
PROCURATORS. 1412 Thomas Chase,
Hugo de Hertipoll. 1423 Robert Burleigh.,
William de Menyll, 1429 Robert Stapylton,

PRINCIPALS, or WARDENS.
1282
1296
1303 Stephen de Cornwall.
1309 Richard de Chickwell.
1321 Thomas de Waldeby.
1823 Henry de Seton,
1327 Nicholas de Luceby.
1332 John

1343 '
1356 Robert de Serhy.
1361 John Wycliff,
1366 John Hugate.
1371 Thomas Tyrwhyt,
1397 Humardus Askham.
1406 William Lambert, or Lam-

1432

1451

1461

1472 John Segden.

1477 Robert Abdy.

1494 William Bell.

1497 Richard Bernyngham.
1511 Thomas Cisson. .
1518 Richard Stubbys,
1525 William Whyte.
1539

1545

1547

Cotys.

1555

1559
1560
1563
1570 John Piers, D.D.
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1571 Adam Squire.
1580

1609

1616

1637

1648

1650

1672 Thomas Good.

1678 John Venn,

1687 Roger Mander.
1705 John Baron.
1722 Joseph Hunt.
1726 Theophilus Leigh.
1785 John Davy.

1798 Jonwn Parsons.

EXETER.

PERPETUAL RECTORS.
1566 John Neale.
1570 Robert Newton.
1578 Thomas Glasier.
1593 Thomas Holland,
1612
1642
1649
1662 Joseph Maynard.
1666 Arthur Bury.

1690 William Painter.
1715

1730

1733

1737

1750. ‘

1772 Thomas Bray.
1785 Thomas Stinton.
1797 Henry Richards.
1808 JonN CoLE.

ORIEL.

PROVOSTS.
1325 Adam de Brom..
1332 William de Leverton.
1347 William de Hawkesworth.
1349 William de Daventrie.
1373 Jobn de Colyntye.
1385 John de Middleton,
1394 John de Maldon,
1401 John de Possell..

William'de Corffe. .

1414 Thomias de Leintwarden, -

1425

.. Hart,
1445 John Halse,
1449 Henry Sampson.
Thomas Hawkyns,
1478 John Taylor.

1443 ‘ le Hart, or

1493 Thomas Cornish.
1507

1516

1530

1538

1540

1550

1565

1566

1572

1617

1621 John Tolson.
1644 John Saunders,
1653 Robert Say.

1691 George Royse.
1708 George Carter.
1727 Walter Hodges,
1757 Chardin Musgrave,
1768 John Clarke, . .
1781 JouN EVELEIGH.
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QUEEN'S.
PROVOSTS. 1534 William Devenysh, or Den=
1340 }
. or Mus- 1559
1561
1350 1563
1565 Alan Scot. )
Thomas de Carlile, 1575 Barthelmew Bousfield.
1377 William Frank, 1581 Henry Robinson.
1404 or Quelp- 1599 Henry Airay.
dale. 1616
1420 Walter Bell. 1626
1426 or Del Byrys. 1645
1432 1657
1442 1677 : .
1459 1704
1482 1716 John Gibson.
‘1489 1730 Joseph Smith.
1495 1756 Joseph Browne.
1508 1767 Thomas Fothergill.
John a Pantry, or Pantre. 1796 SEPTIMUS COLLINSOR.
NEW COLLEGE.
WARDENS. 1599 George Ryves.
Richard de Tonworthe. 1613 Arthur Lake.
Nicholas de Wykebam. 1617 Robert Pinke.
1393 Thomas de Craunleigh, or 1647
Cranley. : 1649
1396 1658
1403 ' 1675
1429 William Escourt, ’ 1679
1435 Nicholas Ossulbury. 1701 Richard Traffles.
1453 1703 Thomas Brathwait,
1475 1712 John Cobb.
1494 1720 John Dobson.
1520 John Rede. 1725 Henry Bigg.
1521 John Young.” 1730 John Coxed.
1526 John London. 1740 John Purnell.
1542 Henry Cole. 1764 Thomas Hayward.
1551 Ralph Skinner.. 1768 John Oglander.
1563 Thomas Whyte. ) 1794 SAMUEL GAUNTLETT.

1878 Martin Colépepper. .
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LINCOLN.
RECTORS. 1563 John Bridgwater,
William Chamberleyn. 1574 John Tatham.

1435 John Beke.
1460 John Tristroppe.

1577 John Underhill.
1590

1479 ' 1620
1488 William Bethome. 1668
1493 Thomas Banke. 1672
1503 Thomas Drax. 1685
1518 1719
1538 1731
1556 1765
1558 or Hen- 1781

. 1784

1560 Francis Babington.

WARDENS.
1437 Richard Andrew.

1792 EDWARD TATHANM,

ALL SOULS.

1565 Richard Barber.
1571 Robert Hoveden.

1442 Roger Keyes,
1445 William Kele.

1614 Richard Moket.
1618 Richard Astley.

1459 William Poteman, 1635

1466 1648 Vaulx.
1494 Thomas Hobbys. 1660

1503 William Broke. 1660 .

1524 1665 Thomas James.

1527 1686 Leopold William Finch,
1533 1702 Bernard Gardiner.

1536 John Warner.
1555 Seth Holland.
1558 John Pope.

1558 John Warrer.

1726 Stephen Niblet.
1766 John Tracy.
1793 EpmunDp IsHam,

MAGDALEN.
PRESIDENTS. 1553 Owen Oglethorpe,

1448 John Horley, or Hornley. 1555

1458 William Tybard. 1558

1480 Richard Mayew. 1561

1504 John Claymond. 1590

1516 John Hygden. 1607

1525 1610

1527 1626 ;

1535 1644 John Oliver. .

1553 Waltér Haddon, . 1648 John Wilkinson.



1649 Thomas Goodwyn.
1660 John Oliver.
1661 Thomas Peirce,
1671 Henry Clerk.
1687 John Hough.
1687 Samuel Parker.
1638 Bonaventure Giffardh
1688 John Hough.

PRINCIPALS.
1510 Matthew Smyth.
1547 John Hawarden.
1564 Thomas Blanchard.
1573 Richard Harrys.
1595
1595
1614 .
1647
1647 Daniel Greenwood.
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1701 John Rogers.
1703 Thomas Bayley.
1706 Joseph Harwar.
1722 Edward Butler.
1745 Thomas Jenner.
1768 George Horne.
1791 MarTin JoserH Rourn.

BRASEN NOSE.

1660 Thomas Yate.

1681 John Meare,

1710

1745

1770

1770

1777 Thomas Barker.
1785 William Cleaver.
1809 Fropsuam HopsoN.

CORPUS CHRISTI.

PRESIDENTS.
1517 John Claymond.
1537 Robert Morwent.

1558 William Cheadsey.

1559 William Bocher, or Butcher,

1561 Thomas Greneway.
1568 William Cole.

1598 John Rainolds.
1607 John Spenser.
1614 Thomas Anyan.

1629 John Holt.
1630
1640
1648
1660

. 1688 :

1714 Basil Kennett.
1715 John Mather.

1748

1783 JoHN COOKE.

CHRIST CHURCH.

DEANS.
1524 John Hygden.
1533 John Oliver.
1546 Richard Coxe.
1553 Richard Martiall,
1559 George Carew.
1561 Thomas Sampson.
1865 Thomas Godwyn.
1567 Thomas Cowper.
1570 John Piers.

1576 Toby Masthew.

1584 William James. .
1594 Thomas Ravys.
1605 John Kyng.

1611 William Goodwyn.
1620 Richard Corbet.
1629 Brian Duppa,
1638 Samuel Fell.

1648 Edward Reynolds.
1651 John Owen.

1659 Edward Reynolds.
1660 George Morley.



1660 John Fell.

1686 John Massey.

1689 Henry Aldrich.
1711 Francis Atterbury.
1713 George Smallbridge.
1719 Hugh Boulter.

1724 William Bradshaw.

PRESIDENTS.

1556

1559

1599

1643

1648

1658 '

1659 Seth Ward.

PRESIDENTS.
1555 Alexander Belsire.
1559 William Elye,
1563 William Stock.
1564
1572
1577
1590
1605
1611 William Laud.
1621 William Juxon.
1632 Richard Bayley.

PRINCIPALS.
1571 David Lewes.
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1732 John Conybeare. -
1756
1767

117
1783

1809 ChArLEs HeNRY HaLt.

TRINITY.

1660 Hannibal Potter.
1664 Ralph Bathurst.
1704 Thomas Sykes.
1706 William Dobson.
1731 George Huddesford.
1776 Joseph Chapman.
1808 THoMas LEE.

ST. JOHN'S.

JES

1572 Griffith or Griffin Lloyd.

1586 Francis Bevans.
1602 John Williams.
1613 Griffith Powell.
1620 Francis Mansell,
1621 Eubule Thelwall,
1630 Francis Mansell.
1648 Michael Roberts.
1657 Franeis Howell.

1

1648 Francis Cheynell.
1650 )
1660

1667

1673 William Levinz.
1698 William Delaune,
1728 William Holmes.
1748 William Derham.
1757 William Walker.
1757 Thomas Fry.
1772 Samuel Dennis.
1795 MicHAEL Ma"LoW.

US.

1660 Francis Mansell.
1661

1673

1686

1712

1720

1725

1727

1763

1768 Joseph Hoare.
1802 Davip Huangs.

i

Owan.
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WADHAM.

WARDENS, 1689 Thomas Dunster.
1613 1719 William Baker.
1613 1724 Robert Thistletbwayte.
1617 1739 Samuel Lisle.
1635 1744 George Wyndbam.
1644 John Pytt. 1777 James Gerard.
1648 John Wilkins. 1783 John Wills.
1659 Walter Blandford. ’ 1806 WiLL1AM TOURNAY.
1665 Gilbert Ironside. -

PEMBROKE.

MASTERS. 1714 Matthew Panting.
1624 Thomas Clayton. 1738 John Ratcliffe.
1647 Henry Wightwick. 1775 William Adams.
1647 Henry Langley. 1789 William Sergrove.
1660 Henry Wightwick. 1796 John Smith.
1664 John Hall.. 1809 GEORGE HENRY HaLL,
1709 Colwell Brickenden.

WORCESTER.
PRINCIPALS OF GLOUCESTER 1647 Tobias Garbrand, or-Herks.
HALL. 1660
1560 William Stock. 1662
1563 Thomas Palmer, 1692
1564 William Stock. 1712
1576
1714 Richard Blechynden.
1581 John Delabere. 1736 William Gower.
1593 John Hawley. 1777 William Sheffield.
1626 Degory Wheare, 1796 WHITTINGTON LANDON.
HERTFORD.

PRINCIPALS OF HERT HALL. 1399 Thomas Turke.
1360 1400 John Wyte, or Whyte.
1378 1405 Thomas Moraant; or Moronde.
1381 1407 John Stone.
1384 1408 John Green.
1387 1410
1388 1411 William Andréw.
1391 John Wryngton, 1411 William Kemer, or Kymwer.
1397 John Wytham. 1414 William Payne.

- 1398 Thomas Tenkelden. 1416 William Mdre.
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1420 William Prentys. 1510 Thomas Mede.
1425 John Gorsych. 1514 Thomas Irysh.
1426 John Heyth. 1522 John Moréman.
1426 e, 1527 John Whyte.
1428 1535 Jolin Frenche. =
1436 1541 or Bromolde.
1438 1544 Williama More.
1441 1545 Thomas Vyvian.
1549
1444 John Sende. | 1599
1445 Jolin Andrew. 1604
1448 1621
1451 1633 s
1463 1658
1465 1660
1468 1663
1473 1688 William Thornton.
1478 1707 Thomas Smith.
1482 1710 Richard Newton. .
1486
1488
1495 . 1740
1496 1753
1501 . 1757
1503 ) 1775 Bernard Hodgson.
1506 John Parkbouse. )
'ALBAN HALL. ~
PRINCIPALS. . Ralph Hamstetley.
1437 Roger Martin. 1501 Hugh Saunders, or Siakspeere.
1438 Robert Ashe. 1503 John Forster.
1444 John Gygur. 1507 John Beverstone.
1450 William Shyrefe, 1450 1507 Williap Bisse.
1452 William Romsey, 1452 1509 Richard Walker. .
1468 Thomas Danet. 1510 John Pokyswell; or Poxwell.
1477 Richard Fitzjames®. 1514 John Hoper.
Simon Balle.
rne. 1527 Walter Bucklar.
* During the abo 'incipals of Nunne Hall;
before it was united
1445
1450
1451
1452
- 1461

112
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1530 Robert Taylour.
1532

1534

1535

1538

1543

1547

1567

Robert Master.
Henry Master.
1614 Anthony Morgan.

1620 Richard Parker.
1624 Edward Chaloner.
1625 Richard Zouch.
1661

1664

1673

1678

1723

1736

1759

1797 THoMAS WINSTANLEY..

EDMUND HALL.

PRINCIPALS.
1317 J. de Cornubia.
1319 Robert Lue. de Cornubia.
1325 John de Bere.
1351 —— Throp.
1381 }
1385 Edward Upton.
1390 William Taylour.
1395
1399 Henry Rumwortb.-
1408 Henry Bermingdon, or Ber-
mingham,
1410 Peter Clerke, or Payne.
1414 John Derley, Darley, or Der-
ling.
1434 William Bryton.
1438 " Themys,
1461 Thomas Lee, or Leigh,
1478 Richard Broke.
1499
. 1501 Thomas Cawse.
1502 William Patynson.
1505 Christopher Fallowfield.
1507 John Pyttys.:
1520 John Cuthbertson,

1528 Myles Brathwayte.
1530

1537

1540

1546

1569 Nicholas Cook.
1569 Nicholas Pullen.
1572 '

1376

1581

1601 John Aglionby.
1610 John Rawlinson.
1631

1658 Thomas Tully.
1675 Stephen Penton.
1684 Thomas Crosthwaite.
1685

1707

1722

1740

1751 George Fothergill.
1760 George Dixon.
1787 William Dowson.
1800 GEORGE THOMPSON,

ST. MARY’S HALL.

PRINCIPALS.
1436 William Croten.
1438 Henry Sampson.
1445 Richard Wyleyer.

1450 John Smyth.
1452 Henry Popy.
1458 Thomas Parys.
1469 Thomas Sadler.



1499 John Taylour.
1502 Richard Vaughan.
1502 Richard Dudley.
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1506 Thomas Heretage, .

1511 William Brooke,

1521 Richard Lorgan.

1530 -

1532

1537

1543

1546 Morgan Philypps.

1550 William Northfolke.

1553 William Woode.

1556 William Allyn, or Allen, or

Alan,
1560 John Raw.

1565 Nicholas Sheffield.
1565 John Horlock.
1570 Richard Pygott.
1578 Thomas Philipson.
1587 '

1591

1632

1644

1656

1660 Martin Lluellyn.
1664 Joseph Crowther.
1689

1712

1719 William King.
1764 Thomas Nowell.
1801 PuiNEAS PETT.

NEW INN HALL.

1438
1444
1445
1457

geyney.
1461 Walter Pavy,
1462 ‘

1468
1469 e
1469
1484
1490
1497
1499

PRINCIPALS.

I:Jbeljow.

or Aber-

or Ha-

Bond.

1500 Christopher Wardall, or Wor-

thiall,

John Lacy.
1504

1510

1514 John Worthiall.
1520 John Payne.
1528 Roger Carew.
1529 Thomas Barrett.
1529 Henry Wight,

1530 William Roberts.
1534 Rowland Merick.
1535 William Roberts.
1542 Richard Richardson.
1545

1548

1550

Thomas Powell.
1561 John or Thomas Griffith.
1564 or Luffer.
1570 Richard Bray.
1571 Felix Lewes.
1575 Robert Lougher.
1580 Daniel Dunne.

1581 Price,

- 1584

1585

1586

1599 John Ferrar,

1609 John Budden,

1618

1621

1626 Christopher Rogers,
1643 Christopher Prior.
1646 Christopher Rogers,
1662 John Lamphire,

13
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1663 William Stone, 1745 William Walker.
1684 Thomas Bayley. 1761 William Blackstone.
1709 John Brabourne. 1766 Robert Chambers.
1726 John Wigan, 1803 JAMES BLACKSTONE,

1732 De Blosshiers Tovey,
ST. MARY MAGDALEN HALL.

PRINCIPALS. 1553 Thomas Coveney.
Richard Barnes. 1558 Adrian Hawthorne,
1499 Edward Grove. 1567 Robert Lyster. -
1502 John Stokesley. 1602
1505 John Longland. 1605
1507 William Azard, or Hazard. 1643
1509 Richard Stokes, 1646
1511 1648 Heory Wilkinson.
1526 or Whytyng. 1662 James Hyde.
1528 1681 i
1529 o 1694
1532 John Burgess. 1716
1535 John Green. 1745 William Denison. )
1537 Richard Engest, 1755 William Denison, junior.
1541 Simon Parret. 1786 Matthew Lamb,
}550 John Redman, J788 HeNgy Forp,
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AdBlNGDON, or Habendon, Peter
e, 7.
Absbg’_t, Dr. George, 36, 38, 40, 54,
) 55.
61,10
96.
224,
153,
449,

87.
In, 165.

A

177, 185.
185.
of, 85.
Aruzdel, Abp. of Canterbury, 85,
86.
Arthur, Prince, 210.
38.
Ashmole,
Assheton, William, 259.

;rham, 49.

416.
Aylesbury, Sir Themas, 389.
B.

Barrior CoLLEGE, 43.
Balliol, John de, 43. Edward, 49.

Balkiol Hall, new and old, 47, 317,
Barrington, kp. of Durham, 13.
Bainbridge, Dr. 17 21.

3, 102,

40,

10, 108,

140,

257,

Bathurst, Edward, 355. )
58, 362, 365,

Baker, David, 427.

Baker, Sir Richard, 444.

Berdmore, Dr. Warden of Merton,
12, 15. '

Beverley, John of, 23,

Beverley, Philip of, 30.

Bede, :Ke venerable, 23.

Beaufort, Henry, Bp, of Winchester,
31, 100, 103, 144, .

Beaufort. See Noel.

Beaufort, Thomas, Duke of Exeter,
93.

Bennet, Sir Simon, 32,

Bennet, Christopher, 156,

Bennet, Giles, 176.

114
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er, 50, 54.
2, 416.
87.
7.
of Bath and
38, 150.
259.
281,
Bernard College, 312.
389.
73,
Bishop of Chi-
chester, 19,

Binghain, Rev. Joseph, 41.
1, 139.

, 138,
366.
iford, 37, 254.

82.
_ . 176, 179, 189,

A0y 4Ara

450.
6, 458.

168,
Boyle, Henry, 174.
Boyle, Earl of Orrery. 330, 340.

208, 209,

26.

Braszn Nose CoLixcE, 996. Hall,

Briggs, Heary, 17, 389

Breat, Sir Nathatiel, 19.

Bradwardine, Abp. of Canterbury,
19.

D.31.
Browne,
Browne, William, 74.

i, 426.
168.

ncester, 57.
0.

ian, 258.
Brid Hall, 330.

“.
Burwesh, Henry, Bp. of Lincoln, 71.
Bull, t. David's, 74.
Butle: . 86.
Butle 208.
Butler, Dr. 208, 209,
Burton, William, 105.

Burton, Robert, 259, 329.
Burton, William, 259, 340.

Rortan Taha noo

Lincoln, 123. )

89.
of Lincaln, 186,

C,

Carleton, -Bp. of Chichester, 20,
103, 49.
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\

78.
Carey, Henry, Earl of Monmouth,

5.
of Worcester, 79,
Oriel, 81, 83,

hester, 220.
1.

, 256.
332,
426.
496,
Jesuit, 389,

“Case, Dr. 389.
Cambye's lodgings, 493,

36, 42, 452.

Charles I. 67, 70, 93,99, 326, 382,
422. -

9.
te
» 93.
143.
67. Edward,
450.
lall, 128.
of Canterbury, 131,
Chichele, Robert, 164.
Chichele, William, 164.

132, 137.

173.
Cheere, Sir Henry, 178.
Cholmeley, Montague, 213.

Chilmead, critic, £23. .
Churton, Ralph, 225, 226, et pas<

468.

4.176,
435,

Clavering, Bishop, of Peterborough,
154,

Clitherow, James, 179.
217, 244, 273, 217.

317.
261.

Compton,
Coventry, Lord Keeper,  93.
188. .

Bristol, 74.
Cooper, A.A. I 76.

. Coxed, Dr. 94.

Corregio, 101.
Collins, poet, 106, 224,
Cook’ Honew artict 133,
Cook,
Cookes 30.
Corbet, Bp. of Oxford, 153.
Codrington, Christ. 175, 177.
Cotes, Digby, 177.
Colet, Dean, 223.

224.

278.
335.
257.

282,

Coxeter, Thomas, 367. ¢
Cordall, Sir William, 374.
Costard, George, 416.

Coryate, Thomas, 437.
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Cressy, Hugh, 21.

CI‘C*C, Sir (N 40.

Cranmer, Abp. of Canterbury, §7.

Crisp, Tobias, 60. - ’ '

Crackenthorp, Dr. 100,

Cranke, artist, 101, 425, :

Cranley, Abp. of Dublin, 182, 137,
443

Crosby, Thomas, 146.
Crewe, Lord, Bp. of Durham, 148,
151, 152.
Cromwell, Oliver, 211, 215.
Crompton, Richard, 258,
Crucher, Nicholas, 271.
Cracherode, Clayton Mordaunt, 340.
Creech, Thomas, 415,
Curzon, Lord, 250.
D.

Davys, Joan, 31.
Davies, Sir John, 105.
Davies, John, 401.
Davis, John, 156. . ,
Davenport, Sir Hamphrey, 60.
Davenant, Dr. Charles, 61.
Davenant, Sir Wm. 156.
Dahl, artist, 83.
Dawes, Sir Wm. Abp. of York, 101,
B:::;l’eph .lllohn, IQ‘%

, William, 146.
Dagvyle's Inn, 146. -
Darby, Edward, 146, 243,
Danvers, John, 184.
Day, Thomas, 282.
Daniel, poet, 455.
Danby, Earl, 472.
Devereux, Rob. Earl of Essex, 31.
Dervorgille, Lady, 43.
Deep Hall, 143."
]lgee::;ul?, Johl;;lll‘l’l. b

iers, philosopher, 340,
Dickinson, Dr. Edml:md, 21,
Digges, family of, 40, -
Digby, John, Earl of Bristol, 228.
Digby, Sir Kenelm, 437.
Dillenius, J. James, 390,
Dolce, Carlo, 38.
Douglas, Bp. of Salisbury, 59.
Doddridge, Sir John, 75.
Dolben, Sir William, 312.
Donpe, Dr. 444,
Drusius, 21,
Drowda Haull, 28.
DPruell, John, 165.
Duns, John, or Duns Scotue, 20;

Dunn, Sir Daniel, 188.

Durham, William of, 24.

Dudley, Rob. Earl of Leicester, 31.

Dudley, Dr. Richard, 80.

Dunch, Mary, 51.

Duck, Dr. Arthur, 75.

Duppa, Bp. of Winehester, 186. -

Durham College, 349. Hall, 28,
424. .

Puncan, John, 381.

Ducarel, Andrew Coltee, 390.

Durell, Dr. 427, 442, 448.

Dyer, Sir James, 427.

Dyke, Thomas, 451.

E.

Earle, Bp. of Salisbury, 17.
Eaton, Sarah, 433.

Epmunp HaLt, 448.

Edmund (Little) Hall, 237, 253.
Edward II. 77.

Edward I11. 78, 92, 99.

Edward IV. 92, 99, 168, 193, 209.
Edgeworth, Roger, 80, 86.
Edmonds, Sir Clement, 188.
Edwards, Clement, 271.
Edwards, Richard, 281, 324.
Edwards, Jonathan, 398. N
Eglesfeld, Robert, 88. .
Eglesfeld, Thomas, g1.

Eglesfeld, Gawin, 91.

Eglesfeld, George, 91.
Eggington, glass-painter, 184, 213..
Egerton, Lord Chancellor, 253.
Elstob, William, 41.

Elizabeth, Queen, 99, 324.
Elton, John, 243. .
Ellison, Cuthbert, 273.

Erigena, John Scotus, 250.
Erasmus, 253.

Erdeswick, Sampson, 259.
Estcourt, Thoinas, 381.

Evelyn, John, 60.

ExeTER COLLEGE, 62. '

F.

Farnal‘)?, 21.
Fastolf, Sir John, 199.
Fairfax, General, 211.
Farner, Anthony, 219.
Fanshaw, Althea, 363.
Farringdon, Anthony, 366,
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Pelton, Sir Wm. 48.

Felton, Henry, 450.

Fettiplace, Wm. 93.

Featly, Daniel, 281.

Fell; Bp. of Oxford, 307, 319, 320.

‘Fell, Dr. Samuel, 319,

Fitz-James, Richard, 8, 10, 18.

Fisher, Alexander, 14,

Fisher, of.Balliol, 55,

Fisher, Henry, 245.

Fitzherbert, family of, 75.

Fiennes, Lord Say and Sele, 140.

Finderne, Wm. 144.

Finderne, Sir Wm. 147,

Fitz-alan, Earl of Arundel, 200.

Field, Dr. 223. .

Fiddes, Richard, 281.

Flaxman, sculptor, 38.

Flemming, Bp. of Lincoln, 39, 141,

Fleming, Robert, 155.

Flavel, nonconformist, 41.

Fletcher, Alderman, 58, 100, 314.

Floyer, 8ir John, 100, 105,

Fleshmonger, Dr, 123.

Fox, Bp. of Winchester, 50, 96].

Fox, John, 223, 258, -

Fox, Charles James, 444.

Fortescue, Sir John, 74.

Foster, Sir Michael, 76.

Forster, Nathaniel, 282.

Forest, John, 144, 151, 152,

Foulis, Henry, 156.

Forman, John, 199.

Fowler, Bp. of Gloucester, 280,

Fowler, printer, 139.

Fountaine, Andrew, 339,

Freyston, John, 31.

Franke, Jobn, 79, c

Frankland, Mrs. Joyce, 147, 243,
245.

Freeman, Ralph, 179, 200, 209.

Freman, Wa. 215.

Frewen, Abp. of York, %22,

Frost, Wm. 270, 273.

Freind, Johu, 321, 339,

Frewen, Richard, 339.

Fuller, printer, 214, 414..

Fuller, Nicholas, 444,

Fynney, Dr. James, 432.

G.

" Gaunt, John of, 180.
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